

UNITED KINGDOM · CHINA · MALAYSIA

## Stefanyszyn, David (2016) The cosmological constant problem and gravity in the infrared. PhD thesis, University of Nottingham.

## Access from the University of Nottingham repository:

http://eprints.nottingham.ac.uk/36036/1/thesisone.pdf

#### Copyright and reuse:

The Nottingham ePrints service makes this work by researchers of the University of Nottingham available open access under the following conditions.

This article is made available under the University of Nottingham End User licence and may be reused according to the conditions of the licence. For more details see: http://eprints.nottingham.ac.uk/end\_user\_agreement.pdf

For more information, please contact <a href="mailto:eprints@nottingham.ac.uk">eprints@nottingham.ac.uk</a>

# The Cosmological Constant Problem and Gravity in the Infrared

David Stefanyszyn

Thesis submitted to the University of Nottingham for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

December 2016

## Abstract

In this thesis we explore low energy extensions of Einstein's theory of General Relativity (GR). Initially our motivation will be the cosmological constant problem where large radiative corrections due to quantum field theories minimally coupled to the dynamical metric in GR leads to unacceptably large space-time curvatures. We will discuss the cosmological constant problem in detail, paying special attention to how it affects the *global* structure of a space-time whose dynamics are dictated by GR. With this in mind we will present and discuss recently proposed global modifications of GR which in the semi-classical limit sequester the radiatively unstable loop corrections to the cosmological constant from the space-time curvature. This is achieved by supplementing the local dynamics of GR with highly non-trivial global constraints, and we demonstrate how this can be achieved in a theory which is manifestly local. In this theory we will also consider the effects of an early universe phase transition on the late time dynamics.

Away from global modifications of GR we will also consider local modifications which necessarily involve the propagation of new degrees of freedom. We outline the possible *screening mechanisms* which, since no new gravitational degrees of freedom have been observed in local environments, are an important feature of any local modification of GR. For one of these mechanisms, namely, the Vainshtein mechanism, we will consider the regime of validity of theories which make use of the Vainshtein mechanism and assess suggestions that one can trust these theories beyond the scale we would naively expect them to become strongly coupled. Following this we will move onto the chameleon mechanism, another example of a screening mechanism, and present a high energy extension motivated by the breakdown in the original chameleon theory in the early universe. The interactions of the resulting *DBI chameleon* theory will be motivated by our discussion of the Vainshtein mechanism.

## List of papers

This thesis contains material from the following five papers:

'Sequestering effects on and of vacuum decay' N. Kaloper, A. Padilla and D. Stefanyszyn Phys. Rev. D 94 (2), 025022 (2016) arXiv:1604.04000

'How to Avoid a Swift Kick in the Chameleons'
A. Padilla, E. Platts, D. Stefanyszyn, A. Walters, A. Weltman and T. Wilson JCAP 1603 (3), 058 (2016)
arXiv:1511.05761

'A Manifestly Local Theory of Vacuum Energy Sequestering'
N. Kaloper, A. Padilla, D. Stefanyszyn and G. Zahariade,
Phys. Rev. Lett. 116 (5), 051302 (2016)
arXiv:1505.01492

'Unitarity and the Vainshtein Mechanism' N. Kaloper, A. Padilla, P. Saffin and D. Stefanyszyn, Phys. Rev. D 91 (4), 045017 (2015) arXiv:1409.3243

'Generalised Scale Invariant Theories' A. Padilla, D. Stefanyszyn and M. Tsoukalas Phys. Rev. D 89 (6), 065009 (2013) arXiv:1312.0975

## Deceleration

The work presented in this thesis is based on research conducted at the Particle Theory Group, School of Physics and Astronomy, University of Nottingham, United Kingdom.

Chapter 1 and 2 of this thesis contain background material and introductions to a number of topics which the remaining chapters are based on. In chapter 3, section 3.1 is a review of known results while section 3.2 is original work done in collaboration with Nemanja Kaloper, Antonio Padilla and George Zahariade [1].

Chapter 4 initially contains a short review of some know results but section 4.2 onwards is original work done in collaboration with Nemanja Kaloper and Antonio Padilla [2]. Chapter 5 begins with a detailed review of background material but section 5.3 onwards is original work done in collaboration with Nemanja Kaloper, Antonio Padilla and Paul Saffin [3].

Chapter 6 again begins with a detailed review of known results. Section 6.2 contains new methods for reproducing some of these results and section 6.3 onwards is original work. This chapter is based on work done in collaboration with Antonio Padilla, Emma Platts, Anthony Walters, Amanda Weltman and Toby Wilson [4]. Figures (6.4), (6.5)-(6.7) were produced by Toby Wilson and figures (6.9) - (6.13) were produced by Emma Platts and Anthony Walters.

## Acknowledgements

I have a number of people to thank without whom this thesis would not have been possible. First of all thank you to my Mum, Dad, brothers, Grandad and Nans for your constant support and encouragement. You've all contributed in your own way and for that I am very grateful.

A huge thank you to my supervisor Tony. Your passion for physics, willingness to always know more and understand better and, importantly, your patience has made the last four years incredibly enjoyable and rewarding.

I have benefited hugely from discussions with many people including: Tasos Avgoustidis, Clare Burrage, Adam Christopherson, Ed Copeland, Marco Crisostomi, Justin Khoury, Adam Moss, Emma Platts, Paul Saffin, Ippocratis Saltas, Dimitri Skliros, Minas Tsoukalas, Anthony Walters, Amanda Weltman, Toby Wilson, George Zahariade and especially Nemanja Kaloper from whom I've learnt so much. Thanks also to everyone in the Particle Theory Group at Nottingham for making it a fun place to be.

My last words of thanks go to Amy. You've experienced this whole journey with me and are undoubtedly the reason why it has been mostly a smooth one. I can't tell you enough how much I appreciate that. Thank you.

## Notation and conventions

Throughout this thesis we will use Natural units such that  $c = \hbar = 1$ . For example, in these units we write the Planck mass as  $M_{\rm pl}^2 = 1/8\pi G_N \approx 10^{18} {\rm GeV}$ where  $G_N$  is Newton's gravitational constant.

We will use the mostly-positive signature for the metric (-, +, +, +). For example, we express the Minksowski metric as  $ds^2 = -dt^2 + dx^2 + dy^2 + dz^2$ .

Greek indices  $\mu, \nu, \dots = (0, 1, 2, 3)$  are space-time indices, we denote a partial derivative as  $\partial_{\mu}$  and a covariant derivative as  $\nabla_{\mu}$ . We denote symmetrisation and anti-symmetrisation over enclosed indices respectively as

$$S_{(\mu\nu)} = \frac{1}{2}(S_{\mu\nu} + S_{\nu\mu}), \quad S_{[\mu\nu]} = \frac{1}{2}(S_{\mu\nu} - S_{\nu\mu}).$$
(1)

A number of times during this thesis we will make use of the Friedmann-Lemaître-Robertson-Walker (FLRM) ansatz for the metric which is given by

$$ds^{2} = -dt^{2} + a(t)^{2} \left(\frac{dr^{2}}{1 - kr^{2}} + r^{2}d\Omega_{2}^{2}\right)$$
(2)

where we have used spherical polar coordinates and  $d\Omega_2^2 = d\theta^2 + \sin^2\theta d\phi^2$  is the metric on a 2-sphere.

## Contents

1	Intr	oduction	10
	1.1	General Relativity	10
	1.2	An accelerating universe	12
	1.3	Screening mechanisms	16
		1.3.1 $Z^{\mu\nu}$ : the Vainshtein mechanism	17
		1.3.2 $M$ : the chameleon mechanism $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	18
		1.3.3 $g$ : the symmetron mechanism $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	19
	1.4	GR as an effective field theory	20
<b>2</b>	The	e Cosmological Constant Problem	27
	2.1	Two rigorous foundations	27
	2.2	Fine tuning, fine tuning	31
	2.3	Vacuum energy and cosmology	37
	2.4	Weinberg's no-go theorem	41
3	Vac	uum Energy Sequestering	44
	3.1	The original sequester	44
	3.2	The local sequester	52
	3.3	Discussion	63
4	Seq	uestering and Phase Transitions	64
	4.1	A minimal approach	65
	4.2	False vacuum decay	67
		4.2.1 Materialisation of the bubble	68

		4.2.2 Growth of the bubble
	4.3	Discussion
<b>5</b>	Uni	tarity and the Vainshtein Mechanism 88
	5.1	Introduction to the Vainshtein mechanism
		5.1.1 Linear massive spin-2 $\ldots$ $\ldots$ $\ldots$ $\ldots$ 89
		5.1.2 Non-linear massive spin-2 part I
		5.1.3 Non-linear massive spin-2 part II
		5.1.4 Galileons and beyond
		5.1.5 Positivity conditions
	5.2	Strong coupling scales
	5.3	The Vainshtein mechanism and Higgs completions
		5.3.1 $U(1)$
		5.3.2 $SU(2)$
	5.4	The Vainshtein mechanism and Einstein Gauss-Bonnet gravity . $120$
	5.5	Discussion
6	DB	I Chameleon and the Early Universe 126
	6.1	Introduction to the chameleon mechanism
	6.2	Kicking the chameleon
	6.3	Introduction to the DBI chameleon
	6.4	Kicking the DBI chameleon
		6.4.1 Constant $\Sigma$
		6.4.2 Varying $\Sigma$
	6.5	Discussion
7	Dise	cussion and Future Work 159
8	App	pendix 166
	8.1	Maximally symmetric space-times
	8.2	Anti-de Sitter singularity
	8.3	Space-time volumes
	8.4	Calculating the ratio $\mathcal{I}$

#### Bibliography

182

#### l Chapter

## Introduction

At long distances gravity is by far the weakest of the four fundamental forces in Nature. Indeed, the gravitational force between two electrons is approximately  $10^{-42}$  in units of the corresponding electromagnetic force. Similar sized hierarchies exist between gravity and the strong and weak nuclear forces. Even so, for cosmology gravity is often the only relevant interaction and striving for a consistent description of our observable universe is strongly correlated with efforts to understand the gravitational interaction. As a consequence, major developments in observational cosmology can have a huge impact on the way we think about gravity.

#### 1.1 General Relativity

Our best description of gravity at long distances, or low energies, is Einstein's theory of General Relativity (GR) presented in 1915. In Einstein's eyes, GR offered a geometric description of a dynamical space-time motivated by solving inconsistencies between special relativity and Newtonian gravity. Many experiments have verified that the relativistic corrections to Newtonian gravity provided by GR are indeed required to match observations. These include; the perihelion precession of Mercury, the bending of light by the sun, and gravitational red-shift. Tests of gravity on Earth and more widely in the solar system continue to confirm that GR is the gold standard theory of gravity, see e.g. [5–10] and references therein. More recently, gravitational waves, another

prediction of GR, have been observed due to the inspiral and merger of a pair of black holes [11].

The Einstein-Hilbert action, including a bare cosmological constant  $\Lambda_c$ , is given by

$$S_{\rm GR} = \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} \left[ \frac{M_{\rm pl}^2}{2} R - \Lambda_c \right] \tag{1.1}$$

where  $R = g^{\mu\nu}R_{\mu\nu}$  is the Ricci scalar,  $g_{\mu\nu}$  is the metric tensor,  $R_{\mu\nu}$  is the Ricci tensor and  $g = \det g_{\mu\nu}$ . Other than the cosmological constant, the only other dimensionful scale is the Planck scale  $M_{\rm pl}$ . If we couple matter fields to gravity in the minimal way, then the total action is a linear combination of the gravitational action and the action of the field theory sector

$$S = S_{\rm GR} + S_m(g^{\mu\nu}, \Phi) \tag{1.2}$$

where  $\Phi$  denotes all fields that couple minimally to the metric. The resulting field equations after varying the action with respect to  $g_{\mu\nu}$  are a set of ten partial differential equations given by

$$M_{\rm pl}^2 G_{\mu\nu} = T_{\mu\nu} - g_{\mu\nu} \Lambda_c \tag{1.3}$$

where  $G_{\mu\nu}$  is the Einstein tensor defined as

$$G_{\mu\nu} = R_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2}g_{\mu\nu}R$$
 (1.4)

and is divergence-free thanks to the Bianchi identity  $\nabla_{\mu}G^{\mu}{}_{\nu} = 0$ . We note that this is an off-shell statement and is not a consequence of the equations of motion.  $T_{\mu\nu}$  is the energy-momentum tensor of the field theory sector defined as

$$T_{\mu\nu} = -\frac{2}{\sqrt{-g}} \frac{\delta S_m}{\delta g^{\mu\nu}}.$$
(1.5)

As long as the field theory is diffeomorphism invariant, the energy-momentum tensor is also covariantly conserved  $\nabla_{\mu}T^{\mu}{}_{\nu} = 0$  which provides a neat consistency check of Einstein's equations. The total cosmological constant which sources curvature is a combination of the bare value  $\Lambda_c$ , which is a purely classical contribution, and a contribution from the field theory sector  $V_{\rm vac}$  which is stored in the energy-momentum tensor as  $T^{\mu}{}_{\nu} = -\delta^{\mu}{}_{\nu}V_{\rm vac}$ . Gravity has no way of distinguishing between the two and any observations constrain only the linear combination  $\Lambda = \Lambda_c + V_{\rm vac}$ .

#### 1.2 An accelerating universe

In contrast to 1915, precision measurements in cosmology now present a brand new arena where we can study gravity on enormous distance scales. The most intriguing development in this direction in recent years is the overwhelming evidence in support of a period of late time acceleration of the universe. The first observations of this sort came from Type 1a supernovae which appeared dimmer, and therefore further away, than expected if the universe was dominated by non-relativistic particles at late times [12, 13]. Many other experiments, including precise measurements of the Cosmic Microwave Background (CMB) [14–17], verified that the energy density stored in non-relativistic fields at late times is a sub-dominate component of the total energy budget of the universe and that a form of *dark energy* was causing the universe to accelerate.

In principle it is very simple to account for a period of late time acceleration within GR by virtue of the cosmological constant  $\Lambda = \Lambda_c + V_{\text{vac}}$ . Since the energy density of a cosmological constant does not red-shift, yet all other forms of energy density satisfying null energy conditions do, it will eventually dominate the energy density sourcing gravity and drive the universe into a de Sitter phase where it expands exponentially [18]. The magnitude of the de Sitter curvature is then set by the size of the cosmological constant. In fact, all cosmological data to date are consistent with a cosmological constant being responsible for the observed late time acceleration with a magnitude  $\Lambda_{\text{obs}} \sim (\text{meV})^4$  [17].

However, in practice there are huge complications. The energy density of the cosmological constant is expected to receive contributions from vacuum fluctuations of each massive particle coupled to gravity. Thanks to the equivalence principle of GR, these vacuum fluctuations, just like all other forms of matter and energy, gravitate. Yet for the standard model of particle physics the energy density stored in these fluctuations is extremely sensitive to high energy physics and its natural value even when we only consider the effects of the electron is many orders of magnitude larger than the observed value. Radiative corrections due to heavier particles only makes the situation worse, each contributing the fourth power of their mass to the overall cosmological constant. In GR, if we are to match the observation of a small cosmological constant, we must *repeatedly* fine tune a classical parameter in the gravitational action every time the effective description of the field theory sector changes. This could be due to changing the order of the loop expansion to which the vacuum energy is calculated, or due to a change in the Wilsonian cut-off of the effective action. This is the infamous *cosmological constant problem* [19–25] and is the focus of a large part of this thesis.

One's initial reaction is to tackle the problem at the heart of the field theory since the root cause of the problem is large quantum corrections from massive particles. A very elegant example in this regard is supersymmetry (see e.g. [26]). In a supersymmetric theory every boson is accompanied by a fermion with the same mass and interaction strengths. Since the radiative corrections to the cosmological constant from bosons and fermions have opposite signs, they cancel and the net cosmological constant is zero. However, when supersymmetry is broken at some scale  $M^2_{\rm susy}$  the masses of the boson and its supersymmetric fermionic partner differ by  $|M^2_{\rm boson}-M^2_{\rm fermion}|\sim g M^2_{\rm susy}$  where q is the coupling strength to the supersymmetric breaking sector [24]. The result is that the failure in the cancellation of vacuum energy allows quantum corrections to drive the cosmological constant to values  $\Lambda \sim g M_{susy}^4$ . In our universe supersymmetry is broken at least up to the TeV scale [27] and therefore the natural value for the cosmological constant is  $\Lambda \gtrsim (\text{TeV})^4 \gg (\text{meV})^4$ . Supersymmetry therefore offers little in the way of a solution to the cosmological constant problem in our universe.

The lack of a solution from the field theory sector has prompted efforts to tackle the problem from the gravitational side by modifying gravity and violating the equivalence principle in the process, see [28, 29] for reviews. In other words, allowing the cosmological constant to be radiatively unstable and large but to prevent it from sourcing curvature. In this thesis we will discuss in detail the pre-requisites of a gravity theory whose goal is to have something non-trivial to say about the cosmological constant problem. Much effort will be devoted to studying the most extreme long distance modifications of gravity, namely, *global* modifications which only affect the gravitational equations of GR in the infinite wavelength limit. We will argue that this is a natural thing to do since the vacuum energy does not vary in space-time and can therefore be considered as an infinite wavelength source. In this regard, following a detailed discussion of the cosmological constant problem in chapter 2, we will focus on the vacuum energy sequestering scenario in chapter 3. We will present and discuss the original form of this theory [30] and outline its very non-trivial predictions [31, 32]. Emphasis will be placed on how the theory successfully modifies gravity *only* globally such that all sources other than the cosmological constant gravitate as in GR. In doing so we will discuss the models inability to describe a local quantum field theory (QFT) and the possible obstruction to UV completion. With this in mind we will then present a manifestly local version of the sequestering scenario [1] which retains the positive features of the original model but crucially is better placed to be realised as the low energy limit of a UV complete theory which satisfies the axioms of quantum mechanics.

Following on from presenting the model and discussing its features in detail, in chapter 4 we will discuss the important issue of phase transitions where the local value of the cosmological constant can change. This has the potential to spoil any cancellation of the vacuum energy so we will examine how they source curvature in the sequestering theory. We will consider a field theory with two minima and investigate the nucleation and growth of bubbles of true vacuum. In doing so we will place mild constraints on the local sequestering theory which ensure that there are no catastrophic instabilities with respect to tunnelling between maximally symmetric vacua. In this chapter we follow the work presented in [2].

There are two potential outcomes of a non-anthropic solution<sup>1</sup> to the cosmological constant problem. The first is that the cosmological constant which

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>We will briefly touch on an anthropic approach to the cosmological constant in chapter 2.

sources curvature is stabilised with respect to changes in the field theory sector such that if it is set to be small, it stays small even after quantum corrections. We can then readily fix its re-normalised value to match observations resulting in a simple explanation for the acceleration of the universe as long as observations remain consistent with a cosmological constant being the driving force. This would be completely comparable to many situations in particle physics where parameters are protected from large radiative corrections and is known as technical naturalness [33] and is usually attributed to the appearance of a symmetry when the parameter is taken to zero. More generally, a parameter is technically natural if the quantum corrections to the parameter are proportional to the parameter itself. Most notably, the electron would naively receive large mass re-normalisations due to its coupling to heavier particles. However, thanks to the chirality of massless fermions, to all orders in perturbation theory these corrections are only ever proportional to the electron mass itself and not the masses of particles running around the loops [33]. Unlike the cosmological constant, the electron mass is not strongly sensitive to the UV.

The other possibility is that the cosmological constant is forced to be exactly zero. This is of course more restrictive than the previous case and in such a theory one still requires an explanation for the late time acceleration. A popular route in this regard are quintessence models where a canonical scalar field with a potential couples minimally to gravity, see [34] for many examples. When the potential dominates the scalar field dynamics, it can drive the universe into an accelerating phase. This scenario is also often quoted as another motivation for studying long distance modifications of gravity where the aim is to provide an  $\mathcal{O}(1)$  deviation from GR on Hubble scales  $H_0 \sim 10^{-33} \text{eV}$  to realise an approximate de Sitter phase at late times in the absence of a cosmological constant. We note that modifications of gravity employed to solve the cosmological constant problem and those introduced to provide late time acceleration do not always coincide. Indeed, as we shall discuss in detail, there are certain features of modifications of gravity used to solve the cosmological constant problem that are often absent when the goal is to accelerate the universe.

#### 1.3 Screening mechanisms

The primary issue with modifying gravity to accelerate the universe is not realising the late time acceleration, but to conform with local tests of gravity. Any *local* long distance modification of GR necessarily requires new degrees of freedom which mediate long range forces. In almost all examples, modifications of gravity make use of light scalar fields which couple to matter degrees of freedom. Away from motivations by dark energy, attempts at UV completing gravity can also result in the presence of a number of light scalar fields with gravitational strength couplings. This is the case in string theory after string compactifications (see e.g. [35]). In any case, a fluctuating scalar field will mediate a new force and any such deviations from GR must be shut down to  $\mathcal{O}(10^{-5})$  in the solar system for the theory to not be ruled out by local experiments [5].

For example, consider the following action which describes a massive scalar field  $\phi$  which couples to the trace of the energy-momentum tensor

$$S = \int d^4x \left[ -\frac{1}{2} (\partial \phi)^2 - \frac{1}{2} m^2 \phi^2 + \frac{g \phi T}{M_{\rm pl}} \right]$$
(1.6)

where g is a dimensionless coupling constant. When  $g \sim \mathcal{O}(1)$  the scalar field couples to the matter sector with gravitational strength. The dynamics of  $\phi$  is governed by the usual Klein-Gordan equation

$$\Box \phi - m^2 \phi + \frac{gT}{M_{\rm pl}} = 0. \tag{1.7}$$

Most of the mass in the solar system is due to the Sun which we can model as a static and spherically symmetric non-relativistic point source of mass M with  $T^{\mu\nu} = M \delta_0^{\mu} \delta_0^{\nu} \delta^3(\vec{x})$  such that  $T = -M \delta^3(\vec{x})$ . In this case the static, spherically symmetric scalar field potential is (e.g. [29, 36])

$$\phi(r) = -\frac{gM}{4\pi M_{\rm pl}} \frac{e^{-mr}}{r} \tag{1.8}$$

where we assume that  $\phi$  vanishes asymptotically. As expected for a massive

boson we recover the usual potential with a Yukawa suppression<sup>2</sup>. The force per unit mass experienced by a test particle due to the scalar field is  $\vec{F} = g\vec{\nabla}\phi/M_{\rm pl}$  (see e.g. [36]) and is therefore only suppressed relative to GR for large m ( $mr \gg 1$ ), in which case the cosmological effects of the scalar are also suppressed, or for small g in which case the effects of the scalar field are again limited and this fine tuning may also be undesirable since it generates a hierarchy of scales. We will also see that in modifications of gravity one usually has  $g \sim \mathcal{O}(1)$ . In an attempt to evade these issues, modifications of gravity are accompanied by a *screening mechanism* whose purpose is to dynamically suppress any unwanted gravitational strength forces in the well tested regimes.

Screening mechanisms are best understood by studying the dynamics of a scalar field fluctuation  $\pi(x)$  about some background solution  $\overline{\phi}(x)$ . At quadratic order in fluctuations the action of a theory with a screening mechanism typically takes the form

$$S = \int d^4x \left[ -\frac{1}{2} Z^{\mu\nu} [\bar{\phi}] \partial_{\mu} \pi \partial_{\nu} \pi - \frac{1}{2} M^2 [\bar{\phi}] \pi^2 + \frac{g[\bar{\phi}] \pi \delta T}{M_{\rm pl}} \right]$$
(1.9)

where we refer to  $Z^{\mu\nu}$  as the Z factor, M is an environmental dependent mass, g is an environmental dependent coupling, and  $\delta T$  is the fluctuation in the trace of the energy-momentum tensor. When  $Z^{\mu\nu}$ ,  $g \sim \mathcal{O}(1)$ , the scalar field fluctuation couples to  $\delta T$  with gravitational strength. Broadly speaking, the three most popular screening mechanisms found in the literature can each be understood as relying on one of  $Z^{\mu\nu}$ , M or g responding to the presence of a massive source. Let us discuss each in turn.

#### **1.3.1** $Z^{\mu\nu}$ : the Vainshtein mechanism

Our first example of a screening mechanism is the Vainshtein mechanism [38], see [39] for a review, where derivative self-interactions of scalar fields make them weakly coupled to matter degrees of freedom. Theories with Vainshtein screening always have at least a minimal shift symmetry on the scalar,  $\phi \rightarrow$ 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>One can also derive the Yukawa form of this potential by calculating the S-matrix of  $2 \rightarrow 2$  fermionic particle scattering where a canonical massive fermion  $\psi$  couples to the scalar via  $g\bar{\psi}\psi\phi$  (see e.g. [37]).

 $\phi + c$ , such that  $M[\bar{\phi}] = 0$  and  $g[\bar{\phi}] \sim \mathcal{O}(1)$ . When the interactions dominate the equations of motion we have  $Z^{\mu\nu} \gg 1$  such that upon canonically normalising, the fluctuation couples to the source with a strength  $\frac{1}{M_{\text{pl}}\sqrt{Z}} \ll \frac{1}{M_{\text{pl}}}$ . The result is that the scalar force is much weaker than the spin-2 force of GR and unobservable in local experiments. A common feature of this mechanism is that one must introduce a new energy scale, which controls the strength of the derivative interactions, which must be very small in units of the Planck scale to ensure that the screening is effective. This generically reduces the regime of validity of the theory compared to GR.

In chapter 5 we will introduce the Vainshtein mechanism in much more detail and discuss how it found its origins in attempts to give the graviton a mass. We will then discuss the ability of theories which incorporate the Vainshtein mechanism to act as consistent effective descriptions of an unknown UV completion, with particular emphasis paid to suggestions as to how the classical theories can be trusted beyond the scale we would expect quantum corrections to dominate the dynamics [40]. In doing so we will study the classical dynamics of UV complete field theories as avatars of modifications of gravity and investigate the effects of higher order corrections to GR on its classical solutions. In this chapter we follow [3].

#### **1.3.2** M: the chameleon mechanism

Another popular screening mechanism is the chameleon mechanism introduced by Khoury and Weltman in 2003 [41, 42]. Here the scalar field has a canonical kinetic term such that  $Z^{\mu\nu}[\bar{\phi}] = \eta^{\mu\nu}$  and again couples to matter with gravitational strength with  $g[\bar{\phi}] \sim \mathcal{O}(1)$ . However, now the mass of the scalar field fluctuation is environment dependent. In high density regions like the solar system, the mass is large such that the corresponding scalar force is short range thanks to the Yukawa suppression in equation (1.8). Whereas at large distances where the densities are much smaller, the field is light and mediates a long range force. A conformal coupling between the scalar field and matter degrees of freedom is crucial to the effectiveness of the fifth force suppression. However, it was recently shown that this coupling caused issues for the chameleon in the early universe where a classical treatment of the chameleon's evolution could not be trusted prior to Big Bang Nucleosynthesis [43,44]. This is the basis of chapter 6. There we will begin by reviewing the chameleon mechanism in detail followed by a discussion of how the chameleon's classical description cannot be trusted at energy scales where we would expect to make predictions. Motivated by these issues, we then present a modification of the chameleon model which retains its ability to screen unwanted forces in local regions but has a much larger regime of validity in the early universe. In doing so we will follow the work in [4]. The structure of this modification is motivated by the results of chapter 5.

#### **1.3.3** g: the symmetron mechanism

Finally, although we won't come across it in the main body of this thesis, the final screening mechanism is the symmetron mechanism [45]. This screening mechanism shares similarities with the chameleon mechanism inasmuch as screening takes place in regions of large matter density. There the scalar force becomes very weak, whereas in regions of low matter density the scalar field meditates a long range gravitational strength force. However, in contrast to the chameleon mechanism, it is the vacuum expectation value (VEV) of the scalar field which depends on the matter density. With a linear  $q[\bar{\phi}]$ , the coupling strength between the scalar fluctuation and the matter fields is proportional to the VEV, and screening works by ensuring that when the matter density is large, the VEV of the scalar field is attracted to  $\bar{\phi} = 0$  where the coupling to matter vanishes. This is also the VEV where the symmetry  $\bar{\phi} \rightarrow -\bar{\phi}$  is restored, hence the name. In regions of low density the symmetry is broken since there  $\bar{\phi} \neq 0$  and the fluctuation couples to matter with gravitational strength. The effects of 1-loop quantum corrections to the symmetron potential on screening was recently investigated in [46].

#### 1.4 GR as an effective field theory

A common focus of this thesis will be the ability of modifications of gravity, and more generally scalar field theories with screening mechanisms, to act as consistent effective field theories (EFTs). Since GR is always the theory of gravity we compare to, before moving onto the main body of this thesis let us first describe why it is such a good EFT. This exercise will also be very useful when we compare theories with a Vainshtein mechanism to GR in chapter 5.

Einstein's route to GR was a geometric one guided by the equivalence principle and general co-ordinate invariance. However, with the advent of quantum field theory we now understand the interactions of GR as an inevitable consequence of a few basic principles without any mention of the equivalence principle or general coordinate invariance. GR is simply the unique result of constructing a low energy description of interacting massless spin-2 particles, consistent with Lorentz invariance and locality [47–53]. This is completely comparable to Yang-Mills theory which is simply the unique result of writing down low energy interactions between massless spin-1 particles [54].

The associated gauge invariances for spin-1 and spin-2 (general coordinate invariance) are a consequence of demanding Lorentz invariance and are not fundamental properties in their own right. Indeed, these gauge 'symmetries' do not yield transformations in a particle's Hilbert space. They are really just redundancies required to write down Lorentz invariant self-interactions between massless particles. In addition, the only way to write down Lorentz invariant interactions between the graviton and other fields is if all coupling constants are equivalent. In other words, Lorentz invariance implies the equivalence principle too [55, 56]. This field theoretic approach to constructing theories also allows one to show that no self-interacting theories of massless particles with spin  $\geq 3$  can exist [56, 57].

Given the complexity of Einstein's equations it is very difficult to find exact solutions for  $g_{\mu\nu}$ . A very powerful way of making predictions is perturbation theory where we reduce the equations of motion to a set linear equations which are much easier to solve and compute small corrections to these solutions. Perturbation theory also makes manifest the statement that GR is a theory of interacting massless spin-2 particles. As an example, in the absence of matter fields and with  $\Lambda_c = 0$  consider expanding the metric around Minkowski space  $\eta_{\mu\nu}$  by

$$g_{\mu\nu} = \eta_{\mu\nu} + h_{\mu\nu} \tag{1.10}$$

where  $h_{\mu\nu}$  is the graviton fluctuation. This exercise will also allow us to extract the most important distance scales in GR. Truncating the Einstein-Hilbert action at quadratic order in  $h_{\mu\nu}$  yields

$$S = \frac{M_{\rm pl}^2}{4} \int d^4x \left[ -\frac{1}{2} \partial_\sigma h_{\mu\nu} \partial^\sigma h^{\mu\nu} + \partial_\mu h_{\nu\sigma} \partial^\nu h^{\mu\sigma} - \partial_\mu h^{\mu\nu} \partial_\nu h + \frac{1}{2} \partial_\sigma h \partial^\sigma h \right]$$
(1.11)

where indices are raised and lowered with  $\eta_{\mu\nu}$  e.g.  $h = \eta^{\mu\nu}h_{\mu\nu}$ . This is a theory of a spin-2 field propagating on a flat background. The field is clearly massless since there are only kinetic energy terms<sup>3</sup>. The tuning between each operator is extremely important and ensures that the theory describes the correct number of two helicity degrees of freedom of a Lorentz invariant massless spin-2 particle<sup>4</sup>. The tuning can be understood from the fact that the action is invariant under linearised diffeomorphisms

$$h_{\mu\nu} \to h_{\mu\nu} + \partial_{\mu}\xi_{\nu} + \partial_{\nu}\xi_{\mu} \tag{1.12}$$

where  $\xi_{\mu}$  is the gauge parameter. Indeed, as we have said, the theory is only manifestly Lorentz invariant if it inherits this redundancy. In this sense we could have arrived at a low energy Lorentz invariant theory of interacting massless spin-2 particles by writing down all possible contractions of  $h_{\mu\nu}$  including at most two derivatives and demand that it is invariant under (1.12). This would have lead us uniquely to the terms in (1.11).

At some point this linearised approximation will break down. When we

 $<sup>^{3}</sup>$ We will come back to the issue of adding a mass to the graviton in chapter 5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Any massless boson with a non-zero spin has only the two helicity degrees of freedom since in a Lorentz invariant theory one can never boost to the rest frame of a massless particle. A consequence of this statement is that there is a discontinuity between the number of degrees of freedom of a massive non-zero spin boson and the corresponding massless particle. This is why the massless nature of the photon and graviton is stable under quantum corrections.

expanded the action we dropped terms of the schematic form

$$M_{\rm pl}^2 h \partial^2 h^{n+1} \tag{1.13}$$

with  $n \ge 1$ , which are the derivative self-interactions of the graviton. Upon canonical normalisation  $\hat{h}_{\mu\nu} = M_{\rm pl}h_{\mu\nu}$  these operators enter the action as

$$\frac{\hat{h}\partial^2 \hat{h}^{n+1}}{M_{\rm pl}^n} \tag{1.14}$$

and due to the presence of the inverse metric, there are an infinite tower of these irrelevant operators with each coupling constant fixed by the non-linear diffeomorphism invariance. We note that the cubic interaction has been measured by virtue of observations of the perhelion precession of Mercury. These operators differ to the ones in (1.11) by increasing powers of  $\hat{h}/M_{\rm pl}$  such that the linearised approximation breaks down when  $\hat{h} \sim M_{\rm pl}$ . When this happens the operators in the  $n \to \infty$  limit dominate. This is classical strong coupling and signals the break down of tree level perturbation theory.

In the presence of a heavy source of mass M, such as the Sun, we can approximate the energy scale when these higher order operators become important and signal the break down of the quadratic truncation. If we supplement the canonically normalised quadratic action with the matter coupling  $\hat{h}_{\mu\nu}T^{\mu\nu}/M_{\rm pl}{}^5$ , then the linearised equations of motion in the presence of the massive source are schematically

$$\partial^2 \hat{h} \sim \frac{M}{M_{\rm pl}} \frac{1}{r^3} \tag{1.15}$$

where we have assumed that the source is a non-relativistic, static and spherically symmetric point source with  $T^{\mu\nu} = M \delta_0^{\mu} \delta_0^{\nu} \delta^3(\vec{x})$ , and r is the radial co-ordinate. By dimensional analysis, the solution to this equation takes the form

$$\hat{h} \sim \frac{M}{M_{\rm pl}r}.\tag{1.16}$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>If  $T^{\mu\nu}$  is conserved then this matter coupling does not break the gauge symmetry (1.12) and so is Lorentz invariant.

The radius at which  $\hat{h} \sim M_{\rm pl}$  is therefore

$$r_s \sim \frac{M}{M_{\rm pl}^2} \tag{1.17}$$

and is precisely the Schwarzschild radius for the massive body. For all macroscopic sources  $r_s \gg 1/M_{\rm pl} \sim 10^{-33} {\rm cm}$ . For example, for the Sun we have  $r_s \sim 1 {
m km}$  and for the Earth  $r_s \sim 1 {
m cm}$ . When  $r \gg r_s$  we can reproduce Newtonian gravity and analytically calculate small relativistic corrections to Newton's law of gravitation. The perturbative nature of this energy regime means it encompasses the scales where we know most about gravity. Fortunately, given the smallness of  $r_s$  for the Sun, we can make amazingly accurate predictions for the motion of planets in the solar system. Similarly for gravitational experiments on Earth. This was imperative to the fact that GR enjoyed experimental success only a few years after it was introduced and is really thanks to the weakness of gravity at these energy scales. As we approach the source, the linear approximation breaks down at  $r \sim r_s$  and to calculate the gravitational potential one is required to solve the full non-linear field equations by including all operators of the form (1.14) which amounts to solving (1.3). We refer the reader to [58] for a more rigorous approach to solving the linear equations of GR.

It is well known that GR is not a complete description of gravity at all energy scales. The presence of the irrelevant operators (1.14) ensures that GR cannot be re-normalised with a finite number of counter terms [59] and the interactions can only be trusted at energies below a certain threshold. The uniqueness of GR as a theory of interacting massless spin-2 particles is only valid at low energies, or in other words, if we restrict the operators to involve no more than two derivatives. We saw this explicitly when we expanded the action. The irrelevant operators coming from the interactions of the Ricci scalar only ever involved two powers of momenta and the higher order operators were only higher order in  $\hat{h}_{\mu\nu}$ . The cosmological constant term is simply the zero-th order term in a gauge invariant derivative expansion.

There are of course more operators we can write down which are consistent

with gauge invariance and we should indeed include them all since there is nothing stopping them from being generated quantum mechanically. These can be built out of the Riemann curvature, the metric and the covariant derivative. For example, all allowed terms involving four derivatives are

$$R^2, \quad R_{\mu\nu}R^{\mu\nu}, \quad R_{\alpha\beta\mu\nu}R^{\alpha\beta\mu\nu}, \quad \Box R$$
 (1.18)

and each enter the gravitational action with arbitrary coefficients. Note that gauge invariance fixes the coefficients of the  $\hat{h}_{\mu\nu}$  operators such that they re-sum into the relevant curvature invariants but the coefficients of these is a priori arbitrary. Since  $\Box R$  and the Gauss Bonnet combination  $\mathcal{G} = R^{\mu\nu\alpha\beta}R_{\mu\nu\alpha\beta} - 4R^{\mu\nu}R_{\mu\nu} + R^2$  are total derivatives, there are only two non-trivial operators with four derivatives. Therefore, the effective field theory of gravity in four space-time dimensions, including operators with no more than four derivatives, is

$$S = \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} \left[ -\Lambda_c + \frac{M_{\rm pl}^2}{2} R + c_1 R^2 + c_2 R^{\mu\nu} R_{\mu\nu} + \dots \right].$$
(1.19)

The ellipses denote higher order curvature terms carrying at least six derivatives. This action has received much attention e.g. [60–63]. Given a UV completion of gravity one could perform a matching procedure to fix the values of the dimensionless coupling constants  $c_1, c_2$ . However, in the absence of a full UV theory they should be fixed by observation, just like the coupling constants in any EFT. Before discussing these interactions in more detail, it is worth mentioning that this truncation has been shown to be a re-normalisable theory thanks to the improved behaviour of the graviton propagator  $\sim 1/k^4$  [60]. However, it is not a consistent theory of quantum gravity at all energy scales since the higher order equations of motion ensures that around Minkowski space the theory propagates ghostly degrees of freedom. The ghosts can only be kept under control when the higher order corrections are treated perturbatively.

Again, working in the absence of matter fields and setting  $\Lambda_c = 0$ , after expanding around flat space these higher order corrections correspond to

irrelevant operators of the schematic form

$$\frac{\hat{h}\partial^4 \hat{h}^{m+1}}{M_{\rm pl}^{m+2}} \tag{1.20}$$

where  $m \ge 0$  and we have assumed that the Einstein-Hilbert terms are canonical. At a given order in  $\hat{h}$ , they differ from the Einstein-Hilbert terms by a single power of  $\partial^2/M_{\rm pl}^2$  which is small as long as  $\partial \ll M_{\rm pl}$ . In other words, the higher order corrections are small if we restrict ourselves to gravitational process where momentum transfer is smaller than  $M_{\rm pl} \sim 10^{18}$ GeV. At energies far below the Planck scale we expect the effects of the higher order terms to be negligible. This is emphasised beautifully by the experimental bounds on  $c_1, c_2$  which given the weakness of gravity in the experimentally probed regions are  $c_1, c_2 \leq 10^{74}$  [61, 64].

After writing down an EFT for gravity there is nothing stopping us from doing quantum gravity, albeit perturbatively, since we know what the leading order quantum corrections should look like. For example, the 1-loop correction to the Newtonian potential  $\delta V(r)$  between two massive bodies, in units of the classical non-relativistic potential V(r), is [64–67]

$$\frac{\delta V(r)}{V(r)} = \frac{41}{10\pi} \frac{1}{r^2 M_{\rm pl}^2} \tag{1.21}$$

which is a purely quantum mechanical effect! It happens to be, however, that these corrections are incredibly small at long distances. At distances of order  $1\mu$ m which is at the forefront of tests of the inverse square law, see e.g. [68], this correction is ~  $\mathcal{O}(10^{-58})$ . Even if we could perform precise tests of gravity on the energy scales at the forefront of particle physics ~  $10^{-17}$ cm, the correction would still only be ~  $\mathcal{O}(10^{-32})$ . In fact, we would have expected the leading order quantum correction to have this form without performing any explicit calculations. Indeed, graviton loop diagrams will come with at least an extra power of  $1/M_{\rm pl}^2$  relative to the tree level diagrams and then by dimensional analysis the leading order correction must be of the form  $a/(M_{\rm pl}r)^2$ . The explicit calculation is then required to calculate the dimensionless constant a.

Therefore we can happily do quantum gravity at large distances, issues only

arises when we start to reach the Planck scale. At this point we reach quantum strong coupling; loop perturbation theory breaks down and the amplitudes of graviton scattering processes become non-unitary since they grow as  $(E/M_{\rm pl})^2$  where E is the energy scale of the corresponding process. Beyond this scale we require a fully fledged UV completion of gravity that can take care of the infinite tower of curvature invariants. String theory is the most promising candidate in this direction (see e.g. [69, 70]).

Here we have seen that the EFT of gravity has two expansion parameters representing three distinct energy regimes. The first is the classical expansion parameter  $\hat{h}/M_{\rm pl}$  which controls the effects of classical non-linearities within GR. The second is a quantum expansion parameter  $\partial/M_{\rm pl}$  which controls the effects of quantum corrections to GR. The linear regime is defined as the scale of energies for which  $\hat{h} \ll M_{\rm pl}$  and  $\partial \ll M_{\rm pl}$ . The classical non-linear regime, for example inside a black hole but far from the would be singularity, is when  $\hat{h} \gtrsim M_{\rm pl}$  but  $\partial \ll M_{\rm pl}$ . The quantum mechanical regime is when  $\partial \sim M_{\rm pl}$ . It is highly non-trivial that a large hierarchy exists where we can trust the non-linear theory of GR while keeping quantum corrections small. As we shall discuss in chapter 5, this is rarely true for scalar field theories and modifications of gravity. We refer the reader to [64,65] for more details on the EFT structure of GR.

# Chapter

## The Cosmological Constant Problem

This chapter is devoted to a detailed discussion of the cosmological constant problem. We begin by arguing that the problem can be traced back to two very rigorous foundations, both consequences of 20th century physics, which have found experimental verification in a number of physical processes. We then explain how the vacuum energy contributions to the cosmological constant are calculated in quantum field theory (QFT) and in the framework of semiclassical gravity. Using an interacting scalar field as an example, we explain why we must *repeatedly* fine tune a classical parameter in General Relativity (GR) to match observations of a small cosmological constant, emphasising that the issue is one of radiative instability. We then show how the cosmological constant affects curvature in GR, and in doing so we will discuss how one could tackle the problem with a modification of gravity. We end this chapter by going through Weinberg's no-go theorem which argues that the cosmological constant problem cannot be solved using new dynamical fields without some level of fine tuning [20]. We refer the reader to the number of available reviews on the cosmological constant problem for more details [20–25].

#### 2.1 Two rigorous foundations

The cosmological constant problem is a result of combining our two best descriptions of fundamental physics: the standard model of particle physics and Einstein's theory of General Relativity. The primary causes of the problem can be traced back to two very rigorous foundations which we deal with in turn.

The first foundation is that the vacuum has energy. In QFT, the energy of the vacuum contributes to physical processes via loop corrections to tree level scattering amplitudes. For example, consider the coulomb potential between an electron  $e^-$  and a positron  $e^+$  resulting from Bhabha scattering  $e^-e^+ \rightarrow e^-e^+$ (see e.g. [37] for more details than what will be presented here). In quantum electrodynamics (QED) the coulomb potential is due to the exchange of a virtual photon as dictated by the following QED Lagrangian

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{QED}} = -\frac{1}{4} F_{\mu\nu} F^{\mu\nu} + \bar{\psi} (i\gamma^{\mu}\partial_{\mu} - m_e)\psi - e\bar{\psi}\gamma^{\mu}A_{\mu}\psi \qquad (2.1)$$

where  $F_{\mu\nu} = \partial_{\mu}A_{\nu} - \partial_{\nu}A_{\mu}$  is the field strength tensor for the vector potential  $A_{\mu}$ ,  $\psi$  is the relevant charged fermion of mass  $m_e$ ,  $\gamma^{\mu}$  are the gamma matrices and  $e^2 = 4\pi\alpha$  where  $\alpha \approx 1/137$  is the fine structure constant at low energies. At tree level, the contributions to this process come from s and t channel Feynman diagrams with the dominate contribution coming from the following t-channel diagram



where  $\gamma$  denotes a virtual photon. The resulting potential in the non-relativistic limit is the usual one of classical electrodynamics

$$V(r) = -\frac{e^2}{4\pi r} \tag{2.2}$$

yielding the expected attractive force between opposite charges. However,

this is not the full story in QED and we can calculate a 1-loop correction to the tree level coulomb potential thanks to the creation of a virtual  $e^+e^$ pair which corrects the virtual photon propagator. This process is known as vacuum polarisation and is pictorially expressed as



This diagram involves two extra cubic interaction vertices relative to the tree level one meaning that the resulting amplitude will have two extra powers of the coupling constant  $e \ll 1$ . It is therefore a small perturbative correction. The non-relativistic potential described by a sum of the tree level and 1-loop diagrams is the Uehling potential [71] and its form depends on the energy scale of interest. On distance scales larger than the Compton wavelength of the electron  $r \gg 1/m_e$ , the Uehling potential is [37,71]

$$V(r) = -\frac{e^2}{4\pi r} \left[ 1 + \frac{e^2}{16\pi^{3/2}} \frac{1}{(m_e r)^{3/2}} e^{-2m_e r} \right]$$
(2.3)

and the loop correction is exponentially suppressed. On distance scales smaller than the Compton wavelength of the electron  $r \ll 1/m_e$ , the Uehling potential is [37,71]

$$V(r) = -\frac{e^2}{4\pi r} \left[ 1 + \frac{e^2}{6\pi^2} \left( \log \frac{1}{m_e r} - \frac{5}{6} - \gamma_E \right) \right]$$
(2.4)

where  $\gamma_E \approx 0.577$  is the Euler-Mascheroni constant. Here we see the logarithmic running of the fine structure constant at 1-loop. In each case, this correction to the tree level potential energy is solely due to the interactions

between the virtual photon and the vacuum fluctuations of the virtual electron and positron pair. It is an example of where theory predicts that vacuum fluctuations affect physical process. However, do we see these effects in experiments? Indeed we do, and the most famous example is the Lamb shift [72].

In 1947 Willis Lamb observed a small splitting between energy levels of the Hydrogen atom which are predicted to be degenerate in tree level QED. This observation made physicists realise that loop corrections are important in describing physical processes and paved the way for modern re-normalisation techniques. Indeed, the QED 1-loop correction to the atomic energy levels of the Hydrogen atom are in excellent agreement with observations of the Lamb shift [73–76] and the vacuum polarisation diagram is one of the contributors [37].

Having argued that vacuum fluctuations exist, we now come to the second important foundation: the principle of equivalence which tells us that all forms of matter and energy gravitate and that they all gravitate with the same strength. Therefore in a theory obeying the equivalence principle, as is the case in GR, we expect the vacuum energy fluctuations which contribute to the Lamb shift to gravitate. Again, at least for the processes discussed above, this second principle is realised in Nature. Indeed, it is observed that these loop corrections not only affect the inertial energy of an atom but they also affect its gravitational energy. For example, the loop corrections to the inertial energy of both Aluminium and Platinum are of order 1 part in  $10^3$  but differ by a factor of 3, yet the ratio between their gravitational energy and inertial energy are equivalent to at least 1 part in  $10^{12}$  [77]. In this sense the vacuum energy contributions to the Lamb shift obey the equivalence principle to at least 1 part in  $10^9$ .

In conclusion, vacuum fluctuations exist in Nature, have a non-trivial impact on physical processes, and at least in certain situations have been seen to gravitate. Following this logic to its conclusions leads to the cosmological constant problem.

### 2.2 Fine tuning, fine tuning, fine tuning...

In this thesis we are interested in the effects of vacuum energy on the cosmological constant. The processes we have discussed so far have been employed to argue that vacuum fluctuations exist, but they do not contribute to the cosmological constant since they include standard model particles on external legs. The quantum mechanical contributions to the cosmological constant are pure Feynman bubble diagrams which only involve virtual particles running around loops. For example, consider a scalar field of mass  $m_{\phi}$  and quartic selfinteraction  $\lambda \phi^4$ , the relevant Feynman diagrams expressed in a loop expansion are<sup>1</sup>



where the ellipses denote higher order loop diagrams. Thanks to the equivalence principle, these diagrams must also couple to external gravitons and at a given loop order we can add an arbitrary high number of them. For example, at the 1-loop level we have

$$()$$
 +  $(2.6)$ 

where now the ellipses denote further 1-loop diagrams with an increasing number of external gravitons. Fortunately, gauge invariance ensures that the infinite series of diagrams sums into a contribution to the gravitational action of

 $<sup>^1{\</sup>rm The}$  following results and conclusions are qualitatively the same for other massive particles with different spin.

the form

$$-V_{\rm vac}^{\phi,1\text{-loop}} \int d^4x \sqrt{-g}.$$
 (2.7)

We could also have argued this based on Lorentz invariance. Indeed, the vacuum of space-time is observed to be Lorentz invariant to a very high order of accuracy [78] and the only way the vacuum energy could enter the energymomentum tensor in a Lorentz invariance way is  $T_{\mu\nu} = -V_{\text{vac}}g_{\mu\nu}$ . It follows that the vacuum energy must enter the action as in (2.7).

To calculate the vacuum energy we use a semi-classical framework where we treat the gravitational degrees of freedom classically but treat the field theory sector quantum mechanically. In practice, we first expand the action around Minkowski space with the metric fluctuation canonically normalised. We then calculate the loop corrections in the limit where we decouple gravity i.e. by sending  $M_{\rm pl} \rightarrow \infty$ . This leaves us with a field theory defined in Minkowski space where we can use the standard techniques of QFT. Once we have calculated the vacuum energy contributions to a given order in perturbation theory, we then relax  $M_{\rm pl}$  back to its finite value and allow gravity to classically probe the resulting vacuum energy in the manner dictated by gauge invariance. This ensures that we ignore all Feynman diagrams with virtual graviton exchanges. There are two motivations for doing this. First of all, the matter loops are already very problematic when we match our calculation of the vacuum energy to observations, as we shall see in a moment. Also, the contributions involving virtual gravitons are sensitive to quantum gravity effects and are therefore not as well understood. However, even with Planck suppression, it is still expected that relative to the observed value of the cosmological constant these contributions are not negligible [79] and these would need to be dealt with in a fully fledged solution to the cosmological constant problem.

When we calculate the loop contributions to the cosmological constant we have to deal with divergent momentum integrals and we therefore have to implement a regularisation procedure. One way to do so is by using dimensional regularisation where we work in  $d = 4 - \epsilon$  dimensions (here we closely follow

[25]). In this case the 1-loop result for our massive scalar field example is [23]

$$V_{\rm vac}^{\phi,1\text{-loop}} = -\frac{m_{\phi}^4}{(8\pi)^2} \left[\frac{2}{\epsilon} + \log\left(\frac{\mu^2}{m_{\phi}^2}\right) + \text{finite}\right]$$
(2.8)

where  $\mu$  is an arbitrary mass scale which we must introduce by dimensional analysis when we regulate and is therefore regulator dependent. The arbitrariness of  $\mu$  ensures that any finite contributions are also arbitrary since we can always absorb them into a re-definition of  $\mu$ . It is simple to see that by sending  $\epsilon \to 0$  the result is divergent. As is the case in any QFT when we calculate loops, we remove the divergence by adding a counter term  $\Lambda_c$ . The counter term required here is

$$\Lambda_{\rm c}^{\phi,1\text{-loop}} = \frac{m_{\phi}^4}{(8\pi)^2} \left[ \frac{2}{\epsilon} + \log\left(\frac{\mu^2}{M^2}\right) + \text{finite} \right]$$
(2.9)

where M is the re-normalisation scale. The re-normalised vacuum energy  $\Lambda_{\text{ren}}^{\phi,1\text{-loop}}$  is the linear combination of the two and at the 1-loop level is

$$\Lambda_{\rm ren}^{\phi,1\text{-loop}} = \frac{m_{\phi}^4}{(8\pi)^2} \left[ \log\left(\frac{m_{\phi}^2}{M^2}\right) + \text{finite} \right].$$
(2.10)

Again, the finite contributions are completely arbitrary since they can always be absorbed into a re-definition of the re-normalisation scale M. This emphasises the important fact that we have no way of predicting the magnitude of the vacuum energy contributions to the cosmological constant from massive particles in EFT. After removing the divergences the result will *always* depend on an arbitrary mass scale. In comparison to  $V_{\rm vac}^{\phi,1-\rm loop}$ , the counter term  $\Lambda_c^{\phi,1-\rm loop}$  has a divergent and finite part. We can consider the finite part as simply the bare cosmological constant that we argued we were free to add to the Einstein-Hilbert action since it will enter the gravitational action in exactly the same way (this explains our choice of notation).

Since we cannot predict the size of the cosmological constant we have to measure it and adjust the finite part of  $\Lambda_c$  appropriately such that our theory matches observations. For example, if we assume that our scalar field is the Higgs boson of the standard model then it has a mass  $m_{\phi} = 126 \text{GeV}$  [80, 81]. Given that observations place an upper bound on the total cosmological constant of  $(meV)^4$ , the finite contributions to the vacuum energy at the 1-loop level must cancel to an accuracy of 1 part in  $10^{60}$ .

Let us now consider the 2-loop correction to the vacuum energy from the massive scalar field. Since this Feynman diagram includes a 4-point interaction, the result will depend on the coupling constant  $\lambda$ . The precise form of the result is not important and dimensional analysis tell us it takes the form

$$V_{\rm vac}^{\phi,2\text{-loop}} \sim \lambda m_{\phi}^4. \tag{2.11}$$

Importantly, this is an *additive* correction to the 1-loop result. Again, if we assume that this scalar is the Higgs boson, then even with  $\lambda \sim 0.1$ , this is a huge contribution to the cosmological constant relative to the observed value  $(meV)^4$ . Now having already fixed the bare cosmological constant to match observations at the 1-loop level, we have to *re-tune* its value to a high order of accuracy to cancel the unwanted contributions at the 2-loop level. Similarly we have to re-tune as we go to 3-loops, 4-loops and so on. At every order in perturbation theory, the vacuum energy contribution from the Higgs boson is not significantly suppressed relative to either the observed value of the cosmological constant or the previous loop correction. In other words, it is *radiatively unstable* and we have to re-tune the bare cosmological constant at every order in loop perturbation theory to deal with this instability. We are seeing that the cosmological constant is very sensitive to high energy physics and therefore we say that its observed small value is unnatural. Also, the fact that we cannot predict the size of the cosmological constant in EFT is an inevitable consequence of re-normalisable field theory and is indeed the case for parameters in the standard model such as the electron mass or charge. However, in these cases there is no radiative instability and no need to repeatedly fine tune.

We can also describe the problem using Wilsonian effective actions where it is clear that the vacuum energy is extremely sensitive to high energy physics and changes in the Wilsonian cut-off, see e.g. [82,83]. We begin by assuming that we have a microscopic action  $S[\phi_i]$  built out of some fields  $\phi_i$  which is valid at high energy scales. The idea of Wilsonian actions is that we do not need to know the details of the high energy physics if we are only interested in low energy processes. In other words, the high energy modes and low energy modes *decouple* and each energy scale in Nature can be understood on its own without detailed knowledge of other scales. The fact that decoupling is respected by Nature in a variety of situations is imperative to our current knowledge of physics. It would be a disaster if we had to know about Planckian scale gravitational interactions to understand why apples fall from trees. Similarly, we can gain a very good understanding of atoms without detailed knowledge of quarks and gluons.

A sufficient description of physics described by  $S[\phi_i]$  below some energy scale  $\mu$  is given by integrating out the high energy degrees of freedom from the path integral. To do so we split the degrees of freedom in the microscopic action into low energy modes  $\phi_l$  and high energy modes  $\phi_h$  with the distinction that the high energy modes cannot be excited with energies below  $\mu$ . The Wilsonian effective action for  $\phi_l$  is then

$$\exp(iS_{\text{eff}}[\phi_l]) = \int D\phi_h \exp(iS[\phi_l, \phi_h])$$
(2.12)

and can be expressed as an expansion of  $\phi_l$  and their derivatives.

The vacuum energy contributions from the low energy particles in this effective action are dominated by the heaviest particle in the spectrum and is therefore  $V_{\rm vac} \sim \mu^4$  i.e. it is given by the fourth power of the Wilsonian cut-off. Given an observation of the total cosmological constant we then have to adjust  $\Lambda_c$  appropriately. However, there is nothing special about the energy scale  $\mu$ and the associated Wilsonian action. Indeed, if a parameter in a theory is set to be small relative to the cut-off, we would like it to remain so for any other effective action defined at a new scale. This is however not the case for the vacuum energy since if we further integrate out modes with energies in the range  $\hat{\mu} < E < \mu$  such that we are left with an effective action valid at energy scales below  $\hat{\mu}$ , the dominant contribution to the vacuum energy is now  $\hat{\mu}^4$ . If there is a hierarchy between  $\mu$  and  $\hat{\mu}$  we have to choose a new  $\Lambda_c$  to match
observations. Every time we change the cut-off of the Wilsonian action we have to choose a completely new value for  $\Lambda_c$ .

In principle there is nothing wrong with the vacuum energy being dependent on the cut-off. The real issue is that its dependence is power law rather than logarithmic and again we must repeatedly fine tune  $\Lambda_c$  to match observations when our effective description of the field theory changes. This is what really makes the vacuum energy problematic compared to many parameters in the standard model which receive logarithmic re-normalisations. The exception is the Higgs mass. Since the mass of scalar fields is not protected by a discontinuity in the number of degrees of freedom between massless and massive fields, or by chiral symmetry, it is also the subject of large radiative corrections. However, the observed Higgs mass by yet be rendered natural with the discovery of low scale supersymmetry, see e.g. [26]. For more details regarding this approach to describing the cosmological constant problem we refer the reader to [24, 83].

A discussion of the cosmological constant problem is somewhat incomplete without mentioning anthropics. Indeed, there is a 'solution' to the cosmological constant problem which does not involve rendering the vacuum energy corrections to it stable against large radiative corrections, or by preventing the unstable contributions from sourcing curvature. The anthropic approach to the cosmological constant is to assume that naturalness plays no role and that large fine tunings are fundamental in our ability to describe Nature. The vacuum we find ourselves performing observations in is simply the one where we were able to evolve and there are many other vacua with vastly different values of the cosmological constant where structure is not able to form. In this thesis we will take the view that it is not too late to look for more desirable solutions and refer the reader to [21, 22] for more details.

Finally, we note that the cosmological constant problem can be rephrased by asking why the universe has evolved into a macroscopic state? If the cosmological constant had taken on its natural value in our universe, then with gravity described by GR, the universe would have evolved into a de Sitter phase at a much earlier stage in its life time and with a very large de Sitter curvature. This would have prevented the universe from having the large cosmological horizon which we observe today and would have not allowed for all its rich structure. Our incomplete knowledge about the cosmological constant and how it affects dynamics truly represents a huge gap in our understanding of the universe.

### 2.3 Vacuum energy and cosmology

The most obvious fact about the cosmological constant is that its energy density does not red-shift. Understanding the implications of this is very important if we are to begin tackling the cosmological constant problem. Let us define the cosmological constant in a more rigorous way by defining the space-time average of a scalar quantity Q (it must be a scalar by general covariance) as

$$\langle Q \rangle = \frac{\int d^4x \sqrt{-g}Q}{\int d^4x \sqrt{-g}} \tag{2.13}$$

where the integrals are taken over the *entire* space-time volume. The cosmological constant is the *only* part of the energy-momentum tensor which at a given epoch in the history of the universe is equal to its space-time averaged value<sup>2</sup>

$$\Lambda = \langle \Lambda \rangle. \tag{2.14}$$

With this in mind let us see exactly how the cosmological constant sources curvature in GR. We begin by decomposing Einstein's equations (1.3) into a set of traceless equations and a pure trace equation

$$M_{\rm pl}^2 \left( R^{\mu}{}_{\nu} - \frac{1}{4} \delta^{\mu}{}_{\nu} R \right) = T^{\mu}{}_{\nu} - \frac{1}{4} \delta^{\mu}{}_{\nu} T^{\alpha}{}_{\alpha} \tag{2.15}$$

$$M_{\rm pl}^2 R = 4\Lambda_c - T^{\alpha}{}_{\alpha} \tag{2.16}$$

where  $T^{\alpha}{}_{\alpha} = g^{\mu\nu}T_{\mu\nu}$  is the trace of the energy-momentum tensor. This is a completely equivalent description of on-shell GR as (1.3). The cosmological constant drops out from the traceless equations and its only affect on curvature

 $<sup>^{2}</sup>$ This is true if we ignore phase transitions. For the moment this is a sufficient assumption and we will discuss phase transitions later on in chapter 4.

is by virtue of the trace equation. At this point we remind the reader that the quantum mechanical corrections to the total cosmological constant are packaged inside  $T^{\mu}{}_{\nu} = -\delta^{\mu}{}_{\nu}V_{\text{vac}}$  which is absent in the right hand side of equation (2.15). We can further decompose the trace equation by taking its space-time average

$$M_{\rm pl}^2 \langle R \rangle = 4\Lambda_c - \langle T^{\alpha}{}_{\alpha} \rangle \tag{2.17}$$

where we have used  $\Lambda_c = \langle \Lambda_c \rangle$ . The total cosmological constant will then also drop out from the difference between the trace equation and its spacetime average. We can therefore describe the dynamics of GR, over the full space-time, via the following equations

$$M_{\rm pl}^2 \left( R^{\mu}{}_{\nu} - \frac{1}{4} \delta^{\mu}{}_{\nu} R \right) = T^{\mu}{}_{\nu} - \frac{1}{4} \delta^{\mu}{}_{\nu} T^{\alpha}{}_{\alpha}$$
(2.18)

$$M_{\rm pl}^2(R - \langle R \rangle) = \langle T^{\alpha}{}_{\alpha} \rangle - T^{\alpha}{}_{\alpha}$$
(2.19)

$$M_{\rm pl}^2 \langle R \rangle = 4\Lambda_c - \langle T^{\alpha}{}_{\alpha} \rangle. \tag{2.20}$$

At this point let us comment on the space-time average of the Ricci scalar since one may worry about potential diverges. These are avoided in the numerator by only including sub-Planckian curvatures. This is a natural thing to do in classical gravity since for larger curvatures our classical solutions would be anyway untrustworthy due to quantum corrections. There can also be a divergence in the denominator if the space-time volume is infinite in which case we either have  $\langle R \rangle = 0$ , which is the case in a radiation or matter dominated cosmology, or  $\langle R \rangle = \text{constant}$  for asymptotically de Sitter or anti-de Sitter space-times. In this case the value of  $\langle R \rangle$  is given by the value of the Ricci scalar on the relevant maximally symmetric solution since the space-time integrals cancel. We refer the reader to [31, 84] for more details and in particular [31] for a discussion of black holes.

It is instructive to from now on extract the vacuum energy piece from the full energy-momentum tensor by defining

$$T^{\mu}{}_{\nu} = \tau^{\mu}{}_{\nu} - \delta^{\mu}{}_{\nu}V_{\rm vac} \tag{2.21}$$

where  $\tau^{\mu}{}_{\nu}$  is the energy-momentum tensor of all energy sources other than the vacuum energy i.e. all localised sources. Making this replacement in the above equations leads to

$$M_{\rm pl}^2 \left( R^{\mu}{}_{\nu} - \frac{1}{4} \delta^{\mu}{}_{\nu} R \right) = \tau^{\mu}{}_{\nu} - \frac{1}{4} \delta^{\mu}{}_{\nu} \tau^{\alpha}{}_{\alpha} \tag{2.22}$$

$$M_{\rm pl}^2(R - \langle R \rangle) = \langle \tau^{\alpha}{}_{\alpha} \rangle - \tau^{\alpha}{}_{\alpha} \tag{2.23}$$

$$M_{\rm pl}^2 \langle R \rangle = 4(\Lambda_c + V_{\rm vac}) - \langle \tau^{\alpha}{}_{\alpha} \rangle.$$
 (2.24)

Since this decomposition is rarely seen in the literature, let us again emphasise that here we are doing nothing more than showing how the cosmological constant sources curvature in GR. We now see how it only directly sources the *space-time averaged* value of the Ricci scalar  $\langle R \rangle$ . Its affect on local curvature terms is secondary and due to equations (2.22), (2.23). We are required to repeatedly fine tune  $\Lambda_c$  to take care of the radiative instability of  $V_{\text{vac}}$ , to keep  $\langle R \rangle$  radiatively stable. The final equation (2.24) only depends on space-time averaged quantities and in this sense it is a *global* equation since it depends on the entire space-time. If we are to prevent the radiatively unstable contributions to the cosmological constant from sourcing curvature then we should have something non-trivial to say about this equation. This motivates us to consider modifying gravity globally to tackle the cosmological constant problem.

Let us now give a qualitative and complementary argument as to why we would want to modify gravity globally to tackle the cosmological constant problem by answering the following question: given a box of energy-momentum  $T_{\mu\nu}^{\text{box}}$ , how does a modification of gravity whose single job is to prevent the vacuum energy from sourcing curvature, know which part of  $T_{\mu\nu}^{\text{box}}$  is the vacuum energy? The only way that a gravity theory can know which form of energy density is due to vacuum energy is with knowledge of the future evolution. Indeed, as we have said, the vacuum energy only differs from other sources by the fact that it does not evolve. At a given time shot of the universe, the vacuum energy is indistinguishable from other all forms of energy density. How much about the future does the gravity theory need to know? Let  $T_{\mu\nu}^{\text{box}}$  configuration remains constant until asymptotically large distances and times where it begins to evolve. A modification of gravity therefore has to wait until asymptotically far in the future to know that this was just a scalar field in extreme slow roll rather than the vacuum energy. In other words, the *only* way of extracting the vacuum energy from the full energy-momentum tensor is to scan *all* of space and *all* of time. It follows that if we are to prevent *only* the vacuum energy from sourcing curvature, which we can model as an infinite wavelength source, we have to modify gravity globally. This link between the cosmological constant and causality was first discussed in [84].

This can be relaxed somewhat if one allows the modification of gravity to also affect sources with a finite wavelength. Indeed, in the original degravitation papers [84, 85] the goal was to prevent all sources with a wavelength larger than some characteristic scale  $L_{\text{critical}}$  from sourcing gravity. In the  $L_{\text{critical}} \rightarrow \infty$  limit this must reduce to a global modification as we have just argued. For example, in [84] the idea was to promote Newton's constant to a high-pass filter such that long wavelength sources  $L > L_{\text{critical}}$  coupled to gravity very weakly and short wavelength sources  $L < L_{\text{critical}}$  coupled to gravity as in GR. This was realised with the following field equations

$$M_{\rm pl}^2 (1 + \mathcal{F}(L^2 \nabla^2)) G_{\mu\nu} = T_{\mu\nu} - g_{\mu\nu} \Lambda_c$$
 (2.25)

where the filter function satisfies  $\mathcal{F}(\alpha) \to 0$  for  $\alpha \gg 1$  and  $\mathcal{F}(\alpha) \gg 1$  for  $\alpha \ll 1$ . These equations lead to asymptotically small curvatures even in the presence of a large cosmological constant. In the limit  $L_{\text{critical}} \to \infty$  the equations reduce to

$$M_{\rm pl}^2 G_{\mu\nu} - \frac{\mathcal{F}(0)M_{\rm pl}^2}{4}g_{\mu\nu}\langle R\rangle = T_{\mu\nu} - g_{\mu\nu}\Lambda_c \qquad (2.26)$$

which we can fully decompose as we did above for GR yielding

$$M_{\rm pl}^2 \left( R^{\mu}{}_{\nu} - \frac{1}{4} \delta^{\mu}{}_{\nu} R \right) = \tau^{\mu}{}_{\nu} - \frac{1}{4} \delta^{\mu}{}_{\nu} \tau^{\alpha}{}_{\alpha} \tag{2.27}$$

$$M_{\rm pl}^2(R - \langle R \rangle) = \langle \tau^{\alpha}{}_{\alpha} \rangle - \tau^{\alpha}{}_{\alpha} \tag{2.28}$$

$$(1 + \mathcal{F}(0))M_{\rm pl}^2 \langle R \rangle = 4(\Lambda_c + V_{\rm vac}) - \langle \tau^{\alpha}{}_{\alpha} \rangle.$$
(2.29)

The modification of gravity is clearly only apparent in the global equation of GR (2.24). The main downfall of this work is that the equations (2.25) are not covariant<sup>3</sup> and no action or variational principle was presented from which these equations of motion followed. This makes it difficult to analyse the viability of the model. In the next chapter where we present the sequestering proposal, we shall see how one can successfully modify the global equation of GR in a theory with an action and a variational principle.

### 2.4 Weinberg's no-go theorem

A question one can ask is if we can add new fields to the matter sector in such a way that they cancel the large vacuum energy contributions to the cosmological constant by *self-adjusting* thereby offering a dynamical solution to the problem. However, Weinberg's no-go theorem [20] states that this is impossible without simply transferring the fine tuning of the bare cosmological constant to the potential of the self-adjusting fields while maintaining mass hierarchies in the matter sector. Here we review the no-go theorem and refer the reader to [25, 29, 31] for more details.

We begin by assuming that the gravitational action is built out of the space-time metric  $g_{\mu\nu}$  and a bunch of scalar fields  $\phi_i$  employed to self-adjust and eat up the vacuum energy contributions to the cosmological constant. Here we allow the index *i* to run from 1...N and we concentrate on scalars for simplicity. More generally, Weinberg's argument is valid for self-adjusting fields of any tensor rank. The action for this theory is

$$S = \int d^4x \mathcal{L}(g_{\mu\nu}, \phi_i) \tag{2.30}$$

where in  $\mathcal{L}$  we allow for any interactions between the scalars and the metric. We assume that a solution exists which corresponds to a translationally invariant

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>In the  $L_{\text{critical}} \rightarrow \infty$  limit the equations of motion are covariant as can be seen from equation (2.26).

vacuum with  $g_{\mu\nu} = \eta_{\mu\nu}, \phi_i = \text{constant}$ . In this case the field equations are

$$\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial g^{\mu\nu}} = 0, \qquad \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial \phi_i} = 0. \tag{2.31}$$

Now for these solutions to not be fine tuned Weinberg assumes that the trace of the gravitational field equations is related to the scalar field equations of motion via

$$2g^{\mu\nu}\frac{\partial\mathcal{L}}{\partial g^{\mu\nu}} + \sum_{i} f_{i}(\phi_{i})\frac{\partial\mathcal{L}}{\partial\phi_{i}} = 0$$
(2.32)

where  $f_i(\phi_i)$  are generic functions of the scalar fields. Given that the variation of the action (2.30) is

$$\delta S = \int d^4x \left[ \frac{\delta \mathcal{L}}{\delta g^{\mu\nu}} \delta g^{\mu\nu} + \sum_i \frac{\delta \mathcal{L}}{\delta \phi_i} \delta \phi_i \right]$$
(2.33)

the relation (2.32) is guaranteed to be realised with constant fields if the action is invariant under the infinitesimal transformations  $\delta g^{\mu\nu} = 2\alpha g^{\mu\nu}$ ,  $\delta\phi_i = \alpha f_i(\phi_i)$ . Performing field redefinitions on the scalars  $\phi_i \to \tilde{\phi}_i$  allows us to write the transformations as

$$\delta g^{\mu\nu} = 2\alpha g^{\mu\nu}, \quad \delta \tilde{\phi}_1 = -\alpha, \quad \delta \tilde{\phi}_j = 0$$
 (2.34)

where j runs from 2...N. This is equivalent to a conformal transformation so the action will be invariant if it is constructed out of  $\hat{g}_{\mu\nu} = e^{2\tilde{\phi}_1}g_{\mu\nu}$  and  $\tilde{\phi}_j$ . Therefore, gauge invariance dictates that the on-shell action is

$$S = \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} e^{4\tilde{\phi}_1} V(\tilde{\phi}_j) \tag{2.35}$$

and the gravity equation  $\partial \mathcal{L} / \partial g^{\mu\nu} = 0$  yields

$$e^{4\tilde{\phi}_1}V(\tilde{\phi}_j) = 0.$$
 (2.36)

We have to therefore either take  $V(\tilde{\phi}_j) = 0$  which corresponds to fine tuning or  $e^{4\tilde{\phi}_1} \to 0$ . The physical masses in the field theory sector all scale as  $m_{\rm phys}^2 = e^{2\tilde{\phi}_1}m^2$  and therefore this second option corresponds to taking the conformal limit. Our universe is not conformally invariant so this option is ruled out by observations.

This no-go theorem is very general and attempts at solving the cosmological constant problem should have a good answer as to how it is avoided. One possibility is to break translational invariance on the background by allowing the fields to admit homogeneous solutions see e.g. [86–88]. We will come across other ways in the following chapter when we discuss the sequestering proposal.

# Chapter

# Vacuum Energy Sequestering

This chapter is based on the vacuum energy sequestering proposal introduced by Kaloper and Padilla in 2012. Here we will present the original sequestering theory [30–32] and explain how it successfully restricts the radiatively unstable contributions to the cosmological constant from sourcing classical gravity, while ensuring that all finite wavelength sources gravitate in exactly the same way as in General Relativity (GR). This feature of the theory guarantees that the proposal passes all the stringent tests of solar system gravitational physics without any form of screening mechanism. We will explain how the proposal manages to get around Weinberg's no-go theorem by enforcing global constraints on space-time averaged parameters without introducing any new local propagating degrees of freedom. We will also discuss obstacles one is likely to face when looking for high energy completions of the model. Motivated by these issues, we will then present a more recent version of the sequestering proposal [1] which is qualitatively very similar to the original one, inasmuch as Einstein's equations are only modified globally to prevent only the vacuum energy from gravitating, but crucially the theory is better placed to be realised as the low energy description of a more fundamental theory.

### 3.1 The original sequester

In the previous chapter we saw how the radiatively unstable contributions to the cosmological constant from massive standard model particles minimally coupled to gravity affect space-time. In particular, we emphasised that from a gravitational point of view one has to scan the full space-time to extract the vacuum energy from the full  $T_{\mu\nu}$ . With this in mind, we asked how could one modify gravity in such a way that *only* the vacuum energy is restricted from sourcing curvature and all other sources gravitate in the usual way. We concluded that we must modify gravity *globally* by yielding new information about the global component of Einstein's equations (2.24). The sequestering proposal does just that.

The primary difference between sequestering and GR is presence of the global variables  $\Lambda_c$  and  $\lambda$ . These are global variables in the sense that they do not vary in space-time but are varied over in the action. They do not yield any new local degrees of freedom, rather they enforce highly non-trivial global constraints. As we shall see, these global constraints are vital in the model's ability to sequester the vacuum energy.

The original sequestering theory is based on the following action [30]

$$S = \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} \left[ \frac{M_{\rm pl}^2}{2} R - \Lambda_c - \lambda^4 \mathcal{L}_m(\lambda^{-2} g^{\mu\nu}, \Phi) \right] + \sigma \left( \frac{\Lambda_c}{\lambda^4 \mu^4} \right)$$
(3.1)

where  $\sigma$  is a smooth function and  $\mu$  is a mass scale introduced on dimensional grounds. Its value is expected to be fixed phenomenologically. We emphasise that the function  $\sigma$  sits *outside* of the space-time integral and is therefore a truly global addition to the Einstein-Hilbert action. The matter fields  $\Phi$  couple minimally to the conformally rescaled metric  $\tilde{g}_{\mu\nu} = \lambda^2 g_{\mu\nu}$ , and as a consequence  $\lambda$  fixes the hierarchy between the physical masses of fields  $m_{\rm phys}$  and the bare Lagrangian mass parameters m via

$$m_{\rm phys} = \lambda m. \tag{3.2}$$

To see this consider the action of a free massive scalar field  $\phi$  coupled to  $\tilde{g}_{\mu\nu}$ 

$$S_{\phi} = \int d^4x \sqrt{-\tilde{g}} \left[ -\frac{1}{2} \tilde{g}^{\mu\nu} \partial_{\mu} \phi \partial_{\nu} \phi - \frac{m^2}{2} \phi^2 \right]$$
  
$$= \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} \left[ -\frac{\lambda^2}{2} g^{\mu\nu} \partial_{\mu} \phi \partial_{\nu} \phi - \frac{\lambda^4 m^2}{2} \phi^2 \right]$$
(3.3)

and upon canonically normalising  $\phi$  we find that the pole of the scalar propagator is at  $m_{\text{phys}} = \lambda m$ .

Throughout this chapter we will only be interested in classical gravity. As we explained in the previous chapter, we will work in a semi-classical framework and simply ask how the loop corrections to the vacuum energy affect the spacetime curvature having calculated them in the  $M_{\rm pl} \rightarrow \infty$  limit then relaxed  $M_{\rm pl}$ back to its finite value of ~ 10<sup>18</sup>GeV. This means that we only consider matter loop corrections to the cosmological constant and ignore graviton loops. In this sense all the gravitational information we require is given by the equations of motion. For the action (3.1), the full set of equations are given by varying with respect to  $g_{\mu\nu}$ ,  $\Lambda_c$  and  $\lambda$ . Variation with respect to  $g_{\mu\nu}$  yields

$$M_{\rm pl}^2 G^{\mu}{}_{\nu} = \lambda^4 \tilde{T}^{\mu}{}_{\nu} - \delta^{\mu}{}_{\nu} \Lambda_c \tag{3.4}$$

where  $\tilde{T}^{\mu}{}_{\nu}$  is the energy momentum tensor with respect to the conformally rescaled metric  $\tilde{g}_{\mu\nu}$ . If we associate the global parameter  $\Lambda_c$  with the bare cosmological constant of GR and use  $\lambda^4 \tilde{T}^{\mu}{}_{\nu} = T^{\mu}{}_{\nu}$ , then these are precisely Einstein's field equations. However, in sequestering we have more information given by varying with respect to the global variables. Variation with respect to  $\Lambda_c$  yields the first global constraint where the space-time four volume is tied to the global variables via

$$\frac{\sigma'}{\lambda^4 \mu^4} = \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} \tag{3.5}$$

where a prime denotes differentiation with respect to the argument. An immediate consequence of this equation is that if the four volume of the universe is to be infinite, we are forced to fix  $\lambda = 0$  on-shell since  $\mu^4$  and  $\sigma'$  are assumed to be finite. Note that we require a differentiable  $\sigma$  such that the variational principle is well defined. Vanishing  $\lambda$  is equivalent to the vanishing of all particle masses in the field theory sector by virtue of equation (3.2). This is not a valid description of our universe and therefore the only consistent sequestering vacua are those where the universe has a finite space-time volume and realises a future collapse. We will discuss this prediction in more detail later on. Finally, variation with respect to  $\lambda$  yields our final constraint by constraining the space-time integral of the traced energy-momentum tensor in terms of the global variables via

$$4\Lambda_c \frac{\sigma'}{\lambda^4 \mu^4} = \int d^4 x \sqrt{-g} \lambda^4 \tilde{T}^{\alpha}{}_{\alpha}.$$
(3.6)

The full sequestering system is therefore a set of twelve equations. This final equation also tells us that  $\sigma$  cannot be a pure logarithm since in this case we have

$$4 = \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} \lambda^4 \tilde{T}^{\alpha}{}_{\alpha} \tag{3.7}$$

which is simply an artificial constraint placed on the matter sector. To zoom in on the gravitational dynamics it is constructive to eliminate the global variables in favour of a clear modification of Einstein's equations. To do so, we take the ratio between equations (3.6) and (3.5) which eliminates all  $\lambda$  dependence and results in the single global constraint

$$4\Lambda_c = \langle T^{\alpha}{}_{\alpha} \rangle. \tag{3.8}$$

Therefore, the variation of the global variables has fixed the bare value of the cosmological constant in terms of the space-time average of the traced energymomentum tensor. This is very different to GR where the bare cosmological constant is a completely free parameter. Here its value is fixed on-shell and this constraint is vital to the cancellation of vacuum energy. We can use equation (3.8) to now eliminate the remaining global variable  $\Lambda_c$  from (3.4) leaving us with the final gravitational field equations

$$M_{\rm pl}^2 G^{\mu}{}_{\nu} = T^{\mu}{}_{\nu} - \frac{1}{4} \delta^{\mu}{}_{\nu} \langle T^{\alpha}{}_{\alpha} \rangle \tag{3.9}$$

or equivalently, after making the replacement  $T^{\mu}{}_{\nu} = \tau^{\mu}{}_{\nu} - \delta^{\mu}{}_{\nu}V_{\text{vac}}$  to extract the quantum corrections to the cosmological constant,

$$M_{\rm pl}^2 G^{\mu}{}_{\nu} = \tau^{\mu}{}_{\nu} - \frac{1}{4} \delta^{\mu}{}_{\nu} \langle \tau^{\alpha}{}_{\alpha} \rangle.$$
 (3.10)

The vacuum energy has dropped out from the right hand side of equation

(3.10) and is thereby restricted from sourcing curvature. The only gravitational sources are due to local excitations  $\tau^{\mu}{}_{\nu}$  which source curvature in exactly the same way as in GR. Importantly, this cancellation is effective at *all* orders in perturbation theory and whenever the Wilsonian cut-off of the effective matter action is altered. The sequestering constraint (3.8) has forced the bare cosmological constant  $\Lambda_c$  to absorb *all* quantum mechanical contributions  $V_{\text{vac}}$  to the overall cosmological constant without *any* fine tuning. The process of repeatedly fine tuning the bare cosmological constant in GR is done automatically in sequestering thanks to the global constraint.

There remains a residual cosmological constant  $\langle \tau^{\alpha}{}_{\alpha} \rangle / 4$  which is radiatively stable. It is given by the space-time average of the traced energy-momentum tensor of the local excitations. Its value can now be fixed by observations which place an upper bound of  $(meV)^4$ . However, we do not want this residual cosmological constant to be responsible for the observed acceleration of the universe since if it is dominating the matter sector today, it will continue to do so and the universe will never collapse. As we discussed above this would only be a consistent sequestering solution if the field theory sector was conformally invariant. With this in mind we ask: is  $\langle \tau^{\alpha}{}_{\alpha} \rangle / 4 < (\text{meV})^4$  consistent with the model such that the late time acceleration can be realised by another source? If we assume that the sources which contribute to  $\tau^{\alpha}{}_{\alpha}$  obey standard energy conditions, then in a universe which collapses in the future the magnitude of  $\langle \tau^{\alpha}{}_{\alpha} \rangle$  is dominated by the epoch when the universe transitions from acceleration to deceleration [31] i.e. just before the required collapse. We can therefore approximate  $\langle \tau^{\alpha}{}_{\alpha} \rangle \sim \rho_{\text{tran}} = M_{\text{pl}}^2 H_{\text{tran}}^2$  where  $\rho_{\text{tran}}$  and  $H_{\text{tran}}$  are the energy density and Hubble parameter respectively at the transition. Given that the universe is yet to reach the transition, the Hubble parameter there must be smaller than the Hubble parameter today  $H_0 \gtrsim H_{\text{tran}}$  given that we are assuming the present acceleration does not have w = -1. It follows that  $\langle \tau^{\alpha}{}_{\alpha} \rangle < (\text{meV})^4$  and the model is therefore consistent with a sub-dominant residual cosmological constant today. We refer the reader to [32] for a discussion of how the model can realise a late time collapse by employing a scalar field with a linear potential. There it is also shown how this scalar can provide acceleration prior to the collapse with the magnitude of the acceleration naturally small by virtue of a shift symmetry.

At this stage we have not really made connection with the global equation of GR (2.24) which we argued we had to focus on to tackle the cosmological constant problem. Let us now decompose the sequestering equations of motion in the same way we did for GR in equations (2.22-2.24) and make the global nature of this modification of gravity transparent. We again split the gravitational equations (3.4) into a set of traceless equations and a trace equation. We then take the difference between the trace equation and the space-time average of the trace equation. This, as expected, yields exactly the same equations as in GR but now we have the addition of the sequestering constraint. So the decomposed equations of motion for sequestering are

$$M_{\rm pl}^2 \left( R^{\mu}_{\ \nu} - \frac{1}{4} \delta^{\mu}_{\ \nu} R \right) = \tau^{\mu}_{\ \nu} - \frac{1}{4} \delta^{\mu}_{\ \nu} \tau^{\alpha}_{\ \alpha} \tag{3.11}$$

$$M_{\rm pl}^2(R - \langle R \rangle) = \langle \tau^{\alpha}{}_{\alpha} \rangle - \tau^{\alpha}{}_{\alpha} \tag{3.12}$$

$$M_{\rm pl}^2 \langle R \rangle = 4(\Lambda_c + V_{\rm vac}) - \langle \tau^{\alpha}{}_{\alpha} \rangle \tag{3.13}$$

$$4(\Lambda_c + V_{\rm vac}) = \langle \tau^{\alpha}{}_{\alpha} \rangle \tag{3.14}$$

and the final equation (3.14) forces the cancellation of the vacuum energy.

A completely equivalent way of expressing the sequestering constraint is realised if we combine equation (3.14) and (3.13) yielding

$$\langle R \rangle = 0. \tag{3.15}$$

This tells us much more about the allowed nature of sequestering vacua. Indeed, not only must the universe collapse in the future, but in addition the integral of the Ricci scalar over the full finite space-time must vanish. This further restricts the space of GR solutions which are consistent sequestering solutions.

We could have arrived at this constraint more directly by transforming the

action (3.1) into the Jordan frame. Under the rescalings

$$g_{\mu\nu} \to \hat{g}_{\mu\nu} = \lambda^2 g_{\mu\nu} \tag{3.16}$$

$$\Lambda_c \to \tilde{\Lambda}_c = \frac{\Lambda_c}{\lambda^4} \tag{3.17}$$

the action reads

$$S = \int d^4x \sqrt{-\tilde{g}} \left[ \frac{M_{\rm pl}^2}{2\lambda^2} \tilde{R} - \tilde{\Lambda}_c - \mathcal{L}_m(\tilde{g}^{\mu\nu}, \Phi) \right] + \sigma \left( \frac{\tilde{\Lambda}_c}{\mu^4} \right)$$
(3.18)

where  $\tilde{R}$  is the Ricci scalar defined with respect to  $\tilde{g}_{\mu\nu}$ . We now see that the equation of motion with respect to  $\lambda$  leads to a direct constraint on the space-time integral of the Ricci scalar forcing it to vanish

$$\frac{M_{\rm pl}^2}{\lambda^3} \int d^4x \sqrt{-\tilde{g}}\tilde{R} = 0.$$
(3.19)

Given that we require a finite volume to accommodate mass hierarchies, this is equivalent  $\langle R \rangle = 0$ . For completeness, variation with respect to  $\tilde{g}_{\mu\nu}$  and  $\tilde{\Lambda}_c$ leads respectively to

$$M_{\rm pl}^2 \tilde{G}^{\mu}{}_{\nu} = \lambda^2 \tilde{T}^{\mu}{}_{\nu} - \delta^{\mu}{}_{\nu} \lambda^2 \tilde{\Lambda}_c \tag{3.20}$$

$$\int d^4x \sqrt{-\tilde{g}} = \frac{\sigma'}{\mu^4}.$$
(3.21)

Let us briefly conclude. We have shown how by enforcing global constraints in the gravitational field equations of GR, we can arrange for the radiatively unstable loop corrections to the cosmological constant to not source classical gravity. The way the original sequestering proposal realises these constraints is to introduce global parameters in addition to the dynamical metric, and a function which relates the two which is not integrated over in the action. The mechanism then works by allowing  $\lambda$  to have knowledge of the field theory sector, by coupling to all bare mass parameters in the field theory Lagrangian with the vacuum energy scaling as  $\lambda^4$  to all orders in perturbation theory, which is then passed on to  $\Lambda_c$  via their interaction in the global function.  $\Lambda_c$ then absorbs the radiative corrections. We note that the sequestering proposal shares some similarities with Tseytlin's approach to the cosmological constant problem [89]. Tseytlin proposed that the combination of the Einstein-Hilbert action and the matter action is to be divided by the four volume of the universe such that the action is

$$S_{\text{tseytlin}} = \frac{\int d^4x \sqrt{-g} \left[\frac{M_{\text{pl}}^2}{2}R - \mathcal{L}_m(g^{\mu\nu}, \Phi)\right]}{\mu^4 \int d^4x \sqrt{-g}}$$
(3.22)

where in comparison to (3.1),  $\mu$  is a mass scale introduced on dimensional grounds. To see the main issue with Tseytlin's proposal, we follow [31] and express this theory using the global variables of sequestering, but with slightly different couplings, by the action

$$S_{\text{tseytlin}} = \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} \left[ \frac{\lambda^4 M_{\text{pl}}^2}{2} R - \Lambda_c - \lambda^4 \mathcal{L}_m(g^{\mu\nu}, \Phi) \right] + \frac{\Lambda_c}{\lambda^4 \mu^4}.$$
 (3.23)

Now variation with respect to the global variable  $\Lambda_c$  yields

$$\lambda^4 = \frac{1}{\mu^4 \int d^4x \sqrt{-g}} \tag{3.24}$$

and shows the equivalence between the two formulations. We now transform (3.23) into the Einstein frame by taking  $g^{\mu\nu} \rightarrow \lambda^4 g^{\mu\nu}$  yielding

$$S_{\text{tseytlin}} = \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} \left[ \frac{M_{\text{pl}}^2}{2} R - \frac{\Lambda_c}{\lambda^8} - \frac{1}{\lambda^4} \mathcal{L}_m(\lambda^4 g^{\mu\nu}, \Phi) \right] + \frac{\Lambda_c}{\lambda^4 \mu^4}.$$
 (3.25)

Now we see that the tree level contributions to the cosmological constant coming from the field theory sector scale as  $1/\lambda^4$  since they are packaged into the matter Lagrangian by  $\mathcal{L}_m = V_{\text{vac}}^{\text{tree}}$ . However, the loop corrections to the cosmological constant scale as  $1/\lambda^8$  after we canonically normalise the matter degrees of freedom since the physical masses are related to the mass parameters in the Lagrangian by  $m_{\text{phys}}^2 = m^2/\lambda^4$ . This means that the tree level contributions are indeed decoupled from gravity but the radiative corrections gravitate in the usual way [31]. In [89] it was also realised that Tseytlin's model suffers from large radiative corrections to the Planck mass rendering gravity much weaker than in GR. This is not the case in the sequestering proposal as long as the field theory cut off is not larger than the Planck scale [30].

The presence of global variables is what allows the theory to evade Weinberg's no-go theorem. As we discussed in the previous chapter, Weinberg's theorem is very general but it assumes all fields which are varied over in the action are functions of the space-time co-ordinates. That is not the case here. However, the global variables are somewhat unusual and it is not obvious how one should treat them quantum mechanically. Indeed, the action (3.1) does not describe a local field theory with a standard Hamiltonian and path integral, and one may worry about whether it can be UV completed. We do note, however, that allowing would be fundamental constants to vary in the action draws links with string compactifications [90] and wormhole corrections in Euclidean quantum gravity [91]. It has taught us something very important though; it is possible to make progress on the cosmological constant problem using global constraints, and these constraints can come from a variational principle. In the following section we will build on these ideas and introduce a manifestly local sequestering action [1], which still yields the important global constraints allowing for the cancellation of vacuum energy, but where all fields are functions of the space-time co-ordinates. For more information on the original sequestering proposal we refer the reader to the original sequestering papers [30-32]and [25].

### 3.2 The local sequester

To help us understand the structure of the manifestly local theory of vacuum energy sequestering, it is first instructive to discuss the gauge invariant formulation of unimodular gravity introduced by Henneaux and Teitelboim [92]. To do this, however, we must first discuss unimodular gravity and why it does not solve the cosmological constant problem. More details on unimodular gravity in the context of the cosmological constant problem can be found in [93].

Unimodular gravity is equivalent to GR, but with the constraint  $\sqrt{-g} = 1$  imposed on the dynamics i.e. the variational principle is restricted by assuming

a fixed metric determinant such that

$$\frac{\delta}{\delta g^{\mu\nu}}\sqrt{-g} = 0. \tag{3.26}$$

The resulting variation of the Einstein-Hilbert action (1.1) yields

$$M_{\rm pl}^2 \left( R_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{4} g_{\mu\nu} R \right) = T_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{4} g_{\mu\nu} T \tag{3.27}$$

which are the traceless Einstein equations. Since the bare cosmological constant enters the action as  $\sqrt{-g}\Lambda_c$ , it drops out of these equations and for the same reason the quantum corrections to the cosmological constant  $V_{\text{vac}}$  also drop out from the right hand side. One may then conclude that this solves the cosmological constant problem, see e.g. [94]. However, taking the divergence of (3.27) and using the Bianchi identity we find

$$\nabla_{\mu}(M_{\rm pl}^2 R + T) = 0 \tag{3.28}$$

or equivalently

$$M_{\rm pl}^2 R + T = 4\Lambda_c. \tag{3.29}$$

This is simply the trace of the Einstein equations and the bare cosmological constant has returned as an integration constant. If we combine equations (3.27) and (3.29) we recover the full Einstein equations

$$M_{\rm pl}^2 G_{\mu\nu} = T_{\mu\nu} - g_{\mu\nu} \Lambda_c \tag{3.30}$$

and in the process, the cosmological constant problem. The only difference between GR and unimodular gravity is that the bare cosmological constant appears as an integration constant in unimodular gravity rather than a constant term in the action as in GR. So in unimodular gravity we must *repeatedly* choose a new integration constant to deal with the radiative corrections from the field theory sector. This is no better or worse than having to repeatedly re-tune a constant piece in the action.

One can enforce the unimodular constraint at the level of the action by

virtue of a Lagrange multiplier  $\lambda(x)$  such that the unimodular action is

$$S_{\text{unimodular}} = S_{\text{GR}} + \int d^4 x \lambda(x) (\sqrt{-g} - 1). \qquad (3.31)$$

This action breaks gauge invariance, making it clear that the unimodular condition  $\sqrt{-g} = 1$  is really just a local choice of gauge. Indeed, in unimodular gravity the full diffeomorphism invariance of GR, which infinitesimally is  $\delta g_{\mu\nu} = \nabla_{\mu}\xi_{\nu} + \nabla_{\nu}\xi_{\mu}$ , is only retained with  $\nabla_{\mu}\xi^{\mu} = 0$  which corresponds to transverse diffeomorphisms. For example, consider the FLRW metric of cosmology with flat spatial slices

$$ds^{2} = -dt^{2} + a(t)^{2}(dx^{2} + dy^{2} + dz^{2})$$
(3.32)

where a(t) is the scale factor. In cosmology we often makes use of the gauge symmetry of GR by rescaling the time coordinate  $dt \rightarrow a(t)dt$  such that the FLRW metric is conformally related to the Minkowski metric  $g_{\mu\nu} = a(t)^2 \eta_{\mu\nu}$ . However, there was nothing stopping us from performing a different rescaling  $dt \rightarrow a(t)^{-3}dt$  such that the metric reads

$$ds^{2} = -a(t)^{-6}dt^{2} + a(t)^{2}(dx^{2} + dy^{2} + dz^{2})$$
(3.33)

which satisfies  $\sqrt{-g} = 1$ . In a theory with full diffeomorphsim invariance we can always choose a co-ordinate system which satisfies the unimodular constraint, at least locally. As we have discussed in detail, this gauge symmetry of GR is merely a redundancy which we make use of to write down a Lorentz invariant theory of interacting massless spin-2 particles. In this sense fixing a gauge cannot tell us anything about physics and certainly not about the cosmological constant problem.

We now come to the Henneaux and Teitelboim gauge invariant formulation of unimodular gravity [92] which makes the tiny difference between GR and unimodular gravity manifest. To enforce the unimodular constraint in a gauge invariant way, one can use a *different measure* in the gravitational action. The standard covariant four volume is a 4-form and can be expressed as

$$\int d^4x \sqrt{-g} = \frac{1}{4!} \int \sqrt{-g} \epsilon_{\mu\nu\lambda\rho} dx^{\mu} dx^{\nu} dx^{\lambda} dx^{\rho}$$
(3.34)

where  $\epsilon_{\mu\nu\lambda\rho}$  is the Levi-Civita symbol which transforms as a tensor density under a change of co-ordinates. But  $\sqrt{-g}\epsilon_{\mu\nu\lambda\rho}$  is by no means a unique 4-form. Any 4-form  $F_{\mu\nu\lambda\rho}$  can be used instead without breaking diffeomorphism invariance. Henneaux and Teitelboim exploited this fact and expressed unimodular gravity as

$$S = \frac{M_{\rm pl}^2}{2} \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} R - \int \Lambda_c(x) \left(\sqrt{-g} d^4x - \frac{1}{4!} F_{\mu\nu\lambda\rho} dx^\mu dx^\nu dx^\lambda dx^\rho\right)$$
(3.35)

where we define the 4-form  $F_{\mu\nu\lambda\rho}$  as the exterior derivative of a 3-form  $A_{\nu\lambda\rho}$ via

$$F_{\mu\nu\lambda\rho} = 4\partial_{[\mu}A_{\nu\lambda\rho]}.$$
(3.36)

It is important to realise that even though this theory maintains the full diffeomorphism invariance,  $F_{\mu\nu\lambda\rho}$  is totally independent of the metric off-shell. It has the desired transformation properties thanks to the anti-symmetrisation over all its indices. It is therefore absent in the gravitational field equations. Variation with respect to  $\Lambda_c(x)$  leads to a constraint on the metric determinant and variation with respect to the 3-form leads to  $\partial_{\mu}\Lambda_c(x) = 0$  and therefore fixes the Lagrange multiplier to be constant on-shell. The integration constant found by solving this equation is precisely the bare cosmological constant we add to the action in GR. In fact, we can still express a gauge invariant formulation of unimodular gravity with a slightly different  $\Lambda_c(x)$  dependence in the  $F_{\mu\nu\lambda\rho}$  sector by

$$S = \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} \left[ \frac{M_{\rm pl}^2}{2} R - \Lambda_c(x) \right] + \frac{1}{4!} \int \sigma \left( \frac{\Lambda_c(x)}{\mu^4} \right) F_{\mu\nu\lambda\rho} dx^{\mu} dx^{\nu} dx^{\lambda} dx^{\rho}$$
(3.37)

where  $\mu$  has dimensions of mass and is introduced on dimensional grounds, and  $\sigma$  is an arbitrary smooth function. In line with our previous discussions of global constraints in sequestering, let us further explain how unimodular gravity fails to solve the cosmological constant problem by now coupling matter fields to the metric in the minimal way and studying the equations of motion. Variation with respect to  $g^{\mu\nu}$  yields

$$M_{\rm pl}^2 G^{\mu}{}_{\nu} = T^{\mu}{}_{\nu} - \delta^{\mu}{}_{\nu}\Lambda_c(x) \tag{3.38}$$

which are the Einstein equations with a dynamical 'cosmological constant'. As we discussed above, variation with respect to  $\Lambda_c(x)$  yields a constraint on the metric determinant

$$\frac{\sigma'}{\mu^4} F_{\mu\nu\lambda\rho} = \sqrt{-g} \epsilon_{\mu\nu\lambda\rho} \tag{3.39}$$

and finally, variation with respect to  $A_{\nu\lambda\rho}$  leads to

$$\frac{\sigma'}{\mu^4} \partial_\mu \Lambda_c(x) = 0 \tag{3.40}$$

which fixes  $\Lambda_c$  to be constant on-shell. If we plug this solution into the gravity equations (3.38) then on-shell the system reduces to GR with the addition of the constraint (3.39). With  $\Lambda_c$  fixed to be constant, this constraint is really understood as a constraint on the space-time volume since we can readily integrate the 4-form field strength without introducing any dependence on the metric. This yields

$$\frac{1}{4!}\frac{\sigma'}{\mu^4}\int F = \int d^4x\sqrt{-g}.$$
(3.41)

Now, unlike the original sequestering proposal this constraint does not provide us with any information about  $\langle R \rangle$  or  $\langle T^{\alpha}{}_{\alpha} \rangle$ . In other words, it does not tell us anything about the global equation of GR (2.24) which we argued was an important feature of a theory whose aim is to tackle the cosmological constant problem. To see this a little clearer let us decompose these equations of motion in the same way we have done before for GR and for the original sequestering theory. The result is

$$M_{\rm pl}^2 \left( R^{\mu}{}_{\nu} - \frac{1}{4} \delta^{\mu}{}_{\nu} R \right) = \tau^{\mu}{}_{\nu} - \frac{1}{4} \delta^{\mu}{}_{\nu} \tau^{\alpha}{}_{\alpha} \tag{3.42}$$

$$M_{\rm pl}^2(R - \langle R \rangle) = \langle \tau^{\alpha}{}_{\alpha} \rangle - \tau^{\alpha}{}_{\alpha} \tag{3.43}$$

$$M_{\rm pl}^2 \langle R \rangle = 4(\Lambda_c + V_{\rm vac}) - \langle \tau^{\alpha}{}_{\alpha} \rangle \tag{3.44}$$

$$\star F_4 - \langle \star F_4 \rangle = 0, \quad \langle \star F_4 \rangle = \frac{\mu^4}{\sigma'} \tag{3.45}$$

where we have used  $T^{\mu}{}_{\nu} = \tau^{\mu}{}_{\nu} - \delta^{\mu}{}_{\nu}V_{\text{vac}}$  and  $\star$  denotes the Hodge dual of a form which on a *n* dimensional manifold maps a *p*-form to a (n-p)-form via

$$(\star F)_{\mu_1...\mu_{n-p}} = \frac{1}{p!} \tilde{\epsilon}^{\nu_1...\nu_p}{}_{\mu_1...\mu_{n-p}} F_{\nu_1...\nu_p}$$
(3.46)

where  $\tilde{\epsilon}^{\nu_1 \dots \nu_p}{}_{\mu_1 \dots \mu_{n-p}}$  is the Levi Civita *tensor* related to the Levi Civita symbol by  $\tilde{\epsilon}_{\mu_1 \dots \mu_n} = \sqrt{-g} \epsilon_{\mu_1 \dots \mu_n}$ . For example, we have

$$\star F_4 = \frac{1}{4!} \frac{1}{\sqrt{-g}} \epsilon^{\mu\nu\lambda\rho} F_{\mu\nu\lambda\rho}. \tag{3.47}$$

With the equations of motion in this form we see that the unimodular gravity constraint is not enough to help with the cosmological constant problem since the constraint equations (3.45) completely decouple from the decomposed GR equations which are equivalent to (3.42-3.44). We are still required to repeatedly re-tune  $\Lambda_c$  to cope with the loop corrections in  $V_{\text{vac}}$ .

What have we learned from this? We have seen how one of the global parameters of the original sequestering theory, namely  $\Lambda_c$ , can arise as an integration constant from a local equation of motion, and we have seen how we can enforce global constraints from a gravity theory constructed from local fields by introducing a new covariant measure. However, we have also seen that in the context of unimodular gravity this is not enough to tackle the cosmological constant problem. In the following, we will show how this can be remedied to yield qualitatively similar equations of motion to the original sequestering theory and therefore have something non-trivial to say about the cosmological constant problem. Let us begin by revisiting the original sequestering theory in the Jordan frame which we remind the reader is described by the following action

$$S = \int d^4x \sqrt{-\tilde{g}} \left[ \frac{M_{\rm pl}^2}{2\lambda^2} \tilde{R} - \tilde{\Lambda}_c - \mathcal{L}_m(\tilde{g}^{\mu\nu}, \Phi) \right] + \sigma \left( \frac{\tilde{\Lambda}_c}{\mu^4} \right)$$
(3.48)

where the variation with respect to the global parameter  $\lambda$  gave us the desired constraint on the space-time integral of the Ricci scalar. Our aim is to now realise a similar constraint but in a theory with only local fields. We have just seen in our discussion of unimodular gravity how the role of  $\tilde{\Lambda}_c$  can be played by a scalar field which is fixed to be constant on-shell by virtue of its coupling to an exact 3-form. Since  $\Lambda_c$  was able to fluctuate off-shell, its variation yielded a global constant. Let us now do a similar thing for the remaining global parameter by promoting  $M_{\rm pl}^2/\lambda^2$  to a scalar field  $\kappa^2(x)$  which we want to be constant on-shell but whose variation allows us to realise a constraint on the space-time average of the Ricci scalar. To do so we introduce a second 4-form, in addition to the one used in the gauge invariant form of unimodular gravity, which couples to  $\kappa^2(x)$ , but is independent of the metric off-shell without breaking gauge invariance. All these properties are realised by the following action [1]

$$S = \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} \left[ \frac{\kappa^2(x)}{2} R - \Lambda_c(x) - \mathcal{L}_m(g^{\mu\nu}, \Phi) \right] + \frac{1}{4!} \int dx^{\mu} dx^{\nu} dx^{\lambda} dx^{\rho} \left[ \sigma \left( \frac{\Lambda_c(x)}{\mu^4} \right) F_{\mu\nu\lambda\rho} + \hat{\sigma} \left( \frac{\kappa^2(x)}{M_{\rm pl}^2} \right) \hat{F}_{\mu\nu\lambda\rho} \right]$$
(3.49)

where  $\sigma$  and  $\hat{\sigma}$  are independent smooth functions, both 4-forms are the exterior derivative of a 3-form, and  $\mu \leq M_{\rm pl}$  are the field theory and gravitational cutoffs respectively. Given our discussion for the original version of sequestering around equation (3.7), again  $\sigma$  cannot be a logarithm. This is our manifestly local version of vacuum energy sequestering.

In comparison to all of our previous studies, we remind the reader that in the following we will work in a semi-classical framework where gravity simply probes the vacuum energy contributions to the cosmological constant, and in the absence of fine tuning we ask how much they affect space-time. Here we have five fields with which we vary with respect to. Initially, variation with respect to  $g^{\mu\nu}$  yields

$$\kappa^{2}(x)G^{\mu}{}_{\nu} = (\nabla^{\mu}\nabla_{\nu} - \delta^{\mu}{}_{\nu}\nabla^{2})\kappa^{2}(x) + T^{\mu}{}_{\nu} - \delta^{\mu}{}_{\nu}\Lambda_{c}(x).$$
(3.50)

Variation with respect to the two scalars  $\Lambda_c(x)$  and  $\kappa^2(x)$  yields respectively

$$\frac{\sigma'}{\mu^4} F_{\mu\nu\lambda\rho} = \sqrt{-g} \epsilon_{\mu\nu\lambda\rho} \tag{3.51}$$

$$\frac{\hat{\sigma}'}{M_{\rm pl}^2}\hat{F}_{\mu\nu\lambda\rho} = -\frac{1}{2}\sqrt{-g}R\epsilon_{\mu\nu\lambda\rho} \tag{3.52}$$

which tells us that neither  $\sigma$  nor  $\hat{\sigma}$  can be linear functions. In this case the 4-forms would be completely specified by the geometry. Finally, variation with respect to the 3-forms fixes the scalars to be constant on-shell

$$\frac{\sigma'}{\mu^4}\partial_\mu\Lambda_c(x) = 0 \tag{3.53}$$

$$\frac{\hat{\sigma}'}{M_{\rm pl}^2} \partial_\mu \kappa^2(x) = 0. \tag{3.54}$$

This ensures that there are no new long range gravitational forces in addition to GR and means that we do not rely on any screening mechanisms to conform with local tests of gravity. Indeed, gravity is again only modified globally since these equations describe GR with the addition of global constraints which can be understood as a constraint on  $\langle R \rangle$ , in comparison to the original sequestering model, and in contrast to unimodular gravity. To see this we now work with constant scalars, denoting these integration constants simply as  $\Lambda_c$  and  $\kappa^2$ , such that the gravity equations (3.50) reduce to

$$\kappa^2 G^{\mu}{}_{\nu} = T^{\mu}{}_{\nu} - \delta^{\mu}{}_{\nu}\Lambda_c \tag{3.55}$$

where  $\kappa \sim 10^{18} \text{GeV}$  is the bare Planck mass. Note that having fixed  $\kappa$  to match observations, such that there is a hierarchy between it and the matter sector scales, it will be radiatively stable with respect to matter loops as long as

 $\mu \lesssim M_{\rm pl}$ . Now, we integrate the constraints (3.51), (3.52) yielding respectively

$$\frac{1}{4!}\frac{\sigma'}{\mu^4}\int F = \int d^4x\sqrt{-g} \tag{3.56}$$

$$\frac{1}{4!}\frac{\hat{\sigma}'}{M_{\rm pl}^2}\int \hat{F} = -\frac{1}{2}\int d^4x \sqrt{-g}R.$$
(3.57)

If we take the ratio of the two we find

$$\kappa^2 \langle R \rangle = -2 \frac{\hat{\sigma}'}{\sigma'} \frac{\mu^4 \kappa^2}{M_{\rm pl}^2} \frac{\int \hat{F}}{\int F}$$
(3.58)

and so the space-time average of the Ricci scalar is fixed in terms of the ratio between a pair of 4-form fluxes. In the interest of clarity, in what follows we will simply denote this constraint as  $\kappa^2 \langle R \rangle = 4\Delta\Lambda$  with  $\Delta\Lambda$  defined appropriately by (3.58). To see the effect of this constraint let us go back to the gravity equations and extract the  $\langle R \rangle$  dependence by taking the trace and space-time average yielding

$$4\Lambda_c = \langle T^{\alpha}{}_{\alpha} \rangle + \kappa^2 \langle R \rangle \tag{3.59}$$

where we have used  $\Lambda_c = \langle \Lambda_c \rangle$ ,  $\kappa^2 = \langle \kappa^2 \rangle$ . We can now use the constraint (3.58) to eliminate  $\langle R \rangle$  from equation (3.59) in favour of the integrated 4-forms, packaged inside  $\Delta \Lambda$ , followed by eliminating  $\Lambda_c$  from the gravity equations. This results in the following gravitational field equations

$$\kappa^2 G^{\mu}{}_{\nu} = T^{\mu}{}_{\nu} - \frac{1}{4} \delta^{\mu}{}_{\nu} \langle T^{\alpha}{}_{\alpha} \rangle - \delta^{\mu}{}_{\nu} \Delta \Lambda \tag{3.60}$$

which are very similar to the final gravitational equations of the original sequestering model. If we make the substitution  $T^{\mu}{}_{\nu} = \tau^{\mu}{}_{\nu} - \delta^{\mu}{}_{\nu}V_{\text{vac}}$  to extract the radiatively unstable contributions to the cosmological constant, we see that they drop out from the right hand side of these equations and are restricted from souring curvature. The only gravitational sources are  $\tau^{\mu}{}_{\nu} - \frac{1}{4}\delta^{\mu}{}_{\nu}\langle\tau^{\alpha}{}_{\alpha}\rangle - \delta^{\mu}{}_{\nu}\Delta\Lambda$ and again all finite wavelength sources gravitate as in GR. It is only the infinite wavelength vacuum energy which is decoupled.

Relative to the original sequestering theory, the local version has an added contribution to the residual cosmological constant, namely,  $\Delta\Lambda$  which accompanies  $\langle \tau^{\alpha}{}_{\alpha} \rangle/4$ . Both of these contributions are radiatively stable and can therefore be fixed by observations. However, unlike in the original sequestering theory, this residual cosmological constant can be responsible for the observed late time acceleration of the universe since here we do not require a finite space-time volume to accommodate non-zero mass scales in the field theory sector. If we allow this residual cosmological constant to drive the acceleration then the space-time volume will be infinite. In this case the only contribution is  $\Delta\Lambda$  since in an infinite universe with matter fields obeying null energy conditions we have  $\langle \tau^{\alpha}{}_{\alpha} \rangle \to 0$  because the denominator of the spacetime average diverges, while the numerator dilutes as the universe evolves. Observations then tell us that  $\Delta \Lambda \sim (\text{meV})^4$ . Radiative stability of  $\Delta \Lambda$  follows from the fact that it is constructed out of the ratio of two 4-form fluxes and the ratio between the normalised derivatives of the functions  $\sigma$  and  $\hat{\sigma}$ . The 4-form integrals are infrared quantities and therefore insensitive to changes in the field theory cut-off.  $\sigma$  and  $\hat{\sigma}$  will respond to matter loops by virtue of their respective  $\Lambda_c$  and  $\kappa$  dependence, but if they are sufficiently smooth then these corrections can only ever be  $\mathcal{O}(1)$  since they enter via  $\Lambda_c/\mu^4$  and  $\kappa^2/M_{\rm pl}^2$ .

For a final time, let us now decompose the equations of motion as we have done previously to emphasise the importance of the global constraints. For the local theory of sequestering we find

$$\kappa^{2} \left( R^{\mu}{}_{\nu} - \frac{1}{4} \delta^{\mu}{}_{\nu} R \right) = \tau^{\mu}{}_{\nu} - \frac{1}{4} \delta^{\mu}{}_{\nu} \tau^{\alpha}{}_{\alpha}$$
(3.61)

$$\kappa^2(R - \langle R \rangle) = \langle \tau^{\alpha}{}_{\alpha} \rangle - \tau^{\alpha}{}_{\alpha} \tag{3.62}$$

$$\kappa^2 \langle R \rangle + \langle \tau^{\alpha}{}_{\alpha} \rangle = 4(\Lambda_c + V_{\rm vac}) \tag{3.63}$$

$$\star F_4 - \langle \star F_4 \rangle = 0, \quad \langle \star F_4 \rangle = \frac{\mu^4}{\sigma'}$$
 (3.64)

$$\star \hat{F}_4 - \langle \star \hat{F}_4 \rangle = \frac{M_{\rm pl}^2}{2\kappa^2 \hat{\sigma}'} (\tau^{\alpha}{}_{\alpha} - \langle \tau^{\alpha}{}_{\alpha} \rangle) \tag{3.65}$$

$$\Delta\Lambda = \frac{1}{4}\kappa^2 \langle R \rangle = -\frac{\kappa^2 \hat{\sigma}'}{2M_{\rm pl}^2} \langle \star \hat{F}_4 \rangle \tag{3.66}$$

where we have presented these equations in three sets. The first set (3.61 -3.63) are precisely the equations we found in GR and reinforce that locally the theories are equivalent. The next equations, (3.64), are the constraints we found in unimodular gravity. It is not surprising that these equations appear here since if we set  $\hat{\sigma} = 0$  in the local sequestering action (7.3) we recover the gauge invariant formulation of unimodular gravity. Finally, the very important additions to GR, and unimodular gravity, are given by equations (3.65, 3.66)and as we desired yields new information about the space-time average of the Ricci scalar. Equation (3.65) shows how the hatted 4-form is radiatively stable. The vacuum energy contributions drop out from the right hand side of this equation and loop corrections only affect  $\kappa^2 \sigma'/M_{\rm pl}^2$  which as we discussed above can only be  $\mathcal{O}(1)$ . In turn, equation (3.66) shows that the space-time average of the Ricci scalar is now rendered radiatively stable since its value is fixed by the radiatively stable quantity  $\Delta \Lambda$ . This means that in equation (3.63), since the left hand side is now radiatively stable,  $\Lambda_c$  has to adjust to absorb the loop corrections coming from  $V_{\rm vac}$ . Let us emphasise here that even though in a finite space-time volume  $\langle \tau^{\alpha}{}_{\alpha} \rangle$  does not vanish, this equation does not lead to the cancellation of any local sources since  $\langle \tau^{\alpha}{}_{\alpha} \rangle$  is a global quantity and therefore not observable in a casual manner, consistent with our previous statements that the model is locally equivalent to GR. In comparison to the original sequestering theory, the dynamics has constrained the spacetime average of the Ricci scalar in such a way that the bare cosmological constant is forced to cancel the large loop corrections without any fine tuning. We note that it is the presence of the 4-forms which allows the theory to evade Weinberg's no-go theorem. This is because they offer non-gravitating measures which enter the action in a diffeomorphism invariant manner without coupling to the metric off-shell. This enables us to realise the global constraints.

Finally, let us comment on the ability to have a well defined Cauchy problem with a standard 3 + 1 decomposition in both sequestering models. In the original sequestering theory, a solution to Einstein's equations is also a solution to the sequestering equations if the space-time average of the Ricci scalar vanishes on the solution. In practice this means that GR solutions will only exist for certain initial conditions and choices in parameter space. For example, in GR coupled to a scalar field with a linear potential, a cosmological solution with a future collapse is generic due to the instability of the scalar field. However, only a subclass of these theories will also satisfy the sequestering constraint. So to find sequestering solutions one would need to scan a range of initial conditions. The same is true for the local sequestering model, however in this case the current form of the local theory does not yield a fixed numerical value for the space-time average of the Ricci scalar. Knowledge of this would require a deeper understanding of the origin of the four-forms and the associated fluxes with the possibility that the ratio of the fluxes is fixed by physics in the UV.

### 3.3 Discussion

Following on from our discussion of the cosmological constant problem and the global nature of the vacuum energy in chapter 2, in this chapter we have shown how the radiatively unstable matter loop corrections<sup>1</sup> to the overall cosmological constant can be decoupled from gravity by enforcing global constraints on the dynamics of GR. We initially showed how this can be achieved through global variables whose variation forces the bare cosmological constant to absorb the loop corrections without fine tuning. We then saw how similar constraints can be realised in a manifestly local theory which has a standard Hamiltonian and path integral. This theory again only decouples infinite wavelength sources and therefore offers an alternative to GR only differing in the global structure of classical solutions. In chapter 7 we will discuss future work and other applications of the interactions used here to sequester the matter loop contributions to the vacuum energy.

 $<sup>^{1}</sup>$ As we discussed in the main body of this chapter, and the previous chapter, here we are ignoring graviton loops.

Chapter 4

## Sequestering and Phase Transitions

Until now we have been concentrating on the most pressing aspect of the cosmological constant which is its radiative instability. However, another well defined issue with the cosmological constant is how it is influenced by phase transitions [95–98]. If the field theory sector undergoes a phase transition then the vacuum energy can change by  $\mathcal{O}(\mathcal{M}^4)$  where  $\mathcal{M}$  is the energy scale of the transition. For standard model phase transitions, e.g. the confining phase transition in QCD, this change in the vacuum energy is vastly larger than the observed cosmological constant. For QCD we expect the jump in vacuum energy to be ~  $\mathcal{O}(\text{GeV}^4)$  which is 48 orders of magnitude too large (see e.g. [99]). This means that any tuning or cancellation of the vacuum energy before the transition would be ruined after. There are also similar problems due to electroweak phase transitions, GUT scale phase transitions, etc. In this chapter our aim is to study the effects of an early universe phase transition on the late time curvature in the local sequestering theory. We will first recover the results presented in [30, 31] where it is argued that at late times an early universe phase transition has little impact on the space-time curvature, followed by a more rigorous analysis involving the nucleation and growth of bubbles of true vacuum. We will calculate the tunnelling rates between maximally symmetric vacua in the local sequestering theory and determine how sensitive the curvature of the universe after a phase transition is to the jump in vacuum energy. We do so following [2].

### 4.1 A minimal approach

Following [30,31], we concentrate on a single phase transition and assume that it occurs instantaneously over space-like surfaces. We model it by the simple step function

$$V = V_1 (1 - \Theta(t - t_{\rm PT})) + V_2 \Theta(t - t_{\rm PT})$$
(4.1)

where  $V_1$  is the vacuum energy before the phase transition which occurs at  $t_{\text{PT}}$ , and  $V_2$  is the vacuum energy after the phase transition with  $V_1 > V_2$ . In this case, according to the gravitational field equations of the original sequestering theory (3.10), space-time curvature is sourced by

$$\tau^{\mu}{}_{\nu} - \frac{1}{4} \delta^{\mu}{}_{\nu} \langle \tau^{\alpha}{}_{\alpha} \rangle = -\delta^{\mu}{}_{\nu} (V - \langle V \rangle) \tag{4.2}$$

since  $\tau^{\mu}{}_{\nu} = -\delta^{\mu}{}_{\nu}V$ . As expected, given the global nature of the equations of motion, the size of the effective cosmological constant at a given time is sensitive to the vacuum energy both before and after the phase transition through its dependence on

$$\langle V \rangle = \frac{V_1 \int_{t_i}^{t_{\rm PT}} dt a^3}{\int_{t_i}^{t_f} dt a^3} + \frac{V_2 \int_{t_{\rm PT}}^{t_f} dt a^3}{\int_{t_i}^{t_f} dt a^3}$$
(4.3)

where  $t_i$  and  $t_f$  are the time at the big bang and the big crunch respectively, and we are working on a cosmological background where  $\sqrt{-g} = a^3$  with a = a(t)the scale factor. It follows that before the phase transition we have

$$\tau^{\mu}{}_{\nu} - \frac{1}{4} \delta^{\mu}{}_{\nu} \langle \tau^{\alpha}{}_{\alpha} \rangle = -\delta^{\mu}{}_{\nu} |\Delta V| (1 - \Omega_{\rm PT})$$

$$\tag{4.4}$$

where  $\Delta V = V_2 - V_1$  is the jump in vacuum energy induced by the transition and we have defined

$$\Omega_{\rm PT} = \frac{\int_{t_i}^{t_{\rm PT}} dta^3}{\int_{t_i}^{t_f} dta^3}.$$
(4.5)

While after the phase transition we have

$$\tau^{\mu}{}_{\nu} - \frac{1}{4} \delta^{\mu}{}_{\nu} \langle \tau^{\alpha}{}_{\alpha} \rangle = \delta^{\mu}{}_{\nu} |\Delta V| \Omega_{\rm PT}.$$
(4.6)

In the original sequestering theory the full space-time integral is dominated by the period where the evolution of the universe changes from expansion to contraction  $[31]^1$  and we can therefore approximate

$$\Omega_{\rm PT} \sim \left(\frac{a_{\rm PT}}{a_{\rm tran}}\right)^3 \frac{H_{\rm tran}}{H_{\rm PT}}.$$
(4.7)

Since we are interested in standard model phase transitions which occurred prior to the present acceleration and therefore prior to the turn around of the scale factor, we have  $\Omega_{\rm PT} \ll 1$ . The jump in vacuum energy is set by the energy scale of the transition with  $|\Delta V| \sim M_{\rm pl}^2 H_{\rm PT}^2$  and therefore the spacetime curvature after the transition is sourced by

$$\delta^{\mu}{}_{\nu}|\Delta V|\Omega_{\rm PT} \sim \rho_{\rm tran} \left(\frac{a_{\rm PT}^3}{a_{\rm tran}^3} \frac{H_{\rm PT}}{H_{\rm tran}}\right) \lesssim \rho_{\rm tran} \lesssim ({\rm meV})^4.$$
 (4.8)

In conclusion, the effects of standard model phase transitions are suppressed at late times and only offer a small contribution to the effective cosmological constant. For the local sequestering theory, (4.2) is accompanied by  $\Delta\Lambda$  which as we showed in the previous section is another radiatively stable contribution to the residual cosmological constant. It's value is insensitive to a phase transition and is therefore the same before and after the transition. It follows that the above calculation also holds for the local version of sequestering. However, there we have no reason to demand a universe with a future collapse so there is not necessarily a transition from acceleration to deceleration. In this case we still have  $\Omega_{\rm PT} \ll 1$  for early universe phase transitions such that the curvature after the phase transition is insensitive to the jump in the vacuum energy by equation (4.6). The reason why this works out so nicely is simply because the space-time volumes are dominated by the space-time regions after the transition since these occurred in the early universe. So at late times the volume suppression becomes very effective. For more details we refer the reader to [25, 31].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>We recall that as explained in chapter 3, the only consistent solutions in the original sequestering theory have a future collapse.

### 4.2 False vacuum decay

In this section we will again consider the effects of a phase transition but we do so in the context of bubble nucleation. This will allow us to calculate the tunnelling rates between maximally symmetric vacua in the local sequestering theory (7.3). To do so, let us first be more rigorous about the variational principle since in the presence of a boundary we must include extra terms, like the Gibbons-Hawking term in General Relativity (GR) [100], to ensure that it is well defined. For the two 3-forms we simply impose Dirichlet boundary conditions but for the metric and the scalars the situation is slightly more subtle. As in GR, in addition to the terms in (7.3) we add to the sequestering action the boundary term

$$\int d^3x \sqrt{h}\kappa^2(x) K \tag{4.9}$$

where  $K = h^{ij} K_{ij}$  is the trace of the extrinsic curvature on the boundary  $K_{ij}$ , and  $h_{ij}$  is the induced metric. Given that  $\kappa^2(x)$  is fixed to be constant on-shell by the bulk equations of motion, variation of the full sequestering action with (4.9) included yields the following boundary terms

$$\frac{1}{2}\int d^3x\sqrt{h}\left[-\kappa^2(K^{ij}-Kh^{ij})\right]\delta h_{ij} + \int d^3x\sqrt{h}K\delta\kappa^2.$$
(4.10)

Usually one would now impose Dirichlet boundary conditions on both the metric and the scalar such that the action is stationary under this variation. However, Dirichlet boundary conditions on the scalar  $\kappa^2$  (and on the other scalar  $\Lambda$ ) would interfere with the crucial sequestering global constraints which come from the bulk equations of motion. Instead we impose Neumann boundary conditions on both scalars which ensures that there is no momentum loss across the boundary<sup>2</sup>, and the following boundary condition on the metric

$$\delta h_{ij} = -\frac{\delta \kappa^2}{\kappa^2} h_{ij} \tag{4.11}$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>This is somewhat trivial since it is guaranteed by the bulk equations of motion.

which although looks somewhat unusual at first is equivalent to imposing Dirichlet boundary conditions on the Einstein frame metric. This now ensures that the variational principle is well defined and puts us in a position where we can investigate tunnelling between maximally symmetric vacua in the local sequestering theory.

### 4.2.1 Materialisation of the bubble

As for the simplified calculation above, we specialise to a matter sector with two vacua with differing vacuum energies. In line with our previous studies we will work in a semi-classical limit where gravity is treated classically yet we allow the matter sector to undergo quantum tunnelling between the two vacua. In this semi-classical picture the vacuum of highest energy density is unstable due to barrier penetration i.e. it is a false vacuum. In the absence of gravity this process in field theory and the corresponding tunnelling rates were described in [101,102] by Coleman and, Callan and Coleman respectively. Gravitational effects were then included in [103] by Coleman and de Luccia. In all cases, to calculate the tunnelling rates between the two vacua one must calculate the bounce which is a solution of the Euclidean field equations which interpolates between the two vacua. In the following we must therefore make use of Euclidean signature by virtue of the Wick rotation

$$t \to -it_E, \qquad S \to iS_E \tag{4.12}$$

from Lorentzian signature. We will also work in the thin wall limit [103] where we assume that the difference in vacuum energy in the two vacua is small compared to the height of the barrier which separates them.

#### Set-up and Euclidean solutions

It has been shown in [104, 105] that the tunnelling rates are dominated by Euclidean configurations with maximal symmetries i.e. ones which are O(4) invariant. Therefore our bounce geometry throughout will be of the form [103]

$$ds^{2} = dr^{2} + \rho^{2}(r)d\chi^{2}$$
(4.13)

where  $d\chi^2 = \gamma_{ij} dx^i dx^j$  is the metric of a unit 3-sphere in Euclidean signature. This ensures that in what follows all fields will only be a function of the radial co-ordinate r. Following [103], we set up a co-ordinate system with the wall separating the two vacua at r = 0, the exterior of a bubble at r > 0, and the interior of a bubble at r < 0. We denote the exterior and interior of a bubble as  $\mathcal{M}_+$  and  $\mathcal{M}_-$  respectively and in what follows we shall refer to this co-ordinate system as 'Coleman's co-ordinates'. We model the wall as a delta function weighted by its tension  $\sigma_w$  and the global vacuum energy as a step function with contributions

$$V(r) = \begin{cases} V_{+} & r > 0 \\ V_{-} & r < 0. \end{cases}$$
(4.14)

With the rotational symmetry of our system the 3-forms take the form

$$A_{ijk} = A(r)\sqrt{\gamma}\epsilon_{ijk} \tag{4.15}$$

$$\hat{A}_{ijk} = \hat{A}(r)\sqrt{\gamma}\epsilon_{ijk} \tag{4.16}$$

and by virtue of the 3-form equations of motion given by (3.53) and (3.54), the scalars  $\Lambda$  and  $\kappa^2$  are constant. The remaining field equations coming from (3.50),(3.51) and (3.52) reduce to

$$3\kappa^{2}\left(\frac{\rho'^{2}}{\rho^{2}} - \frac{1}{\rho^{2}}\right) = -(\Lambda_{c} + V(r))$$
(4.17)

$$\kappa^{2} \left( \frac{\rho'^{2}}{\rho^{2}} - \frac{1}{\rho^{2}} + 2\frac{\rho''}{\rho} \right) = -(\Lambda_{c} + V(r) + \sigma_{w}\delta(r))$$
(4.18)

$$\frac{\sigma'}{\mu^4} A'(r) = \rho^3$$
 (4.19)

$$\frac{\hat{\sigma}'}{M_{\rm pl}^2} \hat{A}'(r) = -3 \left( \frac{1}{\rho^2} - \frac{{\rho'}^2}{\rho^2} - \frac{{\rho''}}{\rho} \right) \rho^3 \tag{4.20}$$

where we have used the following expression for the Ricci scalar calculated on the O(4) invariant metric

$$R = 6 \left[ \frac{1}{\rho^2} - \left( \frac{\rho'}{\rho} \right)^2 - \frac{\rho''}{\rho} \right].$$
(4.21)

Ignoring the bubble wall i.e. far away from r = 0, the geometry is dictated by the following field equation

$$\rho^{\prime 2} = 1 - q^2 \rho^2 \tag{4.22}$$

where we have defined the local vacuum curvature as

$$q^2 = \frac{\Lambda_c + V}{3\kappa^2}.\tag{4.23}$$

As is the case in GR, the local cosmological constant receives a classical contribution  $\Lambda_c$  which in sequestering is simply an integration constant, and the field theory contribution V. Equation (4.22) can be easily solved to give

$$\rho(r) = \frac{1}{q} \sin q(r_0 + \epsilon r) \tag{4.24}$$

where  $\epsilon = \pm 1$  and  $r_0$  is a constant of integration whose value can differ on either side of the wall. This solution holds for q real, imaginary and when  $q \rightarrow 0$ . These three possibilities represent the three maximally symmetric configurations. In Euclidean signature they correspond to the sphere, hyperboloid and plane respectively, whereas in Lorentzian signature, they would correspond to de Sitter space, anti-de Sitter space and Minkowski space respectively. From equations (4.19) and (4.20), the solutions for the 3-forms, given the solution for  $\rho(r)$ , are

$$A(r) = A_0 + \frac{\mu^4}{\sigma'} \int_0^r \rho^3 dr$$
 (4.25)

$$\hat{A}(r) = \hat{A}_0 - \frac{6M_{\rm pl}^2}{\hat{\sigma}'} \int_0^r q^2 \rho^3 dr$$
(4.26)

where  $A_0$  and  $\hat{A}_0$  are integration constants whose value could also differ on either side of the wall.

#### Matching conditions and allowed configurations

To impose matching conditions on the fields across the bubble wall, in GR one usually considers continuity conditions on the dynamical fields and the Israel junction conditions [106]. However, in sequestering not all fields are dynamical, representing the fact that the theory is locally equivalent to GR as discussed in the previous chapter, so here to find the relevant matching conditions we integrate the field equations given in (4.17) - (4.20) across the bubble wall. Equations (4.17) and (4.19) yield the conditions

$$\frac{1}{q_{+}}\sin q_{+}r_{0}^{+} = \frac{1}{q_{-}}\sin q_{-}r_{0}^{-}$$
(4.27)

$$A_0^+ = A_0^- \tag{4.28}$$

where the first of these is simply continuity in the radius of the 3-sphere  $\rho(r)$ on either side of the wall. Equations (4.18) and (4.20) yield the following discontinuities supported by the delta function source

$$2\kappa^2 \frac{\Delta \rho'}{\rho_0} = -\sigma_w \tag{4.29}$$

$$\frac{\hat{\sigma}'}{M_{\rm pl}^2}\Delta\hat{A} = 3\rho_0^2\Delta\rho'. \tag{4.30}$$

Here and throughout the remainder of this section we have used the notation  $\rho_0 = \rho(0)$  and  $\Delta Q = Q(0^+) - Q(0^-)$  is the jump in a quantity Q across the wall. The second of these discontinuities is equivalent to a jump in the hatted 3-form given by

$$\hat{A}_{0}^{+} - \hat{A}_{0}^{-} = -\frac{3}{2} \frac{M_{\rm pl}^{2}}{\kappa^{2} \hat{\sigma}'} \rho_{0}^{3} \sigma_{w}.$$

$$(4.31)$$

Now, equation (4.29) tells us that not all configurations can be realised with a non-negative tension wall ( $\sigma_w \ge 0$ ). Instead we have to satisfy the condition

$$\Delta \rho' = \Delta(\epsilon \cos q r_0) \le 0 \tag{4.32}$$

if the bubble wall is supported by realistic matter. Unsurprisingly, this is precisely the constraint one finds in GR. To extract useful information from this condition we also define  $\langle Q \rangle = \frac{Q_+ + Q_-}{2}$  for some Q such that the condition
(4.32) becomes

$$\Delta \epsilon \cos\langle qr_0 \rangle \cos \frac{\Delta(qr_0)}{2} - 2\langle \epsilon \rangle \sin\langle qr_0 \rangle \sin \frac{\Delta(qr_0)}{2} \le 0.$$
(4.33)

From this we can deduce the conditions upon which tunnelling can happen. Let us focus on two examples. Initially consider tunnelling to and from regions with  $q^2 > 0$  i.e. to and from de Sitter space in Lorentzian signature. To remain within the validity of Coleman's co-ordinate system, i.e. to avoid co-ordinate singularities, the solution for  $\rho(r)$  given by equation (4.24) at r = 0 tells us that we have  $qr_0 \in [0, \pi]$  from which we can infer

$$\langle qr_0 \rangle \in [0,\pi], \qquad \frac{|\Delta(qr_0)|}{2} \in [0,\pi/2].$$
 (4.34)

In every case one of either  $\langle \epsilon \rangle$  or  $\Delta \epsilon$  will vanish and the other will be non-zero. First consider the case where  $\langle \epsilon \rangle \neq 0$  such that we have  $\epsilon_{+} = \epsilon_{-} = \pm 1$  with the condition (4.32) reducing to

$$\langle \epsilon \rangle \sin \frac{\Delta(qr_0)}{2} \ge 0.$$
 (4.35)

It follows that we require  $\langle \epsilon \rangle$  and  $\Delta(qr_0)$  to have the same sign, therefore for  $\epsilon_+ = \epsilon_- = 1$  tunnelling is allowed if  $(qr_0)_+ \ge (qr_0)_-$ , and for  $\epsilon_+ = \epsilon_- = -1$  tunnelling is allowed if  $(qr_0)_+ \le (qr_0)_-$ . Now consider the case where  $\langle \epsilon \rangle = 0$  and  $\Delta \epsilon \neq 0$  such that we have  $\epsilon_+ = -\epsilon_-$  with the condition (4.32) reducing to

$$\Delta \epsilon \cos\langle qr_0 \rangle \le 0. \tag{4.36}$$

It follows that for  $\epsilon_+ = 1$ ,  $\epsilon_- = -1$  tunnelling is allowed for  $\langle qr_0 \rangle \in [\pi/2, \pi]$ and for  $\epsilon_+ = -1$ ,  $\epsilon_- = 1$ , tunnelling is allowed for  $\langle qr_0 \rangle \in [0, \pi/2]$ .

Next consider tunnelling from a region with positive curvature  $q_+^2 > 0$  to a region with negative curvature  $q_-^2 < 0$ . In Lorentzian signature this would represent tunnelling from de Sitter space to anti-de Sitter space. Here the condition (4.32) becomes

	$S_{+} - S_{-}$	$S_+ - H$	$H_+ - S$	$H_+ - H$
$\epsilon_{\pm} = 1$	$(qr_0)_+ \ge (qr_0)$	allowed	not allowed	$ q _+ \le  q $
$\epsilon_{\pm} = -1$	$(qr_0)_+ \le (qr_0)$	not allowed	allowed	$ q _+ \ge  q $
$\epsilon_+ = 1, \epsilon = -1$	$\langle qr_0 \rangle \in [\pi/2,\pi]$	not allowed	not allowed	not allowed
$\epsilon_+ = -1, \epsilon = 1$	$\langle qr_0 \rangle \in [0, \pi/2]$	allowed	allowed	allowed

Table 4.1: Summary of allowed configurations after we demand the tension  $\sigma_w$  is non-negative. S denotes the sphere, H the hyperboloid, and planar limits can be extracted from the table by taking  $q_+ \to 0$  or  $q_- \to 0$ .

which is satisfied for any  $(qr_0)_+$ ,  $(|q|r_0)_-$  and  $\epsilon_+$  as long as  $\epsilon_- = 1$ . We summarise these results in table 4.1 and also present the results considering the other possible configurations we have not calculated explicitly here. In all cases these are equivalent to what one finds in GR [103] since the extra sectors leading to the global sequestering constraints play no role.

#### **Tunnelling** rates

In the presence of gravity, and in the semi-classical limit, the probability of decay of the false vacuum per unit volume per unit time is given by [101-103]

$$\frac{\Gamma}{V} \sim \exp^{-B/\hbar} \tag{4.38}$$

where  $B = S_{\rm E}^{\rm bounce} - S_{\rm E}^{\infty}$  is the difference between the on-shell Euclidean action calculated on the bounce solution and calculated on the initial false vacuum solution. Quantum corrections to this tunnelling rate are  $\mathcal{O}(\hbar)$  and so are ignored in the semi-classical limit [101]. The bounce solutions are the Euclidean bubble configurations we calculated above and therefore have knowledge of the curvature in both the false and true vacuum either side of the wall. The initial vacuum solution is covered by the same co-ordinate range as the bounce solution but with no jump in curvature i.e. it is only dependent on the value of the curvature in the false vacuum. For the bounce solution the radial coordinate ranges from its minimum value in the interior  $r_{\rm min}^-$  to its maximum value in the exterior  $r_{\rm max}^+$ . These limits correspond to values where this choice of co-ordinate system breaks down and can be extracted from the  $\rho(r)$  solution. Generically they depend on the choice of  $\epsilon$  and whether we have  $q^2 > 0$ ,  $q^2 < 0$ , or  $q^2 \to 0$ . First of all consider a vacuum with  $q^2 > 0$  such that we have  $\rho(r) = \frac{1}{q} \sin q(\epsilon r + r_0)$ . The limits of the co-ordinate system exist at  $\rho(r) = 0$  which is a co-ordinate singularity and corresponds to solutions with

$$r = \epsilon \left(\frac{n\pi}{q} - r_0\right) \tag{4.39}$$

where  $n \in \mathbb{R}$ . So, when  $\epsilon = 1$  we have  $r_{\max} = \frac{\pi}{q} - r_0$  and  $r_{\min} = -r_0$ , and when  $\epsilon = -1$  we have  $r_{\max} = r_0$  and  $r_{\min} = r_0 - \frac{\pi}{q}$ . For a Minkowski vacuum we have  $\rho(r) = \epsilon r + r_0$  and so the limits of the co-ordinate system exist at  $\rho(r) = 0$  and  $\rho(r) \to \infty$ . Therefore if  $\epsilon = 1$  we have  $r_{\max} = \infty$  and  $r_{\min} = -r_0$ , and if  $\epsilon = -1$  we have  $r_{\max} = r_0$  and  $r_{\min} = -\infty$ . Finally, for a vacuum with  $q^2 < 0$  we have  $\rho(r) = \frac{1}{|q|} \sinh |q| (\epsilon r + r_0)$  leading to equivalent conclusions as for the Minkowski case. These results can be summarised as

$$r_{\min} = \begin{cases} -r_0, & \epsilon = +1 \\ r_0 - \frac{\pi}{q}, & \epsilon = -1, \ q^2 > 0 \\ -\infty, & \epsilon = -1, \ q^2 \le 0 \end{cases}$$
(4.40)  
$$r_{\max} = \begin{cases} \frac{\pi}{q} - r_0, & \epsilon = +1, \ q^2 > 0 \\ \infty, & \epsilon = +1, \ q^2 \le 0 \\ r_0, & \epsilon = -1 \end{cases}$$
(4.41)

and are important for calculating the tunnelling rates.

On-shell, the sequestering Euclidean action is very similar to the GR one since the scalar fields are fixed to be constant. The only difference is given by the dependence on the 4-forms. Specifically, for sequestering we have

$$B = B_{\rm GR} - \sigma \Delta c - \hat{\sigma} \Delta \hat{c} \tag{4.42}$$

where

$$\Delta c = \int_{\text{bounce}} F_4 - \int_{\text{initial vac}} F_4 \tag{4.43}$$

$$\Delta \hat{c} = \int_{\text{bounce}} \hat{F}_4 - \int_{\text{initial vac}} \hat{F}_4.$$
(4.44)

Let us now calculate each of the three contributions to (4.42) in turn. In all cases B is independent of  $r_{\text{max}}$  since it enters  $S_{\text{E}}^{\text{bounce}}$  and  $S_{\text{E}}^{\infty}$  in exactly the same way and therefore cancels. Using the expression for the Ricci scalar on the O(4) symmetric background geometry (4.21), the tunnelling exponent in GR is given by

$$B_{\rm GR} = \Omega_3 \Delta \left[ \int_{r_{\rm min}}^0 dr [3\kappa^2(\rho + \rho \rho'^2) - 3\kappa^2 q^2 \rho^3] \right] + \sigma_w \Omega_3 \rho_0^3 \tag{4.45}$$

where  $\Omega_3$  is the volume of the unit 3-sphere and we explicitly see the boundary term contribution due to the non-negative tension wall. On-shell we have the following relationship by virtue of equation (4.22)

$$3\kappa^2(\rho + \rho\rho'^2) - 3\kappa^2 q^2 \rho^3 = 6\kappa^2 \rho\rho'^2 \tag{4.46}$$

which allows us to perform the integral very simply and write the GR exponent as

$$B_{\rm GR} = -2\kappa^2 \Omega_3 \Delta \left[ \frac{1}{q^2} [\rho'^3]^0_{r_{\rm min}} \right] + \sigma_w \Omega_3 \rho_0^3.$$
(4.47)

The contributions to the tunnelling rates from the flux terms can be calculated given the solutions for the 3-forms (4.25), and the matching condition for the hatted 3-form (4.31). We find

$$\Delta c = -\frac{\mu^4}{\sigma'} \Omega_3 \Delta \left[ \int_{r_{\min}}^0 dr \rho^3 \right]$$
(4.48)

$$\Delta \hat{c} = \frac{M_{\rm pl}^2}{2\hat{\sigma}'} \Omega_3 \left( 12\Delta \left[ \int_{r_{\rm min}}^0 dr q^2 \rho^3 \right] - 3\frac{\sigma_w}{\kappa^2} \rho_0^3 \right). \tag{4.49}$$

Again we can simplify these expressions using the fact that on-shell we have

$$\int_{r_{\min}}^{0} dr \rho^{3} = -\frac{1}{3q^{4}} [\rho'(3-\rho'^{2})]_{r_{\min}}^{0}$$
(4.50)

such that the flux contributions to the tunnelling exponent reduce to

$$\Delta c = \frac{\mu^4}{3\sigma'} \Omega_3 \Delta \left[ \frac{1}{q^4} [\rho'(3-\rho'^2)]^0_{r_{\min}} \right]$$
(4.51)

$$\Delta \hat{c} = -\frac{M_{\rm pl}^2}{2\hat{\sigma}'} \Omega_3 \left( 4\Delta \left[ \frac{1}{q^2} [\rho'(3-\rho'^2)]^0_{r_{\rm min}} \right] + 3\frac{\sigma_w}{\kappa^2} \rho_0^3 \right).$$
(4.52)

These two equations along with equation (4.47) gives us the full expression for the tunnelling exponent B in sequestering. We can see that divergences, which can lead to infinitely enhanced tunnelling rates with  $B \to -\infty$  or infinitely suppressed tunnelling rates with  $B \to \infty$  by equation (4.38), only occur when  $r_{\rm min} = -\infty$ . From equations (4.40) this is realised when  $\epsilon = -1$  and  $q^2 \leq 0$ , and corresponds to either hyperbolic or planar geometries. Given the results summarised in table 4.1, the corresponding configurations with a non-negative tension wall have  $\epsilon_+ = -1$  and  $q_+^2 \leq 0$ . We can see from the form of  $B_{\rm GR}$  that in GR these tunnelling rates are infinitely suppressed since  $B_{\rm GR} \to \infty$  and there is no possibility for infinitely enhanced rates. However, in sequestering we have the addition of the flux terms which can vastly alter this conclusion. To zoom in on the relevant terms we note that the divergent contributions to the full tunnelling exponent in sequestering goes as

$$\sim \frac{\Omega_3}{8} \left[ \frac{2\kappa^2}{|q|_+^2} \left( 1 + \frac{M_{\rm pl}^2 \hat{\sigma}}{\kappa^2 \hat{\sigma}'} \right) + \frac{\mu^4}{3|q|_+^4} \frac{\sigma}{\sigma'} \right] e^{-3|q|_+ (r_{\rm min}^+ - r_0^+)}$$
(4.53)

which can diverge to  $+\infty$  or  $-\infty$  depending on the form of the sequestering functions  $\sigma$  and  $\hat{\sigma}$ . Having  $B \to -\infty$  would lead to catastrophic vacuum decay with the semi-classical approximation becoming untrustworthy. To avoid this we now impose the following conditions on the sequestering functions

$$1 + \frac{M_{\rm pl}^2 \hat{\sigma}}{\kappa^2 \hat{\sigma}'} > 0, \qquad \frac{\mu^4 \sigma}{\sigma'} > 0 \tag{4.54}$$

which ensure that the only divergent behaviour is  $B \to \infty$  as is in GR. When these conditions are satisfied, the spectrum of allowed configurations for tunnelling between vacua in sequestering are equivalent to those of GR. With this in mind we update table 4.1 to take this into account such that the spectrum of allowed configurations are now given in table 4.2.

We now consider the other possible tunnelling configurations with walls of non-negative tension but where the tunnelling exponent does not diverge. Again in each case the most important information is encoded in  $\rho'(r_{\min})$  and  $\rho'(0)$  on either side of the wall. As an example consider tunnelling between

	$S_{+} - S_{-}$	$S_+ - H$	$H_+ - S$	$H_+ - H$
$\epsilon_{\pm} = 1$	$(qr_0)_+ \ge (qr_0)$	allowed	not allowed	$ q _+ \le  q $
$\epsilon_{\pm} = -1$	$(qr_0)_+ \le (qr_0)$	not allowed	$B \to \infty$	$B \to \infty$
$\epsilon_+ = 1, \epsilon = -1$	$\langle qr_0 \rangle \in [\pi/2,\pi]$	not allowed	not allowed	not allowed
$\epsilon_+ = -1, \epsilon = 1$	$\langle qr_0 \rangle \in [0, \pi/2]$	allowed	$B \to \infty$	$B \to \infty$

Table 4.2: Summary of allowed configurations after we demand the tension  $\sigma_w$  is non-negative and imposing the conditions (4.54) on the sequestering functions. Again, S denotes the sphere, H the hyperboloid, and planar limits can be extracted from the table by taking  $q_+ \to 0$  or  $q_- \to 0$ .

two vacua each with  $q^2 > 0$  such that on each side of the wall we have

$$\rho'(r) = \epsilon \cos q(\epsilon r + r_0). \tag{4.55}$$

Given the results summarised in (4.40), for  $\epsilon = 1$  we have  $\rho'(r_{\min}) = \cos q(-r_0 + r_0) = 1$ , and for  $\epsilon = -1$ , we have  $\rho'(r_{\min}) = -\cos q(-r_0 + \frac{\pi}{q} + r_0) = 1$ . We also have  $\rho'(0^{\pm}) = \epsilon_{\pm} \cos(qr_0)_{\pm} \ge -1$  which given the constraints imposed in table 4.2 leads to  $\rho'(0^-) \ge \rho'(0^+)$ . In fact, these conclusions are not unique to this example and for all of the remaining tunnelling configurations with a non-negative tension wall we have

$$\rho'(r_{\min}) = 1, \quad -1 \le \rho'(0^+) \le \rho'(0^-).$$
(4.56)

In these cases we can write the tunnelling rates as a function of  $\rho'(0)$  on either side of the wall and by explicit calculation equations (4.47) and (4.51) become

$$B_{\rm GR} = 2\Omega_3 \kappa^2 \rho_0^2 \Delta \left[ \frac{1}{1 + \rho'(0)} \right] \ge 0 \tag{4.57}$$

$$-\sigma\Delta c = \Omega_3 \frac{\mu^4 \rho_0^4}{3} \frac{\sigma}{\sigma'} \Delta \left[ \frac{1}{1 + \rho'(0)} + \left( \frac{1}{1 + \rho'(0)} \right)^2 \right]$$
(4.58)

$$-\hat{\sigma}\Delta\hat{c} = -\Omega_3 M_{\rm pl}^2 \rho_0^2 \frac{\hat{\sigma}}{\hat{\sigma}'} \Delta \left[\rho'(0) + \frac{4}{1+\rho'(0)}\right] \tag{4.59}$$

where we have eliminated the dependence on  $\sigma_w$  by virtue of the condition (4.29), and the dependence on  $q^2$  by the field equation (4.22). Again, unlike in GR where all possibilities have exponentially suppressed rates since  $B_{\rm GR} > 0$  by equation (4.57), in sequestering the flux terms allow for unsuppressed rates

since the overall sign of these contributions is not fixed. To ensure that all the remaining tunnelling rates are exponentially suppressed we therefore have to further reduce the allowed space of sequestering theories parametrised by the functions  $\sigma$  and  $\hat{\sigma}$ . Demanding that the sum of terms in (4.57) - (4.59) yields a positive tunnelling exponent, and also taking into the account the conditions imposed to avoid  $B \to -\infty$ , we must satisfy the following conditions

$$\frac{\kappa^2 \hat{\sigma}'}{M_{\rm pl}^2 \hat{\sigma}} > 2, \qquad \frac{\sigma'}{\mu^4 \hat{\sigma}'} > 0. \tag{4.60}$$

When these conditions are satisfied, not only is the spectrum of allowed configurations in sequestering equivalent to GR as summarised in table 4.2, but all of the tunnelling rates in the sequestering model are exponentially suppressed. These conditions are therefore very important and in any future work in the context of the local sequestering theory they should always be satisfied to avoid instabilities with respect to quantum tunnelling.

Although the generic form of the tunnelling rates for a given process will be equivalent to GR, the exact rates are still expected to differ due to the presence of the flux contributions. To see this let us consider two special cases as was done for GR in [103]. Initially consider decay from a false vacuum with  $q^2 > 0$  into a vacuum with  $q^2 \rightarrow 0$ . In this case we have  $\rho'(0^-) = 1$  and  $\rho'(0^+) \in [-1, -1]$  and the tunnelling exponent is given by

$$B = B_{\rm GR} \left[ 1 + \frac{\mu^4}{12q^2\kappa^2} \frac{\sigma}{\sigma'} s(8 - 3s) - \frac{M_{\rm pl}^2}{\kappa^2} \frac{\hat{\sigma}}{\hat{\sigma}'} s \right]$$
(4.61)

where  $B_{\rm GR} = \Omega_3 \frac{\kappa^2}{q^2} s^2$  and

$$s = 1 - \rho'(0^+) = \frac{\sigma_w^2}{2\kappa^4 q^2} \left(\frac{1}{1 + \sigma_w^2/4\kappa^2 q^2}\right).$$
 (4.62)

Even with the conditions (4.60) satisfied, this tunnelling rate can be either further suppressed or enhanced by the presence of the flux terms. In comparison to GR, the dominant processes have  $0 \le s \ll 1$  in which case the exponent reduces to

$$B \approx B_{\rm GR} \left[ 1 + \frac{2\mu^4}{3q^2\kappa^2} \frac{\sigma}{\sigma'} s - \frac{M_{\rm pl}^2}{\kappa^2} \frac{\hat{\sigma}}{\hat{\sigma}'} s \right].$$
(4.63)

The relative minus sign between the contributions from the hatted and unhatted fluxes is very important. We see that for a large jump in curvature due to the phase transition, the hatted fluxes dominate over the un-hatted ones and therefore enhance the tunnelling rate to a vacuum with zero curvature relative to GR i.e. make tunnelling into Minkowski space easier. However, when the jump in vacuum energy induced by the transition is small, the un-hatted fluxes win out and the tunnelling rates are further suppressed in sequestering relative to GR making it more difficult to tunnel.

Next we consider decay from a vacuum with zero curvature to one with negative curvature i.e.  $0 \rightarrow -|q|^2$ . In this case we have  $\rho'(0^+) = 1$  and  $\rho'(0^-) \geq 1$  and the tunnelling exponent is given by

$$B = B_{\rm GR} \left[ 1 - \frac{\mu^4}{12|q|^2 \kappa^2} \frac{\sigma}{\sigma'} s(8 - 3s) - \frac{M_{\rm pl}^2}{\kappa^2} \frac{\hat{\sigma}}{\hat{\sigma}'} s \right]$$
(4.64)

where here we have  $B_{\rm GR} = \Omega_3 \frac{\kappa^2}{|q|^2} s^2$  and

$$s = 1 - \rho'(0^{-}) = -\frac{\sigma_w^2}{2\kappa^4 |q|^2} \left(\frac{1}{1 - \sigma_w^2/4\kappa^2 |q|^2}\right).$$
(4.65)

Again we work in the limit with  $0 \le s \ll 1$  such that we have

$$B \approx B_{\rm GR} \left[ 1 - \frac{2\mu^4}{3|q|^2\kappa^2} \frac{\sigma}{\sigma'} s - \frac{M_{\rm pl}^2}{\kappa^2} \frac{\hat{\sigma}}{\hat{\sigma}'} s \right].$$
(4.66)

As shown in [103], and more recently beyond the thin wall limit in [107], there are no sensible solutions with  $|q|^2 < \sigma_w^2/4\kappa^2$  meaning that we have s < 0. The result of this is that when the conditions (4.60) are satisfied, the effect of the flux terms is to further stabilise the Minkowski false vacuum relative to GR.

Before moving on to calculating the vacuum curvature in each vacua, let us briefly conclude this section. Here we have seen that if we impose some mild conditions on the sequestering functions  $\sigma$  and  $\hat{\sigma}$  the tunnelling rates in sequestering are very similar to GR without any unsuppressed rates and avoiding all possible rapid instabilities. The theory allows for tunnelling between a pair of vacua with positive curvature in either direction, yet tunnelling upwards is heavily suppressed as in GR. Tunnelling can proceed from a region of positive curvature to one with vanishing or negative curvature but the opposite transition is infinitely suppressed. More specifically, by studying two illuminating examples, we have seen that sequestering makes a near Minkowski vacuum more favourable compared to GR.

### 4.2.2 Growth of the bubble

So far we have described the materialisation of the bubble of true vacuum. We now can study its evolution by Wick rotating back to Lorentzian signature where in the neighbourhood of the wall the geometry is described by the metric [103]

$$ds^{2} = dr^{2} + \rho(r)^{2}(-d\tau^{2} + \cosh^{2}\tau d\Omega_{2}^{2})$$
(4.67)

where

$$\rho(r) = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{q_{+}} \sin q_{+}(\epsilon_{+}r + r_{0}^{+}), & r > 0\\ \frac{1}{q_{-}} \sin q_{-}(\epsilon_{-}r + r_{0}^{-}), & r < 0 \end{cases}$$
(4.68)

with the wall still located at r = 0. As we mentioned above, now the interior or exterior of the bubble corresponds to either de Sitter space with  $q^2 > 0$ , Minkowski space with  $q^2 \rightarrow 0$  or anti-de Sitter space with  $q^2 < 0$ .

As described in [103], in this co-ordinate system we can see that  $\tau = 0$  is a special point. Specifically, it is a minimal space-like surface with vanishing extrinsic curvature. It is a stationary point in the geometry where we can consistently perform a Wick rotation into Euclidean signature where we calculated the bounce solutions. So from now on we shall refer to  $\tau = 0$  as the nucleation time. For  $\tau < 0$  there is no wall and the full geometry lives the initial vacuum, but for  $\tau > 0$  the bubble has nucleated and we have a space-time with two regions separated by the bubble wall.

We are now in a position to calculate the vacuum energy contributions in each vacua. This will enable us to see the effects of the phase transition both before and after the bubble has nucleated i.e. in both the true and false vacuum. These are controlled by the following pair of integrated fluxes

$$c = \int F_4 = \frac{\mu^4}{\sigma'} \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} \tag{4.69}$$

$$\hat{c} = \int \hat{F}_4 = -\frac{M_{\rm pl}^2}{2\hat{\sigma}'} \int d^4x \sqrt{-g}R \qquad (4.70)$$

since these equations lead to the crucial global constraint on the space-time average of the Ricci scalar  $\langle R \rangle$ . For all of the possible solutions we have considered the full space-time volume is split into three components. There is the volume prior to bubble nucleation which we denote as  $\mathcal{V}_{\rm b}^+$ , the volume of the exterior after bubble nucleation denoted as  $\mathcal{V}_{\rm a}^+$  and the volume in the interior after bubble nucleation denoted as  $\mathcal{V}_{\rm a}^-$ . In the following we shall ignore the bubble wall since its contribution will always be negligible. We therefore have  $\mathcal{V}_{\rm total} = \mathcal{V}_{\rm b}^+ + \mathcal{V}_{\rm a}^+ + \mathcal{V}_{\rm a}^-$ . With this notation the integrated fluxes are simply given by

$$c = \frac{\mu^4}{\sigma'} (\mathcal{V}_{\rm b}^+ + \mathcal{V}_{\rm a}^+ + \mathcal{V}_{\rm a}^-) \tag{4.71}$$

$$\hat{c} = -\frac{6M_{\rm pl}^2}{\hat{\sigma}'}[(q^2\mathcal{V}_{\rm b})^+ + (q^2\mathcal{V}_{\rm a})^+ + (q^2\mathcal{V}_{\rm a})^-].$$
(4.72)

Writing the ratio between the space-time volume of either the exterior or interior of the bubble and the space-time volume before bubble nucleation as

$$R^{\pm} = \frac{\mathcal{V}_{\mathrm{a}}^{\pm}}{\mathcal{V}_{\mathrm{b}}^{+}} \tag{4.73}$$

we can express the fluxes as

$$\frac{c}{\mathcal{V}_{\rm b}^{+}} = \frac{\mu^4}{\sigma'} (1 + R^+ + R^-) \tag{4.74}$$

$$\frac{\hat{c}}{\mathcal{V}_{\rm b}^+} = -\frac{6M_{\rm pl}^2}{\hat{\sigma}'}[q_+^2(1+R^+) + q_-^2R^-].$$
(4.75)

We are now in a position to see how the curvature in each vacua depends on the three individual space-time volumes. We again make use of the notation we have throughout by defining

$$\langle q^2 \rangle = \frac{q_+^2 + q_-^2}{2}, \qquad \Delta q^2 = q_+^2 - q_-^2$$
(4.76)

such that we can write equation (4.75) as

$$\langle q^2 \rangle = \frac{-1}{1 + R_+ + R_-} \left[ \frac{\hat{\sigma}'\hat{c}}{6M_{\rm pl}^2 \mathcal{V}_{\rm b}^+} + \frac{\Delta q^2}{2} (1 + R_+ - R_-) \right]$$
(4.77)

or equivalently after using equation (4.74) we find

$$\langle q^2 \rangle = -\frac{\mu^4 \hat{\sigma}'}{6M_{\rm pl}^2 \sigma'} \frac{\hat{c}}{c} - \frac{\Delta q^2}{2} \frac{1+R_+-R_-}{1+R_++R_-}.$$
(4.78)

In terms of the two individual cosmological constants we can then write

$$q_{+}^{2} = -\frac{\mu^{4}\hat{\sigma}'}{6M_{\rm pl}^{2}\sigma'}\frac{\hat{c}}{c} + \frac{\Delta q^{2}}{1+\mathcal{I}}$$
(4.79)

$$q_{-}^{2} = -\frac{\mu^{4}\hat{\sigma}'}{6M_{\rm pl}^{2}\sigma'}\frac{\hat{c}}{c} - \frac{\Delta q^{2}}{1+\mathcal{I}^{-1}}$$
(4.80)

where we have introduced the ratio

$$\mathcal{I} = \frac{1 + R_+}{R_-} = \frac{\mathcal{V}_{\rm b}^+ + \mathcal{V}_{\rm a}^+}{\mathcal{V}_{\rm a}^-}.$$
(4.81)

We therefore infer from equations (4.79) and (4.80) that if  $\mathcal{I} \gg 1$ , or in other words if the space-time volume in the false vacuum dominates over the volume in the true vacuum, the false vacuum is insensitive to the jump in the vacuum energy induced by the phase transition while the true vacuum is indeed sensitive. However, if  $\mathcal{I} \ll 1$  such that the true vacuum is the dominate source of the total volume, it is the true vacuum which is insensitive to the jump. Therefore our understanding of the effects of phase transitions requires us to compute  $\mathcal{I}$  for each of the possible transitions described in the previous section. We note that this is qualitatively similar to what we found in section 4.1 where for an early universe phase transition, which here would correspond to the false vacuum having a sub dominant volume, it is the space-time after the transition which is insensitive to the jump. As we have seen here, the dynamics in sequestering is sensitive to the full space-time and to calculate the ratio  $\mathcal{I}$ , Coleman's co-ordinates which we have employed so far are not adequate since they do not cover the full space-times in each case. Instead we must use global co-ordinates. Full details of the global co-ordinates and their mapping to Coleman's can be found in the appendix in chapter 8, but let us summarise here (see e.g. [108]). De Sitter space in global co-ordinates is described by

$$ds^{2} = -dt^{2} + \frac{\cosh^{2} qt}{q^{2}} (d\theta^{2} + \sin^{2} \theta d\Omega_{2}^{2})$$
(4.82)

where  $t \in (-\infty, \infty)$  and  $\theta \in [0, \pi]$ . Tunnelling between vacua can occur at any of the minimal spacelike surfaces

$$\cos \theta = \frac{\tanh qt}{\tanh \alpha} \tag{4.83}$$

where  $\alpha$  is a constant. As we show and discuss in the appendix, this surface locally maps into the  $\tau = 0$  surface in Coleman's co-ordinate patch. The  $\alpha$ dependence arises since we make use of the de Sitter symmetries and perform a Lorentz transformation prior to defining the mapping, with  $\alpha$  corresponding to the rapidity. For Minkowski space, the globally defined metric is given by

$$ds^2 = -dt^2 + du^2 + u^2 d\Omega_2^2 \tag{4.84}$$

where  $t \in (-\infty, \infty)$  and  $u \in [0, \infty)$ . In this case the minimal spacelike surfaces where the bubble nucleates occur at  $t = t_0 = \text{constant}$ . Again, we show in the appendix that one can locally map these surfaces to the tunnelling surface  $\tau = 0$  in Coleman's coordinates. Finally, for anti-de Sitter space in global coordinates we have

$$ds^{2} = -\frac{\cosh^{2}|q|u}{|q|^{2}}dt^{2} + du^{2} + \frac{\sinh^{2}|q|u}{|q|^{2}}d\Omega_{2}^{2}$$
(4.85)

where  $t, u \in (-\infty, \infty)$ . As was the case in Minkowski space, the minimal spacelike surfaces that map to  $\tau = 0$  correspond to  $t = t_0 = \text{constant}$ . For each case we can also calculate the surface where the bubble wall exists. In Coleman's co-ordinates this was given by r = 0 and in global co-ordinates we have

dS : 
$$\cos qr_0 = \cosh \alpha \cosh qt \cos \theta - \sinh \alpha \sinh qt$$
  
flat :  $r_0^2 = u^2 - (t - t_0)^2$   
AdS :  $\cosh |q|r_0 = \cosh |q|u \cos(t - t_0)$ 

which again is shown explicitly in the appendix. The expressions shown here in global co-ordinates for both the nucleation time and the position of the wall are important when calculating the volume ratios since they form the boundaries of the three volumes. There is a further complication with an anti-de Sitter interior since as shown in [103, 109] it suffers from a curvature singularity. As we show in the appendix, in global co-ordinates this surface is

$$\cosh|q|u\cos(t-t_0) = -1$$
 (4.86)

with the relevant mapping to Colemans's co-ordinates also given in the appendix. We are now in a position to calculate the volume ratios. Even though the individual volumes will have divergences, the ratios can be computed reliably and to do so we use a time reversal symmetric cut-off. This ensures that in the absence of the bubble in each case the regulators respect the space-time symmetries. The explicit calculations are presented in the appendix, here we summarise the results as

$$\mathcal{I}_{\mathrm{dS}\to\mathrm{dS}} \sim \frac{q_{-}}{q_{+}} \tag{4.87}$$

$$\mathcal{I}_{\mathrm{dS}\to\mathrm{M}} = 0 \tag{4.88}$$

$$\mathcal{I}_{\rm dS \to AdS} = \infty \tag{4.89}$$

$$\mathcal{I}_{\mathrm{M}\to\mathrm{AdS}} = \infty \tag{4.90}$$

$$\mathcal{I}_{AdS \to AdS} = \infty \tag{4.91}$$

where  $\mathcal{I}_{X \to Y}$  denotes tunnelling from X to Y, where X, Y are dS (de Sitter), M (Minkowski) and AdS (anti-de Sitter).

First consider the case which is of most phenomenological interest. From equation (4.87) we see that if we tunnel from a region of high de Sitter curvature to a region of low de Sitter curvature such that  $q_{-} < q_{+}$ , we have  $\mathcal{I} < 1$  meaning that the dependence on the jump in the vacuum energy due to the phase transition is suppressed in the true vacuum. It only has a non-trivial effect in the false vacuum. This is telling us that the sequestering mechanism is most efficient after an early universe phase transition. Again this is due to the large volume suppression which occurs in the true vacuum. Intuitively the reason a de Sitter space-time has a larger volume the smaller its curvature is because it is causally connected to a larger region of space-time. One may have expected that the residual cosmological constant i.e. the contribution to  $q_{\pm}^2$  which is independent of  $\Delta q^2$ , would have to be tuned against the jump in vacuum energy induced by the phase transition in order to realise a small de Sitter curvature as dictated by observations. This is not the case in sequestering. The residual cosmological constant can be set to be small to match observations and we do not have to pick another value for it after the field theory experiences a phase transition. As we see from equation (4.88), this conclusion extends to the case where we take  $q_{-} \rightarrow 0$ , in other words when the true vacuum is Minkowski space. In contrast, there is a discontinuity in the volume ratios as shown in equation (4.89). Here we see that regardless of the size of the curvature in each region, it is the de Sitter exterior which dominates the total volume. This means that for tunnelling from a region of large de Sitter curvature to a region of small absolute anti-de Sitter curvature, it is the false vacuum which is insensitive to the jump. The reason this happens is that the gravitational collapse in the anti-de Sitter interior redcues the number of divergent directions relative to the de Sitter exterior.

Now consider equation (4.90) which tells us that if the false vacuum is Minkowski space then with respect to tunnelling to anti-de Sitter space it is the false vacuum which is insensitive to the phase transition. Again, the volume suppression in the exterior arises from the fact that in an anti-de Sitter bubble the space-time is cut-off due to a curvature singularity. Finally, since we cannot tunnel up from an anti-de Sitter true vacuum to an anti-de Sitter false vacuum, we also see from equation (4.91) that again it is the region of lowest absolute curvature where the volume suppression makes the vacuum energy insensitive to the jump.

Therefore, barring one exception, it is the vacuum with the lowest absolute curvature which sequestering makes insensitive to the phase transition without any tuning of the residual cosmological constant.

## 4.3 Discussion

In this chapter we have considered the effects of an early universe phase transition on the dynamics in the local sequestering theory. Importantly, we have found that the interior of a bubble with small absolute curvature relative to the absolute curvature in the exterior is insensitive to the jump in the vacuum energy induced by the transition. So the local sequestering model allows one to avoid the need to repeatedly fine tune the cosmological constant as one calculates matter loop corrections to it, as we discussed in chapter 3, but also one does not need to worry about standard model phase transitions since, compatible with observations, they have very little effect on the late time curvature we observe. This is in contrast to GR, where to guarantee a small de Sitter curvature one must tune the bare cosmological constant against the energy scale of the phase transition. Here we have considered bubble nucleation when drawing these conclusions and to avoid catastrophic instabilities, and more generally tunnelling rates which are exponentially favoured, we have had to place mild constraints on the sequestering parameter space which should be satisfied in all future considerations.

In some sense the phase transitions we have considered can be thought of as local sources and we may therefore expect their gravitational effects to be equivalent in both sequestering and GR since the two theories have locally equivalent dynamics. However, here we asked how the phase transitions contribute to the cosmological constant which required us to consider the full space-time geometries. As such the global dynamics of sequestering plays an important role and since its global structure differs to that of GR, the gravitational effects of the phase transitions also differs.

Finally, let us remind the reader that these results are due to the global nature of the sequestering equations of motion and the volume suppression that comes with this. We realised this global modification of GR without introducing any new local degrees of freedom. This meant that we did not require any form of screening mechanism to hide unwanted forces in local environments. For other modifications of gravity this is not the case and we will discuss two of the possible screening mechanisms these theories make use of in the remainder of this thesis.

# Chapter

## Unitarity and the Vainshtein Mechanism

This chapter is devoted to a detailed study of the Vainshtein mechanism with particular attention paid to the regime of validity of theories which incorporate the Vainshtein mechanism. As we briefly discussed in the introduction, the Vainshtein mechanism is a way for long distance modifications of gravity to conform with local gravitational tests, while deviating from General Relativity (GR) on Hubble scales. It is one of a number of possible screening mechanisms. We will begin this chapter with an introduction to the Vainshtein mechanism; explaining how it successfully shuts down unwanted forces in local environments and how it was born out of attempts to give the graviton a mass. We will discuss the main downfall of modifications of gravity which make use of the Vainshtein mechanism, namely, their very low strong coupling scales which ensure that predictions cannot be made on the scales at the forefront of gravitational tests. In doing so we will discuss suggestions as to how theories with a Vainshtein mechanism can be trusted beyond these very low energy scales to a higher, environmentally dependent strong coupling scale [40]. The remainder of this chapter contains a critical assessment of the validity of this environmental strong coupling scale where we study the low energy dynamics of UV complete field theories as avatars for long distance modifications of gravity, following the work of [3]. At various steps along the way we will compare and contrast with GR and before concluding this chapter with a discussion of our

results, we will compliment our field theory examples by studying higher order corrections to GR in D dimensions.

## 5.1 Introduction to the Vainshtein mechanism

For a complete discussion of the Vainshtein mechanism we must first discuss the challenges faced when trying to construct a consistent theory of interacting *massive* spin-2 particles. We follow the treatment of Hinterbichler in [58] and refer the reader there and to the reviews [28, 29, 39] for more details.

#### 5.1.1 Linear massive spin-2

We begin at the linearised level, where the most general Lorentz invariant theory of a massive spin-2 particle propagating on a flat background with Einstein-Hilbert kinetic terms is

$$S = \int d^4x \left[ \mathcal{L}_{GR} - \frac{m^2}{2} (h_{\mu\nu} h^{\mu\nu} + ah^2) + \frac{h_{\mu\nu} T^{\mu\nu}}{M_{\rm pl}} \right]$$
(5.1)

where  $\mathcal{L}_{GR}$  is the linearised kinetic structure of the Einstein-Hilbert action given by

$$\mathcal{L}_{GR} = -\frac{1}{2}\partial_{\sigma}h_{\mu\nu}\partial^{\sigma}h^{\mu\nu} + \partial_{\mu}h_{\nu\sigma}\partial^{\nu}h^{\mu\sigma} - \partial_{\mu}h^{\mu\nu}\partial_{\nu}h + \frac{1}{2}\partial_{\sigma}h\partial^{\sigma}h$$
(5.2)

and *m* is the mass of the graviton. We are raising and lowering indices with the Minkowski metric  $\eta_{\mu\nu}$  and  $h = \eta^{\mu\nu}h_{\mu\nu}$  is the trace of the graviton fluctuation. The mass term breaks the linearised gauge invariance of GR (1.12) indicating that (5.1) describes more degrees of freedom than the two helicity modes of a massless spin-2 field. Indeed, we expect a massive spin-2 particle to have five degrees of freedom and in 1939 Fierz and Pauli showed that this action only describes the correct number of polarisations if we impose the *Fierz-Pauli tuning* of a = -1 [110]. For any other choice of *a* the theory will inherit a massive scalar ghost in addition to the massive graviton with a mass

$$m_{\rm ghost}^2 = -\frac{4a+1}{2(a+1)}m^2.$$
 (5.3)

Clearly the mass of the ghost becomes infinite in the limit of the Fierz-Pauli tuning such that it is non-dynamical at all energies and can be ignored.

In 1970, van Dam, Veltman and Zakharov showed that in the presence of a massive source like the Sun, the predictions of the linear theory of massive gravity differed to those of linearised GR even in the limit where  $m \rightarrow 0$  [111, 112]. For example, when the mass of the graviton is asymptotically small, the prediction for light bending by the Sun is 25% different to the GR prediction. Predictions related to the perihelion precession of Mercury also differed. This is known as the *vDVZ discontinuity* and its origin can be traced to the presence of a scalar degree of freedom which does not decouple from the trace of the energy-momentum tensor even in the limit of vanishing mass. This scalar degree of freedom is simply the longitudinal mode of the massive graviton.

To see this explicitly we must first use the Stükelberg trick to restore the gauge symmetry broken by the graviton mass term. The Stükelberg trick is a useful way of making the degrees of freedom of a theory manifest by introducing new fields and redundancies while maintaining the spectrum of the original theory. By restoring the gauge symmetry we ensure that no degrees of freedom are lost in the  $m \rightarrow 0$  limit which would otherwise be discontinuous. This trick was first utilised in massive gravity in [113]. To restore the linear gauge symmetry of GR (1.12) we make the following replacement in the action (5.1)

$$h_{\mu\nu} \to h_{\mu\nu} + 2\partial_{(\mu}A_{\nu)} + 2\partial_{\mu}\partial_{\nu}\phi$$
 (5.4)

where  $A_{\mu}$  is a vector field and  $\phi$  is a scalar field. This replacement has the same structure as the linearised gauge symmetry we are aiming to restore and therefore  $\mathcal{L}_{GR}$  is invariant. The matter coupling is also invariant after integrating by parts and assuming that the energy-momentum tensor is conserved  $\partial_{\mu}T^{\mu\nu} = 0$ . The mass term does transform yielding

$$S = \int d^4x \left[ \mathcal{L}_{GR} - \frac{1}{2} m^2 (h_{\mu\nu} h^{\mu\nu} - h^2) - \frac{1}{2} m^2 F_{\mu\nu} F^{\mu\nu} - 2m^2 (h_{\mu\nu} \partial^{\mu} A^{\nu} - h \partial_{\mu} A^{\mu}) - 2m^2 (h_{\mu\nu} \partial^{\mu} \partial^{\nu} \phi - h \partial^2 \phi) + \frac{h_{\mu\nu} T^{\mu\nu}}{M_{\rm pl}} \right]$$
(5.5)

where  $F_{\mu\nu} = \partial_{\mu}A_{\nu} + \partial_{\nu}A_{\mu}$  and we have set a = -1 to avoid the scalar ghost. This action is invariant under the two gauge transformations

$$h_{\mu\nu} \to h_{\mu\nu} + \partial_{\mu}\xi_{\nu} + \partial_{\nu}\xi_{\mu}, \quad A_{\mu} \to A_{\mu} - \xi_{\mu}$$
 (5.6)

$$A_{\mu} \to A_{\mu} + \partial_{\mu}\Lambda, \quad \phi \to \phi - \Lambda$$
 (5.7)

and the linearised gauge symmetry of GR has been restored by virtue of (5.6).

Having restored the gauge redundancy we can readily take the massless limit by first making the rescalings  $A_{\mu} \to A_{\mu}/m$  and  $\phi \to \phi/m^2$  followed by  $m \to 0$ . The resulting action is

$$S = \int d^4x \left[ \mathcal{L}_{GR} - \frac{1}{2} F_{\mu\nu} F^{\mu\nu} - 2h_{\mu\nu} \partial^\mu \partial^\nu \phi + 2h \partial^2 \phi + \frac{h_{\mu\nu} T^{\mu\nu}}{M_{\rm pl}} \right].$$
(5.8)

However, at this stage the relevant couplings are not completely transparent because of the kinetic mixing between  $h_{\mu\nu}$  and  $\phi$  so we diagonalise by virtue of the field re-definition  $h_{\mu\nu} = \tilde{h}_{\mu\nu} + \eta_{\mu\nu}\phi$  yielding

$$S = \int d^4x \left[ \tilde{\mathcal{L}}_{GR} - \frac{1}{2} F_{\mu\nu} F^{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2} (\partial \phi)^2 + \frac{\tilde{h}_{\mu\nu} T^{\mu\nu}}{M_{pl}} + \frac{\phi T}{\sqrt{6}M_{pl}} \right]$$
(5.9)

where  $\hat{\mathcal{L}}_{GR}$  is the linearised kinetic structure of GR for the metric fluctuation  $\tilde{h}_{\mu\nu}$  and we have canonically normalised  $\phi$ . The five degrees of freedom of the massive graviton are now manifest even in the limit of vanishing mass. We have the two helicity degrees of freedom of a massless graviton which couples to the energy-momentum tensor as in GR, the two helicity degrees of freedom of a massless vector field which has decoupled from the energy-momentum tensor, and the single degree of freedom of a massless scalar field which, crucially, couples to the trace of the energy-momentum tensor with a coupling only a factor of  $\sqrt{6}$  weaker than gravitational strength. This coupling is the origin of the vDVZ discontinuity and explains why the massless limit of a linearised massive graviton results in different predictions compared to linearised GR.

To see this more clearly take a static point source of mass M such that  $T = -M\delta^3(\vec{x})$ , and assume a static and spherically symmetric solution for

longitudinal mode  $\phi = \phi(r)$ , then we have (e.g. [29])

$$\phi(r) = -\frac{M}{\sqrt{96\pi^2}M_{\rm pl}}\frac{1}{r}.$$
(5.10)

This solution has exactly the same form as the Newtonian potential and therefore the ratio between the scalar force due to the longitudinal mode and the Newtonian one is

$$\frac{F_{\phi}}{F_N} \sim \mathcal{O}(1) \tag{5.11}$$

as we discussed in the introduction.

The vDVZ discontinuity is actually unique for massive spin-2 particles being absent for spin-0 and spin-1. Its absence for spin-0 is obvious given that there is no discontinuity in the number of degrees of freedom for a massless and a massive scalar field, but it is less trivial for the spin-1 case as we shall now show.

Take the theory for a massive abelian vector field  $A_{\mu}$  coupled to a source  $J^{\mu}$ 

$$S = \int d^4x \left[ -\frac{1}{4} F_{\mu\nu} F^{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2} m^2 A_{\mu} A^{\mu} + A_{\mu} J^{\mu} \right]$$
(5.12)

which describes the correct number of three degrees of freedom. Two of these are the transverse modes of  $A_{\mu}$  and the other is the scalar longitudinal mode. The gauge symmetry associated with the massless spin-1 field is

$$A_{\mu} \to A_{\mu} + \partial_{\mu}\Lambda \tag{5.13}$$

which is broken only by the mass term if we assume that the source is conserved  $\partial_{\mu}J^{\mu} = 0$ . We now restore this symmetry using the Stükelberg trick as we did for the spin-2 case by making the following replacement in (5.12)

$$A_{\mu} \to A_{\mu} + \partial_{\mu}\phi \tag{5.14}$$

where again  $\phi$  is a scalar field. The resulting action after canonically normal-

ising  $\phi$  is

$$S = \int d^4x \left[ -\frac{1}{4} F_{\mu\nu} F^{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2} m^2 A_{\mu} A^{\mu} - \frac{1}{2} (\partial \phi)^2 - m \partial_{\mu} \phi A^{\mu} + A_{\mu} J^{\mu} \right] \quad (5.15)$$

where we have integrated by parts and used the fact that the source is conserved. This action is now invariant under the gauge symmetry

$$A_{\mu} \to A_{\mu} + \partial_{\mu}\Lambda, \quad \phi \to \phi - m\Lambda$$
 (5.16)

and we can readily take the  $m \to 0$  limit yielding

$$S = \int d^4x \left[ -\frac{1}{4} F_{\mu\nu} F^{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2} (\partial \phi)^2 + A_\mu J^\mu \right].$$
 (5.17)

The three degrees of freedom of the massive spin-1 field are manifest and split into the two helicity degrees of freedom of a massless vector and the single degree of freedom of a massless scalar, but in contrast to the spin-2 case, the scalar degree of freedom has completely decoupled and there is no vDVZ discontinuity.

#### 5.1.2 Non-linear massive spin-2 part I

In any case, the linearised action is not the full story and the effective field theory (EFT) of a massive graviton will contain non-linear corrections to (5.1). These interactions can correct both the kinetic structure as is the case in GR, and the non-derivative sector by virtue of a more general potential in addition to the Fierz-Pauli mass term. We shall continue to assume an Einstein-Hilbert structure in the kinetic sector such that the non-linear completion there is given by the Ricci scalar (see e.g. [114, 115] for a discussion on other possibilities), if we restrict ourselves to two derivatives. There are also infinitely many nonderivative operators we can write down. Our only requirement of the non-linear theory at this stage is that it reduces to (5.1) in the linearised limit.

For the moment we will ignore higher order potential terms and concentrate on non-linear interactions in the kinetic sector such that our non-linear theory is GR with the Fierz-Pauli mass term and is given by

$$S = \frac{M_{\rm pl}^2}{2} \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} \left[ R - \frac{m^2}{4} g^{\mu\alpha} g^{\nu\beta} (h_{\mu\nu} h_{\alpha\beta} - h_{\mu\alpha} h_{\nu\beta}) \right] + S_m(g_{\mu\nu}, \Phi) \quad (5.18)$$

where  $g_{\mu\nu} = \eta_{\mu\nu} + h_{\mu\nu}$ . In the presence of a source of mass M and with a spherically symmetrical geometry, Vainshtein found that the non-linearities of (5.18) became important at a scale [38]

$$r_V \sim \left(\frac{M}{m^4 M_{\rm pl}^2}\right)^{1/5} \tag{5.19}$$

which we refer to as the Vainshtein radius. At distance scales below  $r_V$ , the linearised truncation (5.1) is no longer valid and we must consider the full non-linear structure to make predictions. Vainshtein's primary observation was that in the limit  $m \to 0$  we have  $r_V \to \infty$  such that we can *never* trust the linearised approximation for asymptotically small graviton masses. In other words, the calculation which leads to the vDVZ discontinuity is outside the regime of validity of the linearised theory and we should therefore revisit the issue in a full non-linear completion of massive gravity.

To understand the origin of the Vainshtein radius let us again restore the gauge invariance broken by the mass term to make the degrees of freedom and their interactions manifest. However, here the gauge invariance we wish to restore is the full non-linear diffeomorphism invariance of GR which is a metric transformation of the form

$$g_{\mu\nu}(x) \to \frac{\partial f^{\alpha}}{\partial x^{\mu}} \frac{\partial f^{\beta}}{\partial x^{\nu}} g_{\alpha\beta}(f(x))$$
 (5.20)

where f(x) are arbitrary functions. We refer the reader to [58,113] for a detailed discussion as to how this redundancy is restored, here we merely state that we must make the following replacement in the action (5.18)

$$h_{\mu\nu} \to H_{\mu\nu} = h_{\mu\nu} + 2\partial_{(\mu}A_{\nu)} + 2\partial_{\mu}\partial_{\nu}\phi - \partial_{\mu}A^{\alpha}\partial_{\nu}A_{\alpha} - \partial_{\mu}A^{\alpha}\partial_{\nu}\partial_{\alpha}\phi - \partial_{\mu}\partial^{\alpha}\phi\partial_{\nu}A_{\alpha} - \partial_{\mu}\partial^{\alpha}\phi\partial_{\nu}\partial_{\alpha}\phi.$$
(5.21)

This leads to a bunch of interaction terms involving  $\hat{h}_{\mu\nu}$ ,  $\hat{A}_{\mu}$  and  $\hat{\phi}$  which are canonically normalised fields related to the fields in (5.21) by

$$\hat{h}_{\mu\nu} = \frac{M_{\rm pl}}{2} h_{\mu\nu}, \quad \hat{A}_{\mu} = \frac{mM_{\rm pl}}{2} A_{\mu}, \quad \hat{\phi} = \frac{m^2 M_{\rm pl}}{2\sqrt{6}} \phi.$$
 (5.22)

The generic form of these interactions is schematically [113]

$$\Lambda^{4-a-2b-3c}_{(n)}\hat{h}^a(\partial \hat{A})^b(\partial^2\hat{\phi})^c \tag{5.23}$$

where  $a + b + c \ge 3$ . The scales  $\Lambda_{(n)}$  are given by

$$\Lambda_{(n)} = (m^{n-1}M_{\rm pl})^{1/n} \tag{5.24}$$

where

$$n = \frac{4 - a - 2b - 3c}{2 - a - b - c}.$$
(5.25)

If we assume  $m < M_{\rm pl}$ , then the smallest scale is given by the largest value of n which turns out to correspond to a cubic  $\hat{\phi}$  interaction suppressed by

$$\Lambda_{(5)} = (m^4 M_{\rm pl})^{1/5}. \tag{5.26}$$

This cubic interaction is therefore the leading order non-linearity and since the Vainshtein radius (5.19) we are trying to understand was related to the onset of non-linearities, let us zoom in on the related dynamics. To do so we take the following decoupling limit

$$m \to 0, \quad M_{\rm pl} \to \infty, \quad T \to \infty, \quad \Lambda_5, \frac{T}{M_{\rm pl}} \quad \text{fixed}$$
 (5.27)

which ensures that all interactions between  $\hat{h}_{\mu\nu}$ ,  $\hat{A}_{\mu}$  and  $\hat{\phi}$  other than the  $\hat{\phi}$  cubic interaction vanish. The resulting action, in comparison to the linear case, contains kinetic mixing between  $\hat{h}_{\mu\nu}$  and  $\hat{\phi}$  which again we diagonalise by the

field re-definition  $\hat{h}_{\mu\nu} \rightarrow \tilde{h}_{\mu\nu} + \eta_{\mu\nu}m^2 \hat{\phi}$  yielding

$$S = \int d^4x \left[ \tilde{\mathcal{L}}_{GR} - \frac{1}{4} \hat{F}_{\mu\nu} \hat{F}^{\mu\nu} + \frac{\tilde{h}_{\mu\nu} T^{\mu\nu}}{M_{\rm pl}} - \frac{1}{2} (\partial \hat{\phi})^2 + \frac{c}{\Lambda_{(5)}^5} \left( (\Box \hat{\phi})^3 - \Box \hat{\phi} \partial_\mu \partial_\nu \hat{\phi} \partial^\mu \partial^\nu \hat{\phi} \right) + \frac{\hat{\phi} T}{\sqrt{6} M_{\rm pl}} \right]$$
(5.28)

where  $c \sim \mathcal{O}(1)$  is a constant. It is easy to see that in the limit  $\Lambda_{(5)} \to \infty$  the action reduces to (5.9). However, with finite  $\Lambda_{(5)}$  the non-linearities play a non-trivial role and will become important at some scale spoiling the  $\hat{\phi}$  linearised solution (5.10). This scale can be estimated by comparing the linear and non-linear terms in (5.28) and asking when they become comparable i.e. at what scale does

$$\frac{\partial^4 \hat{\phi}}{\Lambda_{(5)}^5} \sim \mathcal{O}(1)? \tag{5.29}$$

If we plug in the solution (5.10) then we find that the linearised truncation breaks down at

$$r_V \sim \frac{1}{\Lambda_{(5)}} \left(\frac{M}{M_{\rm pl}}\right)^{1/5} = \left(\frac{M}{m^4 M_{\rm pl}^2}\right)^{1/5}$$
 (5.30)

where we have used  $\Lambda_{(5)} = (m^4 M_{\rm pl})^{1/5}$ . This is precisely the Vainshtein radius we quoted above. We now understand it as the scale where the non-linearities of the longitudinal mode of the massive graviton become important. This makes it clear that the Vainshtein radius is nothing more than the largest distance scale at which *tree level* perturbation theory breaks down. For GR, the Vainstein radius is therefore the Schwarzschild radius since as we discussed in the introduction, this is simply the scale where the non-linearities of GR become important.

This exercise has also taught us that this non-linear completion of (5.1) is pathological and contains a scalar ghost. We can see this explicitly in the equation of motion for  $\hat{\phi}$ 

$$\Box \hat{\phi} + \frac{6c}{\Lambda_5^5} \left[ \Box \hat{\phi} \Box^2 \hat{\phi} - \partial^{\mu} \partial^{\nu} \hat{\phi} \partial_{\mu} \Box \hat{\phi} \right] + \frac{3c}{\Lambda_5^5} \left[ \partial_{\mu} \Box \hat{\phi} \partial^{\mu} \Box \hat{\phi} - \partial_{\mu} \partial^{\alpha} \partial^{\beta} \hat{\phi} \partial^{\mu} \partial_{\alpha} \partial_{\beta} \hat{\phi} \right] = -\frac{T}{6M_{\rm pl}} \quad (5.31)$$

which is fourth order and therefore by Ostrogradski's theorem [116] describes at least one ghostly degree of freedom. Indeed, a full Hamiltonian analysis of (5.18) confirms that this theory propagates six degrees of freedom rather than the five modes of a health massive graviton. The extra ghostly degree of freedom is known as the *Boulware-Deser ghost* [117] and to avoid it we must include non-derivative interactions to (5.18). We shall discuss these now followed by a discussion of the importance of the Vainshtein radius in the context of suppressing scalar forces.

#### 5.1.3 Non-linear massive spin-2 part II

We now include non-derivative interactions which form a potential for the graviton. There is no known symmetry that fixes the co-efficients between the non-linear operators in the graviton's potential so we include them all with arbitrary couplings. If we assume that the potential reduces to the Fierz-Pauli mass term in the linearised limit then the generic non-linear theory with at most two derivatives is

$$S = \frac{M_{\rm pl}^2}{2} \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} \left[ R - \frac{m^2}{4} V(g, h) \right]$$
(5.32)

where  $g_{\mu\nu} = \eta_{\mu\nu} + h_{\mu\nu}$  and  $V(g,h) = V_2(g,h) + V_3(g,h) + V_4(g,h) + \dots$  is the potential of which there are an infinite number of terms. The first five are

$$V_2(g,h) = [h^2] - [h]^2$$
(5.33)

$$V_3(g,h) = c_1[h^3] + c_2[h]^2[h] + c_3[h]^3$$
(5.34)

$$V_4(g,h) = d_1[h^4] + d_2[h^3][h] + d_3[h^2]^2 + d_4[h^2][h]^2 + d_5[h]^4$$
(5.35)

$$V_5(g,h) = f_1[h^5] + f_2[h^4][h] + f_3[h^3][h]^2 + f_4[h^3][h^2]$$
(5.36)

$$+f_5[h^2]^2[h] + f_6[h^2][h]^3 + f_7[h]^5$$
(5.37)

where square brackets denote a trace with respect to the full metric  $g_{\mu\nu}$ . For example,  $[h]^2 = g^{\mu\nu}h_{\mu\nu}g^{\alpha\beta}h_{\alpha\beta}$  and  $[h^2] = g^{\mu\alpha}g^{\nu\beta}h_{\alpha\beta}h_{\mu\nu}$ . Again, if we restore the non-linear gauge symmetry of GR by making the replacement (5.21), we get a bunch of interactions between the canonically normalised fields  $\hat{h}_{\mu\nu}$ ,  $\hat{A}_{\mu}$  and  $\hat{\phi}$  suppressed by one of the scales  $\Lambda_{(n)}$ .

For generic co-efficients in the potential we still have an issue since the Boulware-Deser ghost remains thanks to derivative  $\hat{\phi}$  interactions as was the case for (5.18). However, it was shown in [118,119] by de Rham, Gabadadze and Tolley that with a particular tuning between the co-efficients in the potential, the lowest scale in the theory can be raised from  $\Lambda_{(5)} = (m^4 M_{\rm pl})^{1/5}$  to  $\Lambda_{(3)} = (m^2 M_{\rm pl})^{1/3}$  and at the same time, at least in the decoupling limit, the Boulware-Deser ghost is removed. It was then shown in [120] by Hassan and Rosen, using a full Hamiltonian analysis, that with this tuning the full non-linear theory describes the correct number of five degrees of freedom confirming that the Boulware-Deser ghost is absent at all orders. In [121], Hassan and Rosen then presented a ghost free bi-gravity theory where the reference metric in massive gravity has its own dynamics. This theory has a number of neat features, not least a smooth limit to GR which does not rely on the Vainshtein mechanism. One can simply decouple the massive modes, leaving only the massless ones (see [122, 123] for more details).

The full structure of this potential can be found in [118–120] and again we zoom in on the leading order interactions responsible for the break down of linearity. These are again due to the longitudinal mode  $\hat{\phi}$  and become manifest in the following decoupling limit

$$m \to 0, \quad M_{\rm pl} \to \infty, \quad \Lambda_3 \text{ fixed.}$$
 (5.38)

The resulting action retains some  $\hat{h}_{\mu\nu}$ ,  $\hat{\phi}$  mixing and all but one of these interactions can be removed with local field re-definitions yielding

$$S = \int d^4x \left[ \hat{\mathcal{L}}_{GR} + \frac{\hat{h}_{\mu\nu}T^{\mu\nu}}{M_{\rm pl}} - \frac{1}{2} (\partial\hat{\phi})^2 + \frac{\alpha_1}{\Lambda^3_{(3)}} (\partial\hat{\phi})^2 \Box \hat{\phi} + \frac{\alpha_2}{\Lambda^6_{(3)}} (\partial\hat{\phi})^2 \left( [\hat{\Pi}]^2 - [\hat{\Pi}^2] \right) + \frac{\alpha_3}{\Lambda^9_{(3)}} (\partial\hat{\phi})^2 \left( [\hat{\Pi}]^3 - 3[\hat{\Pi}^2] [\hat{\Pi}] + 2[\hat{\Pi}^3] \right) - \frac{\alpha_4}{\Lambda^6_{(3)}} \hat{h}^{\mu\nu} \hat{X}_{\mu\nu} + \frac{\hat{\phi}T}{\sqrt{6}M_{\rm pl}} + \frac{\alpha_5}{\Lambda^3_{(3)}} \partial_\mu \hat{\phi} \partial_\nu \hat{\phi} T^{\mu\nu} \right]$$

$$(5.39)$$

where  $\hat{\Pi}_{\mu\nu} = \partial_{\mu}\partial_{\nu}\hat{\phi}$  and square brackets again denote a trace e.g.  $[\hat{\Pi}] =$ 

$$\eta^{\mu\nu}\partial_{\mu}\partial_{\nu}\hat{\phi}, \ [\hat{\Pi}^{2}] = \partial^{\mu}\partial^{\nu}\hat{\phi}\partial_{\mu}\partial_{\nu}\hat{\phi}.$$
 We have also defined  
$$\hat{X}_{\mu\nu} = ([\hat{\Pi}]^{3} - 3[\hat{\Pi}][\hat{\Pi}^{3}] + 2[\hat{\Pi}^{3}])\eta_{\mu\nu} - 3([\hat{\Pi}]^{2} - [\hat{\Pi}^{2}])\Pi_{\mu\nu} + 6[\hat{\Pi}]\hat{\Pi}_{\mu\nu}^{2} - 6\Pi_{\mu\nu}^{3}$$
(5.40)

which satisfies  $\partial_{\mu} \hat{X}^{\mu\nu} = 0$ . The dimensionless co-efficients  $\alpha_i$  depend on the tuned co-efficients in the potential and their exact form can be found in [58]. The special structure of the derivative self-interactions of  $\hat{\phi}$  in (5.39) ensures that its equation of motion is second order, representing the fact that there is no Boulware-Deser ghost. Now that we have a ghost free theory we shall study the Vainshtein mechanism in more detail.

Again, in the limit  $\Lambda_{(3)} \to \infty$ , the linear solution for  $\hat{\phi}$  is given by (5.10), but as long as  $\Lambda_{(3)}$  is finite the non-linear  $\hat{\phi}$  terms will spoil this solution at the Vainshtein radius. Since the structure of the these interactions differs to those of (5.28), the Vainshtein radius will also differ and to extract it let us study a subset of (5.39) by setting  $\alpha_2 = \alpha_3 = \alpha_4 = \alpha_5 = 0$  such that action for the longitudinal mode is

$$S = \int d^4x \left[ -\frac{1}{2} (\partial \hat{\phi})^2 + \frac{\alpha_1}{\Lambda^3_{(3)}} (\partial \hat{\phi})^2 \Box \hat{\phi} + \frac{\hat{\phi}T}{\sqrt{6}M_{\rm pl}} \right].$$
(5.41)

To extract the Vainshtein radius we again compare the linear and non-linear terms such that the linearised solution breaks down when

$$\frac{\partial^2 \hat{\phi}}{\Lambda^3_{(3)}} \sim \mathcal{O}(1) \tag{5.42}$$

which corresponds to a scale

$$r_V \sim \frac{1}{\Lambda_{(3)}} \left(\frac{M}{M_{\rm pl}}\right)^{1/3} = \left(\frac{M}{m^2 M_{\rm pl}^2}\right)^{1/3}$$
 (5.43)

where we have used  $\Lambda_{(3)} = (m^2 M_{\rm pl})^{1/3}$ . This is the Vainshtein radius for dRGT massive gravity and in comparison to the ghostly case above, it is simply the largest distance scale at which tree level perturbation theory breaks down in the presence of a massive source.

We shall now show how below the Vainshtein radius the force due to the

longitudinal mode is suppressed relative to the Newtonian one. Within the Vainshtein radius we must consider the full non-linear field equation for  $\hat{\phi}(r)$ . For  $r \ll r_V$  the form of the solution can be extracted by dimensional analysis and is given by

$$\hat{\phi}(r) \sim \Lambda_{(3)}^{3/2} \left(\frac{M}{M_{\rm pl}}\right)^{1/2} \sqrt{r}$$
 (5.44)

which no longer looks like the Newtonian potential. Indeed, the ratio between the scalar force and the Newtonian one is now

$$\frac{F_{\phi}}{F_{\rm N}} \sim \left(\frac{r}{r_V}\right)^{3/2} \tag{5.45}$$

which is small as long as  $r \ll r_V$ . This is the Vainshtein mechansim. The onset of non-linearities causes the scalar force to become much smaller than the Newtonian one, thereby suppressing the effects of deviations from GR in well tested regimes.

For a clearer picture of how the mechanism works let us expand the action (5.41) around some background solution  $\hat{\phi}(x) = \bar{\phi}(x) + \pi(x)$ ,  $T = \bar{T} + \delta T$  thereby making connection with our discussion of screening mechanisms in the introduction. At quadratic order in fluctuations the action reduces to

$$S = \int d^4x \left[ -\frac{1}{2} Z^{\mu\nu} [\bar{\phi}] \partial_\mu \pi \partial_\nu \pi + \frac{\pi \delta T}{\sqrt{6} M_{\rm pl}} \right]$$
(5.46)

where

$$Z^{\mu\nu}[\bar{\phi}] = \eta^{\mu\nu} \left[ 1 - \frac{4\alpha_1}{\Lambda^3_{(3)}} \Box \bar{\phi} \right] + \frac{4\alpha_1}{\Lambda^3_{(3)}} \partial^{\mu} \partial^{\nu} \bar{\phi}$$
(5.47)

and again we refer to Z as the Z-factor. When  $Z \sim \mathcal{O}(1)$  i.e. when the non-linearities are suppressed, the scalar fluctuation couples to the trace of the energy-momentum tensor with gravitational strength providing a force comparable to the Newtonian one. However, when  $\partial \partial \hat{\phi} \gg \Lambda^3_{(3)}$  the Z factor becomes large, and upon canonically normalising, the scalar fluctuation couples to the trace of the energy-momentum tensor with a strength  $\frac{1}{\sqrt{Z}M_{\rm pl}} \ll \frac{1}{M_{\rm pl}}$ . This weakening of the  $\pi$  coupling to matter ensures that the scalar force becomes negligible and allows the theory to mimic GR.

#### 5.1.4 Galileons and beyond

So far we have discussed the Vainshtein mechanism in the context of massive gravity since this was its origin, but it is by no means special to massive gravity. Indeed, there are other non-linear scalar field theories which inherit the Vainshtein mechanism which can never appear in the effective theory of a massive graviton. Recall the replacement in equation (5.21) which we were required to make to restore the non-linear gauge invariance in massive gravity. The longitudinal mode only ever appeared with at least two derivatives and the resulting gauge invariant action was therefore also guaranteed to be invariant under the *global* symmetry

$$\phi(x) \to \phi(x) + b_{\mu}x^{\mu} + c \tag{5.48}$$

where  $b_{\mu}$  and c are constants. In fact, this symmetry along with the requirement of ghost freedom uniquely fixes the  $\phi$  derivative self-interactions of (5.39). The only scalar field theory which is invariant under (5.48) and has second order field equations in four space-time dimensions is

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{gal}} = \sum_{m=1}^{5} c_m \Lambda^{6-3m} \mathcal{L}_m \tag{5.49}$$

where

$$\mathcal{L}_1 = \phi \tag{5.50}$$

$$\mathcal{L}_2 = (\partial \phi)^2 \tag{5.51}$$

$$\mathcal{L}_3 = (\partial \phi)^2 [\Pi] \tag{5.52}$$

$$\mathcal{L}_4 = (\partial \phi)^2 ([\Pi]^2 - [\Pi^2])$$
(5.53)

$$\mathcal{L}_5 = (\partial \phi)^2 ([\Pi]^3 - 3[\Pi][\Pi^2] + 2[\Pi^3]).$$
(5.54)

(5.55)

Here  $\phi$  is known as the *galileon* and the symmetry (5.48) is the *galileon symmetry*. try. More generally, in D space-time dimensions there are D+1 terms invariant under (5.48) with second order field equations. The galileon symmetry first arose in the decoupling of the Dvali-Gabadadze-Porrati (DGP) brane-world model [124]. In DGP, gravity behaves like four dimensional GR below some length scale  $L_{\rm DGP}$ , but at distances larger than  $L_{\rm DGP}$  gravity becomes five dimensional and weaker. The critical length scale is usually taken to be of order the current Hubble scale  $L_{\rm DGP} \sim 1/H_0$  motivated by the current acceleration of the universe. After integrating out the bulk degrees of freedom one finds an effective four dimensional action which consists of the usual massless graviton of GR, but also a scalar degree of freedom with the *cubic* galileon derivative self-interaction (5.52) suppressed by a scale  $\Lambda_{\rm DGP} = (M_{\rm pl}/L_{\rm DGP}^2)^{1/3}$  [125]. This is precisely the  $\Lambda_{(3)}$  scale in massive gravity if we identify  $L_{\rm DGP}$  with the Compton wavelength of the graviton. The remaining terms were presented in [126] and the model was extended to a bi-galileon theory in [127].

The galileons have received much attention as field theories in their own right given their neat properties. Most interestingly, a large class of scattering amplitudes were studied in [128] and it was concluded that the quartic interaction (5.53) was special among the full class of galileon interactions. It was shown that in the limit where the momentum of one external leg is taken soft, the quartic galileon theory had an enhanced soft limit such that scattering amplitudes begin at a higher order in z where the soft particle has momentum zp and the soft limit is  $z \to 0$ . This phenomena was explained in [129] and attributed to an extended symmetry of the quartic galileon which is quadratic in the space-time co-ordinates. Another interesting property of the galileons is that the co-efficients  $c_m$  are not re-normalised at any order in perturbation theory [125, 130]. Only operators with at least two derivatives on each field are generated quantum mechanically.

In any case, the galileon symmetry ensures that no operators of the form  $(\partial \phi)^{2n}$  with n > 1 enter the effective field theory of a massive graviton. These operators are invariant under the minimal shift symmetry  $\phi(x) \rightarrow \phi(x) + c$ , where c is a constant, but not the galileon symmetry. Yet a theory with these interactions will have a Vainshtein mechanism due to the presence of non-linear derivative interactions. To see this let us consider the most simple example of

this type

$$S = \int d^4x \left[ -\frac{1}{2} (\partial \phi)^2 + \frac{c_1}{\Lambda^4} (\partial \phi)^4 + \frac{g\phi T}{M_{\rm pl}} \right]$$
(5.56)

where  $c_1, g \sim \mathcal{O}(1)$  are dimensionless coupling constants and  $\phi$  can be thought of as the goldstone boson of a broken U(1) symmetry. The coupling to matter does not break the shift symmetry since with  $\partial_{\mu}T^{\mu}{}_{\nu} = 0$  we can write

$$\frac{g\phi T}{M_{\rm pl}} = \frac{g\phi}{M_{\rm pl}} \partial_{\mu} (x^{\nu} T^{\mu}{}_{\nu}) \tag{5.57}$$

which is a total derivative under the shift symmetry. In the linearised limit, the static and spherically symmetric solution for  $\phi$  in the presence of a static point source of mass M is again given by (5.10). The Vainshtein radius is now the scale at which

$$\frac{(\partial \phi)^2}{\Lambda^4} \sim \mathcal{O}(1) \tag{5.58}$$

which occurs at

$$r_V = \frac{1}{\Lambda} \left(\frac{M}{M_{\rm pl}}\right)^{1/2}.$$
(5.59)

The difference between this Vainshtein radius and the one associated with galileons and dRGT massive gravity, is the  $\sim M^{1/2}$  behaviour instead of  $\sim M^{1/3}$ . Inside  $r_V$ , the non-linear solution is, by dimensional analysis,

$$\phi(r) \sim \Lambda^{4/3} \left(\frac{M}{M_{\rm pl}}\right)^{1/3} r^{1/3}$$
 (5.60)

and the ratio between the scalar force and the Newtonian one is

$$\frac{F_{\phi}}{F_N} \sim \left(\frac{r}{r_V}\right)^{4/3}.\tag{5.61}$$

Therefore, as was the case for non-linear massive gravity, on distance scales  $r \ll r_V$ , the scalar force is suppressed relative to the Newtonian. However here the suppression is faster and the Vainshtein mechanism is more efficient.

#### 5.1.5 Positivity conditions

An important feature of the Vainshtein mechanism is the intricate link between the sign of the co-efficient  $c_1$  in (5.56) and the nature of the background solution where we wish to screen. From an effective field theory point of view, and in the absence of details about the UV completion, the co-efficients of irrelevant operators are arbitrary and should be fixed by observations. However, we can only realise the Vainshtein mechanism with a particular choice. To see this for (5.56) we expand the action to quadratic order  $\phi(x) \rightarrow \bar{\phi}(x) + \pi(x), T + \bar{T} + \delta T$ yielding

$$S = \int d^4x \left[ -\frac{1}{2} Z^{\mu\nu} [\bar{\phi}] \partial_\mu \pi \partial_\nu \pi + \frac{g \pi \delta T}{M_{\rm pl}} \right]$$
(5.62)

with

$$Z^{\mu\nu}[\bar{\phi}] = \eta^{\mu\nu} \left[ 1 - \frac{4c_1}{\Lambda^4} (\partial\bar{\phi})^2 \right] - \frac{8c_1}{\Lambda^4} \partial^{\mu}\bar{\phi}\partial^{\nu}\bar{\phi}.$$
 (5.63)

If we initially specialise to static and spherically symmetric solutions  $\bar{\phi} = \bar{\phi}(r)$ then the components of the Z factor are

$$Z^{tt} = -1 + \frac{4c_1}{\Lambda^4} \bar{\phi}^{\prime 2} \tag{5.64}$$

$$Z^{ti} = 0 \tag{5.65}$$

$$Z^{ij} = \delta^{ij} \left( 1 - \frac{4c_1}{\Lambda^4} \bar{\phi}^{\prime 2} \right) - \frac{8c_1}{\Lambda^4} \partial^i \bar{\phi} \partial^j \bar{\phi}.$$
 (5.66)

To retain three positive and one negative eigenvalue of Z throughout evolution we therefore require  $c_1 < 0$ . If we have  $c_1 > 0$ , near the Vainshtein scale the fluctuation  $\pi$  becomes infinitely strongly coupled. A solution where  $\bar{\phi}(r)$  dies off at infinity only exists for all r > 0 if we set  $c_1 < 0$ . The opposite is true for time-dependent, homogeneous configurations. Indeed, if we set  $\bar{\phi} = \bar{\phi}(t)$  then the components of the Z factor are

$$Z^{tt} = -1 - \frac{12c_1}{\Lambda^4} \dot{\bar{\phi}}^2 \tag{5.67}$$

$$Z^{ti} = 0 \tag{5.68}$$

$$Z^{ij} = \delta^{ij} \left( 1 + \frac{4c_1}{\Lambda^4} \dot{\phi}^2 \right) \tag{5.69}$$

and we therefore require  $c_1 > 0$  to retain three positive and one negative eigenvalue and to realise the Vainshtein mechanism. So the sign of  $c_1$  is crucial in determining whether the Vainshtein mechanism can be employed or not. This turns out to be an important result since there are more fundamental constraints one can place on the coupling constants of leading order irrelevant operators as discussed in [131]. By studying  $2 \rightarrow 2$  scattering amplitudes at tree level, here we use the standard definition of the Mandelstam s, t, uvariables, it was concluded in [131] that in the forward limit  $(t \rightarrow 0)$ , the coefficient of  $s^2$  must be *strictly positive* if the UV completion is Lorentz invariant with an analytic S-matrix. Therefore, this positivity condition must be satisfied if the high energy theory is a local QFT or weakly coupled string theory. The  $2 \rightarrow 2$  scattering amplitude for (5.56) is (e.g. [29])

$$\mathcal{A}(s,t) = \frac{2c_1}{\Lambda^4}(s^2 + t^2 + u^2) = \frac{4c_1}{\Lambda^4}(s^2 + t^2 + st)$$
(5.70)

where we have used s + t + u = 0 since the shift symmetry ensures  $\phi$  is massless. We therefore require  $c_1 > 0$  if the theory has a hope of being UV completed in a standard way. This is very interesting from the point of view of the Vainshtein mechanism. As we have just discussed, we can only reliably screen scalar forces on static backgrounds in (5.56) if the co-efficient of the leading order irrelevant operator is negative! This is in stark violation of the positivity condition coming from scattering amplitudes. This suggests one cannot implement the Vainshtein mechanism in (5.56) to suppress scalar forces in the solar system while describing the low energy limit of a local, Lorentz invariant UV completion. However, we also saw above that we require  $c_1 > 0$ to screen on homogeneous backgrounds, in which case the screening condition coincides with the positivity condition from scattering amplitudes.

The situation is even worse for galileons since the positivity conditions can never be satisfied. This is a consequence of the galileon symmetry (5.48) and the fact that the operator  $(\partial \phi)^4 / \Lambda^4$  is absent from the galileon effective field theory. Indeed, the  $2 \rightarrow 2$  scattering amplitude for galileons begins at  $s^3$  rather than  $s^2$  such that the co-efficient of  $s^2$  vanishes. The galileon theory therefore violates the positivity conditions for all choices of the coupling constants and the results of [131] suggest that it cannot be UV completed into a local QFT or weakly coupled string theory. This is one of the main issues facing theories with a Vainshtein mechanism. However, interestingly it has been argued in [132] that even though massive gravity is strongly associated with galileons, these results do not extend to the full non-linear theory beyond the decoupling limit and that a small parameter space of dRGT massive gravity is consistent with analyticity constraints.

### 5.2 Strong coupling scales

By dimensional analysis, the irrelevant operators required to realise the Vainshtein mechanism are suppressed by a dimensionful energy scale. In the decoupling limit of massive gravity this scale is a particular combination of the graviton mass and the Planck scale, depending on the type of interaction. In the decoupling limit of DGP gravity it depends on the critical length  $L_{\text{DGP}}$ and the Planck scale. In other theories it is a mass scale in its own right, at least in effective field theory. In any case, this scale is the quantum strong coupling scale where *loop perturbation theory* breaks down. For example, consider the galileon theory (5.49) where the  $\phi$  propagator goes like  $1/p^2$  with p the 4-momentum. The cubic interaction (5.52) corrects this tree level propagator at 1-loop via the diagram



The correction is of the form

$$\frac{1}{p^2} \frac{p^6}{\Lambda^6} \tag{5.71}$$

and is therefore only perturbative for processes with  $p < \Lambda$ . As energies reach the strong coupling scale, the 1-loop correction becomes important and loop perturbation theory breaks down. It is also where perturbative unitarity breaks down given that the  $2 \rightarrow 2$  scattering amplitude in the cubic galileon model is (see e.g. [131])

$$\mathcal{A}(s,t) \sim \frac{s^3 + t^3 + u^3}{\Lambda^6} + \mathcal{O}(s^4, t^4, u^4)$$
(5.72)

and therefore the S-matrix is only exactly unitary if  $p < \Lambda$ . A plays the same role for the scalar interactions as  $M_{\rm pl}$  does for the spin-2 interactions in GR. This behaviour usually points to the need for a UV completion where new degrees of freedom extend the theory beyond the scale  $\Lambda$  by restoring unitarity. This is the primary role of the Higgs in the standard model where it preserves unitarity in the scattering of W-bosons.

Let us stick with massive gravity for now and explore the size of the scales  $\Lambda_{(n)}$ . Massive gravity is most often employed as a long distance modification of gravity and one takes  $m \sim 10^{-33}$ eV such that the Compton wavelength of the graviton is of order the current Hubble scale  $H_0$ . Inserting this value and that of the Planck mass  $M_{\rm pl} \sim 10^{27}$ eV into  $\Lambda_{(n)} = (m^{n-1}M_{\rm pl})^{1/n}$  yields

$$\Lambda_{(n)} = 10^{(60-33n)/n} \text{eV}.$$
(5.73)

The lowest scale in ghost free massive gravity is  $\Lambda_{(3)}$  which corresponds to

$$\Lambda_{(3)} \sim 10^{-13} \text{eV} = 10^{-40} M_{\text{pl}}.$$
 (5.74)

More illustratively, this corresponds to a distance scale of 1000km and ensures that we cannot use the dRGT theory of massive gravity to make predictions for Earth based tests of gravity. Below 1000km the gravitational potential is swamped by quantum effects, and we require a (partial) UV completion to keep control on these distance scales. As we discussed above, this is also the scale where interactions become strongly coupled in DGP if we take  $L_{\text{DGP}} = 1/H_0$ . In both cases it is the interactions of a scalar field which become strong and therefore our desire to realise interesting gravitational effects on Hubble scales, by introducing new scalar degrees of freedom, restricts our ability to make predictions for local experiments.
We are now in a position to calculate the Vainshtein radius (5.43) associated with dRGT massive gravity. To do so we also need to specify the mass of the source M and since our aim is to suppress forces in the solar system, we use the mass of the Sun such that  $M \sim 10^{66}$  eV. The Vainshtein radius is therefore

$$r_V = \frac{1}{\Lambda_{(3)}} \left(\frac{M}{M_{\rm pl}}\right)^{1/3} \sim 10^{21} {\rm cm}$$
 (5.75)

which is way beyond the size of the solar system. This is also much larger than the Schwarzschild radius, or the Vainhstein radius, of GR because of the huge hierarchy between  $\Lambda_{(3)}$  and  $M_{\rm pl}$ . To calculate the gravitational potential due to the Sun in dRGT massive gravity at a distance  $10^{21}$ cm away, we must therefore include non-linear effects!

In the previous section we understood the Vainshtein mechanism as the weakening of the coupling between matter and the scalar fluctuation  $\pi$  thanks to derivative non-linearities becoming large. We saw this explicitly for the cubic galileon theory, but in (5.46) we ignored self-interactions of the fluctuation. The full action for  $\pi$  is

$$S = \int d^4x \left[ -\frac{1}{2} Z^{\mu\nu} [\bar{\phi}] \partial_\mu \pi \partial_\nu \pi + \frac{\alpha_1}{\Lambda^3_{(3)}} (\partial \pi)^2 \Box \pi + \frac{\pi \delta T}{\sqrt{6} M_{\rm pl}} \right].$$
(5.76)

Evaluating the Z factor (5.47) inside the Vainshtein radius using the solution (5.44) yields

$$S \sim \int d^4x \left[ \left( \frac{r_V}{r} \right)^{3/2} \left( \dot{\pi}^2 - \frac{4}{3} \pi'^2 - (\partial_\Omega \pi)^2 \right) + \frac{\alpha_1}{\Lambda_{(3)}^3} (\partial \pi)^2 \Box \pi + \frac{\pi \delta T}{\sqrt{6} M_{\rm pl}} \right]$$
(5.77)

where  $\Omega$  denotes the angular co-ordinates. The kinetic term has a large enhancement inside  $r_V$  so we canonically normalise. The resulting coupling to matter is weakened as we saw earlier, but the strong coupling scale of the  $\pi$  interaction is also altered to

$$\tilde{\Lambda}_{(3)}(x) = \left(\frac{r_V}{r}\right)^{3/4} \Lambda_{(3)} \gg \Lambda_{(3)}$$
(5.78)

which we refer to as the environmental strong coupling scale. Qualitatively, the derivative interactions correct the  $\pi$  propagator on non-trivial backgrounds and after canonical normalisation,  $\pi$  scattering becomes strong at a scale dependent on the environmental parameters. The strong coupling scale  $\Lambda_{(3)}$  we have been discussing up to this point can be considered as a vacuum scale associated with scattering  $\pi$ 's on a background with  $\bar{\phi} = 0$ .

It was argued in [40] that quantum effects can be ignored until this new strong coupling scale. Their results were guided by the fact that even when the derivative interactions become large, the classical theory is well behaved. For a generic theory with higher order derivatives, ghost instabilities would be problematic and one would need quantum effects to cure the instability before the non-linearities kick in. However, when ghosts do not appear, one can trust the classical non-linear effects and compute quantum corrections on a non-trivial background  $\bar{\phi} \neq 0$  with a large Z factor. Quantum corrections then also receive Z factor suppression and the theory remains perturbative down to distances  $\tilde{\Lambda}^{-1}$ . It was suggested that no new degrees of freedom enter the effective action until we reach this environmental strong coupling scale.

For DGP with  $L_{\text{DGP}} \sim H_0^{-1}$  at the surface of the Earth, the strong coupling scale is increased by 8 orders of magnitude to  $\tilde{\Lambda}_{\oplus}^{-1} \sim 1$ cm [40], whereas for dRGT massive gravity with a Hubble scale mass, it is increased by 3 orders of magnitude to  $\tilde{\Lambda}_{\oplus}^{-1} \sim 1$ km [133]. Here we have taken the mass and radius of the Earth to be  $M_{\oplus} \sim 10^{33} M_{\text{pl}}$  and  $r_{\oplus} \sim 10^4$ km respectively. The difference is due to the scalar-graviton mixing in massive gravity (see equation (5.39)) which is absent in DGP. One can increase the environmental scale for massive gravity but only at the expense of increasing the graviton mass, as is the case for the vacuum scale, thereby decreasing its affect on cosmology. In any case, this environmental enhancement of strong coupling is desirable since it potentially increases the regime of validity of a theory by many orders of magnitude thanks to the Vainshtein mechanism. The remainder of this chapter is devoted studying the consistency of this environmental enhancement following [3].

## 5.3 The Vainshtein mechanism and Higgs completions

Our aim in this section is to investigate the effectiveness of the Vainshtein mechanism, and the corresponding enhancement of strong coupling, by studying fully UV complete theories which realise the Vainshtein mechanism at low energies. The question we would like to ask is if the low energy models can be trusted as consistent effective descriptions of the corresponding UV theory inside the Vainshtein regime and beyond the vacuum strong coupling scale of the truncated theory, as is assumed in modifications of gravity e.g. [40, 133]. In the absence of a UV theory of gravity, we will study field theories as avatars for what one may expect in models of modified gravity. At first sight this would seem to hamper our ability to draw conclusions about gravity theories. However, as we have seen in the preceding sections of this chapter, the most interesting dynamics, and issues with strong coupling, in these models can be understood by studying interacting scalar fields propagating in flat space. In this sense we will argue that reliable connections can be made. However, to compliment this section we shall also study the effects of UV corrections in gravity in the following section.

As we have already discussed in section (5.1.5), it is by no means straight forward to find a UV complete theory which will allow us to study the Vainshtein mechanism at low energies. Indeed, it has been argued that galileons can never appear at low energies after integrating out weakly coupled physics [131]. This also holds for our goldstone example (5.56) if we choose to screen on static backgrounds. However, if we choose the co-efficient of the irrelevant operator in (5.56) such that screening is realised on time-dependent backgrounds then the self interactions there do have a standard Wilsonian UV completion. By associating the scalar  $\phi$  with the helicity-0 mode of a massive Abelian gauge field, it enjoys a UV completion into a U(1) Higgs model. The bulk of this section will be devoted to studying the classical dynamics of this theory in the IR and UV. We shall also extend our analysis to a non-Abelian gauge theory which can be UV completed into an SU(2) Higgs theory. In both cases our aim is to investigate the effects of the heavy physics required for the UV completion on the low energy theory where the Vainshtein mechanism is at work.

### 5.3.1 U(1)

We begin with the most simple of our examples and the one whose low energy dynamics we have already discussed. Indeed, the self-interactions of the goldstone boson in (5.56) can be UV completed into the U(1) Higgs model

$$S_{\rm UV} = \int d^4x \left[ -\partial_\mu \Phi^\dagger \partial^\mu \Phi - \lambda \left( |\Phi|^2 - \eta^2 \right)^2 \right]$$
(5.79)

where  $\Phi$  is a complex scalar,  $\lambda$  is the quartic coupling constant, and the vacuum  $|\Phi|^2 = \eta^2$  spontaneously breaks the U(1) symmetry  $\Phi \to e^{i\theta} \Phi$ . The resulting degrees of freedom are made manifest with the parametrisation

$$\Phi = \rho e^{i\alpha} \tag{5.80}$$

which leads to

$$S_{\rm UV} = \int d^4x \left[ -(\partial \rho)^2 - \rho^2 (\partial \alpha)^2 - \lambda (\rho^2 - \eta^2)^2 \right].$$
 (5.81)

Here  $\rho$  is the radial mode with a mass  $m^2 = 4\lambda\eta^2$  and  $\alpha$  is the massless angular mode. The equations of motion are

$$\Box \rho - \rho(\partial \alpha)^2 - 2\lambda \rho(\rho^2 - \eta^2) = 0$$
(5.82)

$$\partial_{\mu}(\rho^2 \partial^{\mu} \alpha) = 0. \tag{5.83}$$

At energies below the mass of the radial mode, we can integrate it out at tree level using its equation of motion leaving us with a low energy effective description in terms of the angular mode given by [134]

$$S_{IR} = \int d^4x \ \eta^2 \left[ -(\partial \alpha)^2 + \frac{(\partial \alpha)^4}{m^2} + \frac{c}{m^4} \partial_\sigma \alpha \partial^\nu \alpha \partial_\mu \partial_\nu \alpha \partial^\mu \partial^\sigma \alpha + \dots \right]$$
(5.84)

where  $c \sim \mathcal{O}(1)$  is a dimensionless constant and the ellipses denotes operators of the form

$$\mathcal{O}_n \sim \eta^2 m^2 \left(\frac{\partial}{m}\right)^n$$
 (5.85)

with n > 6 and even by Lorentz invariance. Here  $\alpha$  is dimensionless and if we canonically normalise then the vacuum strong coupling scale is  $\Lambda \sim \lambda^{1/4} \eta$  such that at weak coupling  $m < \Lambda$ . As promised, we recognise the canonical kinetic term and the leading irrelevant operator as the structure of (5.56) in vacuum T = 0.

If  $\lambda > 0$ , which we require for a stable potential in the UV, then  $m^2 > 0$  and the co-efficient of the leading order irrelevant operator is *positive* as expected from the results of [131]. This is probably the most simple example where one can see the positivity conditions in action. If we wish to realise Vainshtein screening with (5.84) on a static background, we must choose  $\lambda < 0$  given our discussion in section (5.1.5). This corresponds to an unstable U(1) Higgs theory. For the remainder of this section we will therefore study Vainshtein screening on time-dependent backgrounds, where the scalar is excited from its trivial vacuum state to one with a non-zero energy density  $\mathcal{E}$ , such that the UV completion is stable.

We now ask the following question: what is the maximum amount of energy we can put into the low energy system until it becomes a bad approximation to the UV theory? In other words, for which energy densities do the classical homogeneous solutions for  $\dot{\alpha}_{IR}$  in the low energy theory significantly differ to  $\dot{\alpha}_{UV}$  in the full UV complete model given the same initial data? Whereby same initial data, we mean same initial velocity for the angular mode in both cases and the same total energy densities for the IR and UV solutions. To perform calculations in the low energy theory we must truncate since there are an infinite number of operators organised in a derivative expansion. We choose to truncate at the first term which allows for the Vainshtein mechanism such that the low energy effective theory we study is

$$S_{IR} = \int d^4x \ \eta^2 \left[ -(\partial \alpha)^2 + \frac{(\partial \alpha)^4}{m^2} \right]$$
(5.86)

and we therefore compare the dynamics of  $\alpha$  in (5.86) and (5.81).

Since we are assuming  $\alpha = \alpha(t)$ , the dynamics of the IR theory is simply  $\dot{\alpha}_{IR} = \omega$  where  $\omega$  is a constant and fixed as an initial condition. The conserved energy density of the solution is

$$\mathcal{E}_{IR} = \eta^2 \omega^2 + \frac{3\omega^4}{4\lambda}.$$
(5.87)

The dynamics of the UV theory is

$$\dot{\rho}^2 + \rho^2 \dot{\alpha}_{UV}^2 + \lambda (\rho^2 - \eta^2)^2 = \mathcal{E}_{UV}$$
(5.88)

$$\rho^2 \dot{\alpha}_{UV} = J \tag{5.89}$$

where J is the constant angular momentum which depends on the initial data via

$$J = \rho_0^2 \omega. \tag{5.90}$$

The complete dynamics and energy density of the IR theory are given once we fix  $\omega$ ,  $\lambda$  and  $\eta$ . To evolve the UV theory we must also specify three extra pieces of initial data:  $\dot{\alpha}_{UV}(0)$ ,  $\dot{\rho}(0) = v$  and  $\rho(0) = \rho_0$ . Given that we are matching the initial velocity of the angular mode in the IR and UV, we have  $\dot{\alpha}_{UV}(0) = \omega$ . However, a low energy observer is completely ignorant to the full details of the UV theory and therefore has no way of knowing the initial data of the radial mode. Matching the energy densities of the solutions  $\mathcal{E} = \mathcal{E}_{IR} = \mathcal{E}_{UV}$  yields a constraint ensuring that only one of the two initial conditions for the radial mode is free. With this in mind we choose to scan over *all* consistent choices of  $v^2$ , fixing  $\rho_0$  accordingly.

Let us parametrise the range of initial velocities by  $v^2 \in [0, v_{\text{max}}^2]$  where we identify  $v_{\text{max}}$  shortly. To scan over all possibilities we introduce a parameter  $\theta \in [0, \pi/2]$  and set  $v^2 = v_{\text{max}}^2 \sin^2 \theta$ . It follows from (5.88) that the initial velocity of the radial mode is

$$v^{2} = \mathcal{E} - \rho_{0}^{2}\omega^{2} - \lambda(\rho_{0}^{2} - \eta^{2})^{2}$$
(5.91)

which allows us to extract  $\rho_0$  for a given  $v^2$  upon inserting (5.87) and specifying

the data required to evolve the IR theory. Since (5.91) is quadratic in  $\rho_0$  there are two solutions given by

$$\rho_0^2 = \left(\eta^2 - \frac{\omega^2}{2\lambda}\right) \pm \sqrt{\frac{\omega^4}{\lambda^2} - \frac{v_{\text{max}}^2}{\lambda}\sin^2\theta}.$$
 (5.92)

The value of  $v_{\text{max}}^2$  is given by maximising the RHS of (5.91) as a function of  $\rho_0$ yielding

$$v_{\max}^2 = \mathcal{E} - \eta^2 \omega^2 + \frac{\omega^4}{4\lambda} = \frac{\omega^4}{\lambda}.$$
 (5.93)

Plugging this into (5.92) and taking the positive root to ensure  $\rho_0$  is real at all energies gives

$$\rho_0 = \eta \sqrt{1 + \frac{\omega^2}{\lambda \eta^2} \left(\cos \theta - \frac{1}{2}\right)}.$$
(5.94)

With all the initial data fixed we solve for  $\dot{\alpha}_{\rm UV}(t)$  and compare it to  $\dot{\alpha}_{\rm IR}(t) = \omega$ . For a given energy density  $\mathcal{E}$  we propose the following measure for comparing the solutions

$$\chi(\mathcal{E}) = \max\left\{ \left| \frac{\dot{\alpha}_{UV}^2(t) - \dot{\alpha}_{IR}^2(t)}{\dot{\alpha}_{UV}^2(t) + \dot{\alpha}_{IR}^2(t)} \right|, t \ge 0, 0 \le \theta \le \pi/2 \right\}$$
(5.95)

which respects the shift symmetry of  $\alpha$  in the IR and UV and has well defined limits. When the IR solution is a good approximation of the UV one,  $\chi(\mathcal{E}) \to 0$ and as the solutions diverge  $\chi(\mathcal{E}) \to 1$ . There is no well defined value of  $\chi$ for which the low energy theory is a bad approximation to the UV theory but we take a moderate approach and deem that as  $\chi(\mathcal{E}) \gtrsim \mathcal{O}(0.1)$  the low energy effective description has broken down. This is only a single order of magnitude below its maximum value and seems to be the obvious choice.

Qualitatively, we specify initial values for  $\omega$ ,  $\mathcal{E} = \mathcal{E}(\lambda, \eta)$  and then evolve the IR and UV systems for a large range of  $\theta \in [0, \pi/2]$  which fixes  $v^2$  and  $\rho_0$  for each run. For a given  $\mathcal{E}$  we calculate the maximum value of  $\chi$  over the full range of  $\theta$  and over the full trajectory in each case. This process ensures that we cover a wide range of initial data when we compare the IR and UV. We repeat for a range of values of  $\mathcal{E}$  either side of the vacuum strong coupling scale  $\Lambda \sim \lambda^{1/4} \eta$ .

For this U(1) case we do not need to solve any differential equations since

(5.95) can be calculated algebraically. Using equation (5.89) and  $\dot{\alpha}_{IR} = \omega$  we can write

$$\chi(\mathcal{E}) = \left| \frac{\rho^4 - \rho_0^4}{\rho^4 + \rho_0^4} \right|$$
(5.96)

whose maximum value corresponds to the maximum or minimum value of  $\rho$ . Equation (5.88) tells us that the radial mode experiences an effective potential of the form

$$V_{\text{eff}}(\rho) = \frac{\omega^2 \rho_0^4}{\rho^2} + \lambda (\rho^2 - \eta^2)^2$$
 (5.97)

where the angular momentum creates a potential barrier at small values of  $\rho$ . The general form of this potential is plotted below in figure (5.1).



Figure 5.1: The generic form of  $V_{\text{eff}}(\rho)$ 

It is clear that the maximum and minimum value of  $\rho$  is realised when  $\dot{\rho} = 0$ or equivalently when  $\rho$  solves

$$\frac{\omega^2 \rho_0^4}{\rho^2} + \lambda (\rho^2 - \eta^2)^2 = \mathcal{E}.$$
 (5.98)

Solving this equation and taking the largest real solution for  $\rho$  allows us to calculate  $\chi(\mathcal{E})$ . We repeat for a range of initial conditions to calculate the maximum value of  $\chi(\mathcal{E})$ . The results are displayed in figure (5.2) where we

plot  $\chi(\mathcal{E})$  as a function of  $\mathcal{E}/\Lambda^4$ .



Figure 5.2: The maximum value of  $\chi$ , considering a wide range of initial data for the radial mode, vs the total energy density in units of the vacuum strong coupling scale

It is clear that as the energy density of the solutions becomes comparable to the vacuum strong coupling scale, the low energy effective description becomes a poor approximation to the full UV theory. To extend our solution for  $\dot{\alpha}_{IR}(t)$  to energies beyond the vacuum strong coupling scale we must take into account the effects of the UV completion i.e. the radial mode. We note that this has nothing to do with quantum mechanics; we are comparing the classical dynamics. When one calculates the environmental strong coupling scale in modifications of gravity, it is assumed that the classical dynamics of the truncated theory remains reliable until the environmental strong coupling scale. This is explicit in the calculation of the enhanced strong coupling scale since one considers the scattering of the fluctuation on a background solution of the truncated theory. At least for this example, this is not the case and any calculation leading to an environmental strong coupling scale would be untrustworthy.

#### 5.3.2 SU(2)

Let us now consider a slightly more complicated example where again the low energy dynamics realise the Vainshtein mechanism, thanks to the presence of irrelevant operators, with a known UV completion. The UV theory is again (5.79) but to make the degrees of freedom manifest we now use the parametrisation

$$\Phi = \rho \left( \begin{array}{c} \sin(\alpha)e^{i\beta_1} \\ \cos(\alpha)e^{i\beta_2} \end{array} \right)$$
(5.99)

which leads to

$$S_{UV} = \int d^4x \left[ -(\partial\rho)^2 - \rho^2 \left( (\partial\alpha)^2 + \sin^2\alpha (\partial\beta_1)^2 + \cos^2\alpha (\partial\beta_2)^2 \right) - \lambda (\rho^2 - \eta^2)^2 \right]$$
(5.100)

This theory has four scalar degrees of freedom; three angular modes  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta_1$  and  $\beta_2$ , and one massive radial mode  $\rho$  with the same mass  $m^2 = 4\lambda\eta^2$  as for the U(1) case. The equations of motion are

$$\Box \rho - \rho \left[ (\partial \alpha)^2 + \sin^2 \alpha (\partial \beta_1)^2 + \cos^2 \alpha (\partial \beta_2)^2 \right] - 2\lambda \rho (\rho^2 - \eta^2) = 0 \quad (5.101)$$

$$\rho^2 \Box \alpha + 2\rho \partial_\mu \rho \partial^\mu \alpha - \rho^2 \sin \alpha \cos \alpha \left[ (\partial \beta_1)^2 - (\partial \beta_2)^2 \right] = 0 \qquad (5.102)$$

$$\partial_{\mu}(\rho^2 \sin^2 \alpha \partial^{\mu} \beta_1) = 0 \qquad (5.103)$$

$$\partial_{\mu}(\rho^2 \cos^2 \alpha \partial^{\mu} \beta_2) = 0 \qquad (5.104)$$

and the low energy theory is again given by integrating out the radial mode at tree level by virtue of its equation of motion (5.101). The resulting theory is built out of an infinite tower of operators constructed out of the angular modes. Truncated to no more than four derivatives i.e. including only the leading order terms required for the Vainshtein mechanism, the low energy theory we will study is

$$S_{IR} = \int d^4x \ \eta^2 \left\{ -\left[ (\partial \alpha)^2 + \sin^2 \alpha (\partial \beta_1)^2 + \cos^2 \alpha (\partial \beta_2)^2 \right] + \frac{\left[ (\partial \alpha)^2 + \sin^2 \alpha (\partial \beta_1)^2 + \cos^2 \alpha (\partial \beta_2)^2 \right]^2}{m^2} \right\}$$
(5.105)

with interactions becoming strong at  $\Lambda \sim \lambda^{1/4} \eta$ . We follow the U(1) example above and compare the dynamics of the IR theory (5.105) and the UV theory (5.100). If  $\beta_1 = \beta_2 = \text{constant}$ , then the low energy theory is equivalent to (5.86) in the U(1) example, therefore to realise the Vainshtein mechanism we must work with time-dependent solutions. In this case the UV dynamics is

$$\ddot{\rho} - \rho \left( \dot{\alpha}^2 + \sin^2 \alpha \dot{\beta_1}^2 + \cos^2 \alpha \dot{\beta_2}^2 \right) + 2\lambda \rho (\rho^2 - \eta^2) = 0$$
(5.106)

$$\rho\ddot{\alpha} + 2\dot{\rho}\dot{\alpha} - \rho\sin\alpha\cos\alpha(\dot{\beta}_1^2 - \dot{\beta}_2^2) = 0 \tag{5.107}$$

$$\partial_t \left[ \rho^2 \sin^2 \alpha \dot{\beta}_1^2 \right] = 0 \tag{5.108}$$

$$\partial_t \left[ \rho^2 \cos^2 \alpha \dot{\beta}_2^2 \right] = 0 \tag{5.109}$$

and the constant energy density is

$$\mathcal{E}_{\rm UV} = \dot{\rho}^2 + \rho^2 \left( \dot{\alpha}^2 + \sin^2 \alpha \dot{\beta_1}^2 + \cos^2 \alpha \dot{\beta_2}^2 \right) + \lambda (\rho^2 - \eta^2)^2.$$
(5.110)

The dynamics in the IR is

$$\sin \alpha \cos \alpha \left(\dot{\beta_{1}}^{2} - \dot{\beta_{2}}^{2}\right) \left[1 + \frac{2}{m^{2}} \left(\dot{\alpha}^{2} + \sin^{2} \alpha \dot{\beta_{1}}^{2} + \cos^{2} \alpha \dot{\beta_{2}}^{2}\right)\right] \\ -\partial_{t} \left[\dot{\alpha} + \frac{2\dot{\alpha}}{m^{2}} \left(\dot{\alpha}^{2} + \sin^{2} \alpha \dot{\beta_{1}}^{2} + \cos^{2} \alpha \dot{\beta_{2}}^{2}\right)\right] = 0 \quad (5.111)$$

$$\partial_t \left[ \sin^2 \alpha \dot{\beta}_1 + \frac{2 \sin^2 \alpha \dot{\beta}_1}{m^2} \left( \dot{\alpha}^2 + \sin^2 \alpha \dot{\beta}_1^2 + \cos^2 \alpha \dot{\beta}_2^2 \right) \right] = 0 \quad (5.112)$$

$$\partial_t \left[ \cos^2 \alpha \dot{\beta}_2 + \frac{2 \cos^2 \alpha \dot{\beta}_2}{m^2} \left( \dot{\alpha}^2 + \sin^2 \alpha \dot{\beta}_1^2 + \cos^2 \alpha \dot{\beta}_2^2 \right) \right] = 0 \quad (5.113)$$

and the constant energy density is

$$\mathcal{E}_{\rm IR} = \eta^2 \left( \dot{\alpha}^2 + \sin^2 \alpha \dot{\beta_1}^2 + \cos^2 \alpha \dot{\beta_2}^2 \right) + \frac{3}{4\lambda} \left( \dot{\alpha}^2 + \sin^2 \alpha \dot{\beta_1}^2 + \cos^2 \alpha \dot{\beta_2}^2 \right)^2.$$
(5.114)

To compare the theories we follow exactly the same process as we did above for the U(1) case. We match the initial conditions for the angular modes and match the energy densities of the solutions in the IR and UV. This still leaves the initial conditions for the radial mode in the UV unspecified. Again we scan over a wide range of initial velocities and use the constraint from matching the energy densities to fix the initial value of the radial mode. In the interest of clarity, we concentrate on the dynamics of  $\alpha$  and  $\beta_1$  only, and use the same measure to compare the solutions as we did above such that there are two different values of  $\chi(\mathcal{E})$  whose maximum values we calculate. The results are plotted below in figure (5.3) and are very similar to the U(1) case. Again we see that as the energy density of the solutions becomes comparable to the vacuum strong coupling scale, the theories diverge and the IR dynamics for both  $\alpha$ and  $\beta_1$  are no longer a consistent description of the UV theory. We are seeing the effects of the UV completion before we reach energies of order the vacuum strong coupling scale, thereby rendering the calculation of the environmental strong coupling scale very dubious.



Figure 5.3: The maximum value of  $\chi$  for  $\alpha$  and  $\beta_1$ , considering a wide range of initial data for the radial mode, vs the total energy density in units of the vacuum strong coupling scale

## 5.4 The Vainshtein mechanism and Einstein Gauss-Bonnet gravity

Let us now discuss the effects of UV completions in gravity. In the introduction we briefly touched upon these issues in four dimensional GR, where we showed how higher order curvature terms become important at distances of order  $1/M_{\rm pl}$ . We also explained how the Vainshtein mechanism is realised in GR with the Vainshtein radius being equivalent to the Schwarzschild radius. Here we shall go through these statements in D dimensions. We shall study the effects of higher order corrections, expected to be required for a UV completion of gravity, on the classical solutions of GR in the presence of a massive source.

Expanding the D dimensional Einstein-Hilbert action on a flat background  $g_{\mu\nu} = \eta_{\mu\nu} + h_{\mu\nu}$  leads to an infinite tower of irrelevant operators each with two derivatives but with increasing powers of the fluctuation h. Schematically we have

$$\frac{M_D^{D-2}}{2} \int d^D x \sqrt{-g} R \sim \int d^D x M_D^{D-2} \left( h \partial^2 h + h^2 \partial^2 h + h^3 \partial^2 h + \dots \right).$$
(5.115)

If we couple a source to the fluctuation in the way dictated by Lorentz invariance  $\int d^D x h_{\mu\nu} T^{\mu\nu}$ , then for a point source of mass M the solution to the linearised theory is

$$\hat{h}_{\rm lin} \sim \frac{M}{M_D^{(D-2)/2}} r^{-(D-3)}$$
 (5.116)

where we have canonically normalised by  $h_{\mu\nu} \to M_D^{(2-D)/2} \hat{h}_{\mu\nu}$ . The linearised solution breaks down as  $\hat{h} \sim M_D^{(D-2)/2}$  which corresponds to the *D*-dimensional Schwarzschild radius which is, by definition, the Vainshtein radius

$$r_V = r_s \sim \frac{1}{M_D} \left(\frac{M}{M_D}\right)^{1/(D-3)}.$$
 (5.117)

Below this scale one must consider all the two derivative non-linear corrections to (5.116) which sum up into the full Schwarzschild geometry [135].

Let us now consider a UV correction to the GR action. In the absence of a full UV completion of gravity, we shall consider the most simple four derivative correction, motivated by string theory, which allows us to study classical solutions without instabilities. This is the Gauss-Bonnet combination. We shall use this as a toy model for a UV completion of gravity in the sense that it includes higher order operators. The 'UV' theory is therefore

$$S_{UV} = \frac{M_D^{D-2}}{2} \int d^D x \sqrt{-g} \left[ R + \alpha' \left( R_{\mu\nu\alpha\beta} R^{\mu\nu\alpha\beta} - 4R_{\mu\nu} R^{\mu\nu} + R^2 \right) \right] \quad (5.118)$$

where  $\alpha' > 0$  is the slope parameter and of order the string length  $l_s^2 > 1/M_D^2$ . Black hole solutions to (5.118) have been studied [136, 137] and are given by a Schwarzschild like metric of the form

$$ds^{2} = -V(r)dt^{2} + \frac{dr^{2}}{V(r)} + r^{2}d\Omega_{D-2}$$
(5.119)

where

$$V(r) = 1 + \frac{r^2}{2\tilde{\alpha}'} \left( 1 - \sqrt{1 + \frac{8\tilde{\alpha}'M}{(D-2)\Omega_{D-2}M_D^{D-2}r^{D-1}}} \right).$$
 (5.120)

Here we have defined  $\tilde{\alpha}' = (D-3)(D-4)\alpha'$  and  $\Omega_{D-2}$  is the volume of a unit D-2 sphere. As expected, we can recover the Schwarzschild solution of D dimensional GR by expanding the square root to leading order yielding

$$V(r) \approx 1 - \frac{2M}{(D-2)\Omega_{D-2}M_D^{D-2}r^{D-3}} + \dots$$
 (5.121)

which is a valid expansion as long as

$$\frac{8\tilde{\alpha}'M}{(D-2)\Omega_{D-2}M_D^{D-2}r^{D-1}} < 1.$$
(5.122)

When this expansion breaks down the Schwarzschild solution is no longer valid and we must consider the higher order corrections to describe the Black hole geometry in Einstein Gauss-Bonnet gravity. The radius when this occurs is

$$r_{GB} \sim \frac{1}{M_D} \left(\frac{M}{M_D}\right)^{1/(D-1)} (\alpha' M_D^2)^{1/(D-1)} \gtrsim \frac{1}{M_D} \left(\frac{M}{M_D}\right)^{1/(D-1)}.$$
 (5.123)

For macroscopic sources such as the Sun, we have  $M \gg M_D$  and therefore

 $r_{GB} < r_s$ . In other words, the effects of the UV completion manifest themselves at a radius inside the Schwarzschild radius but, crucially, way beyond the vacuum cut off  $1/M_D$ . So the operators required to restore unitarity become relevant for classical solutions at much smaller energy scales then where unitarity is violated in the truncated theory. This is comparable to the behaviour we saw in our field theory examples with a Higgs completion in section (5.3).

We note that here we have treated the correction to the Einstein-Hilbert action non-perturbatively. In a fully fledged UV completion of gravity this truncation may not be valid, but here our aim is to merely show how high energy corrections can manifest themselves on classical solutions at larger distance scales than we would naively expect.

### 5.5 Discussion

In this chapter we have seen how the UV completions required to restore perturbative unitarity in non-renormalisable field theories, can have non-trivial effects on the classical dynamics of the low energy degrees of freedom. The dynamics of the UV modes become important at some scale between the Vainshtein scale and the vacuum strong coupling scale. This immediately renders the environmental strong coupling scale untrustworthy, at least for the examples we have studied. This is because to calculate this enhanced strong coupling scale one considers the scattering of fluctuations at energies above the vacuum strong coupling scale, but calculated on a background solution of the truncated low energy theory. For the examples we have discussed, this background solution is no longer a good description of the UV completion beyond the vacuum strong coupling scale.

The scale at which the low energy dynamics becomes a poor effective description of the UV dynamics is model dependent, and the presence of a hierarchy between the Vainshtein scale and the break down of the effective description is highly non-trivial. Indeed, since the Vainshtein mechanism requires irrelevant operators to become classical relevant, we would expect an infinite tower to become important too. This would signal the break down of calculability since in the absence of knowledge of the UV theory, each would generically come with arbitrary co-efficients. For example, quantum mechanically we can generate operators of the form

$$\mathcal{O}_Q \sim \frac{(\partial^2 \phi)^n}{\Lambda^{3n-4}} \tag{5.124}$$

as corrections to the galileon model (5.49) (see e.g. [40]). Relative to the canonical kinetic term, in the presence of a massive source, these operators become important at a scale

$$r_Q \sim \frac{1}{\Lambda} \left(\frac{M}{M_{\rm pl}}\right)^{\frac{2-n}{4-3n}}.$$
(5.125)

In the limit  $n \to \infty$ , we have  $r_Q \to r_V$  where  $r_V$  is the Vainshtein radius for galileons and dRGT massive gravity. Therefore we cannot consider the nonlinear terms in the galileon model non-perturbatively without including the effects of an infinite number of quantum corrections. This is also true for our goldstone example, since we would expect that as the operator  $(\partial \phi)^4$  becomes important, an infinite tower of  $(\partial \phi)^{2n}$  would too, dominated by the  $n \to \infty$ limit. In both cases we can understand this qualitatively. For galileons the onset of Vainshtein screening occurs when the *acceleration* of the scalar field becomes large relative to the strong coupling scale i.e. when  $\partial \partial \phi \sim \Lambda^3$ . It is then clear that in the Vainshtein regime, the dominant term will be the operator with largest power of  $\partial \partial \phi / \Lambda^3$ . Similarly for the goldstone example, here the onset of screening is due to large *velocities* i.e. when  $(\partial \phi)^2 \sim \Lambda^4$  and the largest power of  $(\partial \phi)^2 / \Lambda^4$  will dominate.

One way to keep control of these operators is if the low energy theory possesses a powerful symmetry. This is exactly what happens in GR where we saw that a hierarchy exists where we can trust the interactions in the Einstein-Hilbert action non-perturbatively, while keeping the higher order operators suppressed. This is because Lorentz invariance ensures that the co-efficient of each operator with two derivatives sums into the Ricci scalar. We can then organise the quantum corrections in a derivative expansion. However, enforcing Lorentz invariance in scalar field theories still leaves lots of room for a model builder to construct self-interactions. We therefore look for extra symmetries which fix the co-efficients of an infinite tower of operators. For example, consider the scalar sector of the DBI action [138], which has been used in the context of screening scalar forces in the solar system in [139]. It is built from an infinite tower of irrelevant operators of the form  $c_n(\partial \phi)^{2n}$  but unlike a generic theory of this type it is invariant under

$$\phi \to \gamma (\phi + \Lambda^2 v_\mu x^\mu) \tag{5.126}$$

$$x^{\mu} \to x^{\mu} + \frac{\gamma - 1}{v^2} v^{\mu} v_{\sigma} x^{\sigma} + \gamma v^{\mu} \frac{\phi}{\Lambda^2}$$
(5.127)

where  $\gamma = 1/\sqrt{1-v^2}$ . This symmetry ensures that the operators sum into

$$\Lambda^4 \sum_n c_n \frac{(\partial \phi)^{2n}}{\Lambda^{4n}} = -g\Lambda^4 \sqrt{1 + \frac{(\partial \phi)^2}{\Lambda^4}}$$
(5.128)

where  $c_0 = g > 0$ . The internal symmetry on  $\phi$  has reduced the infinite number of coupling constants to a single overall constant. Now when the first irrelevant operator i.e.  $(\partial \phi)^4$  becomes important, we do not lose control since we can consider the full square root structure. Also, the uniqueness of (5.128) with respect to the DBI symmetry ensures that this structure is not spoilt by quantum corrections. This is completely analogous to GR where the square root structure is replaced by the Ricci scalar which is protected from quantum corrections thanks to its uniqueness with respect to Lorentz invariance. This is the only known example of a non-linear symmetry, for scalar field theories with one derivative per field in flat space, which fixes the relative co-efficients between the operators. It may also be unique given that it is the only example where the theory enjoys an enhanced soft limit [128]. Such a symmetry is unknown for galileons.

This DBI structure can be thought of as a partial UV completion of (5.56), but as is the case in GR where we can generate higher order curvature invariants, we still expect quantum corrections to become important at some scale at which we should no longer trust the truncation to the square root. These quantum corrections will also be invariant under (5.126) but will involve at least one field with two derivatives. We shall discuss this in more detail in the next chapter where we exploit the time-dependent Vainshtein screening in this theory in the early universe. There we shall also study the structure of the DBI interactions and the symmetry (5.126) in more detail. Our purpose here is to merely emphasise the importance of symmetries in our ability to keep control when the Vainshtein mechanism is active.

# Chapter

### DBI Chameleon and the Early Universe

This chapter is based on an extension of the chameleon theory. The chameleon mechanism is a way to shut down scalar forces in local environments introduced by Khoury and Weltman in [41, 42]. However, it was shown in [43, 44] that the coupling between the chameleon and matter degrees of freedom, which is required to realise successful screening, causes a break down in the classical description of the chameleon around the period of Big Bang Nucleosynthesis (BBN) due to standard model fields transitioning from relativistic to non-relativistic. If the chameleon model is to describe a credible alternative theory of gravity, then one would expect to have control over the theory on these energy scales. The extension of the chameleon model described in this chapter is motivated by this issue and includes new interactions which extend the regime of validity of the theory.

We begin this chapter with an introduction to the chameleon mechanism followed by a detailed discussion of the issues raised in [43,44], complimenting their numerical analysis with a dynamical systems approach. We will then show how these problems can be cured by correcting the chameleon model at high energies where we follow the work of [4]. The main idea is to combine the chameleon mechanism with the Vainshtein mechanism. The introduction of Vainshtein screening ensures that in the early universe the coupling between the scalar and matter fields is suppressed thereby allowing the model to evade the constraints on the matter coupling imposed in [43, 44]. The structure of the non-linear terms required for the Vainshtein screening is motivated by the of the model deep into the early universe, in contrast to the standard chameleon theory.

### 6.1 Introduction to the chameleon mechanism

In comparison to the Vainshtein mechanism which we have discussed in the preceding chapter, the chameleon mechanism is another way to suppress scalar forces in the solar system. The chameleon mechanism still relies on the presence of non-linearities but here the minimal shift symmetry on the scalar field used for Vainshtein screening is broken, and interactions appear in the scalar's potential rather than in the kinetic sector. Imperative to the effectiveness of the screening is a conformal coupling between the scalar field and the degrees of freedom in the matter sector which contributes to the effective potential experienced by the scalar.

When we discussed the Vainshtein mechanism in chapter 5 it was clear that the derivative interactions required there had a non-trivial origin. For example, we saw how one of the galileon interactions (5.49) appeared in the four dimensional effective action of DGP gravity [124] after integrating out the bulk degrees of freedom, and how together with the remaining ones controlled the behaviour of the longitudinal mode of the ghost free massive graviton [118,119]. We also saw how the Vainshtein mechanism can be realised in a theory of a goldstone boson associated with a broken U(1) symmetry. However, the chameleon mechanism has a different origin. Its introduction is much more phenomenological where it is assumed that light scalar fields with gravitational strength couplings to matter fields exist in Nature and we therefore require an explanation of why they are not observed locally<sup>1</sup>.

In any case, the aim of the chameleon mechanism is to ensure that in regions of high density, such as in the solar system where no scalar forces are

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>See [140] for attempts to embed chameleon theories within string theory.

observed, the effective mass of the chameleon is large such that the corresponding scalar force between massive bodies is short range. While in low density environments, the mass is small and the corresponding force long range. In principle, this would mean that the scalar field can play a non-trivial role on large distances but remain invisible to local gravitational experiments. However, it has been shown that under certain assumptions the chameleon cannot explain dark energy as a genuine modification of gravity [141, 142]. In [142] it was argued that one can place an upper bound on its Compton wavelength of order 1Mpc, three orders of magnitude below the current Hubble scale, and the corresponding Yukawa suppression means that its effects are limited to nonlinear scales. Even with this in mind, the mechanism is still interesting from the point of view of suppressing scalar forces. This is especially true given the fact that string theory, our most promising candidate of high energy physics, is often plagued by many scalar fields with gravitational strength couplings after string compactifications (see e.g. [35]). In this sense the model warrants further study and scrutiny.

To understand the chameleon mechanism we start with the following action

$$S = \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} \left[ \frac{M_{\rm pl}^2}{2} R - \frac{1}{2} (\partial \phi)^2 - V(\phi) \right] + S_m[\tilde{g}_{\mu\nu}, \Phi]$$
(6.1)

where matter fields are denoted collectively as  $\Phi$  and move on geodesics of the conformally rescaled metric  $\tilde{g}_{\mu\nu} = A^2(\phi)g_{\mu\nu}$  with  $A(\phi)$  an *a priori* arbitrary function which we refer to as the *conformal factor*.  $V(\phi)$  is the bare scalar potential. The resulting equation of motion for the scalar is

$$\Box \phi = V_{,\phi} - A^3(\phi) A_{,\phi} \tilde{T} \tag{6.2}$$

where  $\tilde{T} = \tilde{g}^{\mu\nu}\tilde{T}_{\mu\nu}$  and

$$\tilde{T}_{\mu\nu} = -\frac{2}{\sqrt{-\tilde{g}}} \frac{\delta S_m}{\delta \tilde{g}^{\mu\nu}} \tag{6.3}$$

is the Jordan frame energy-momentum tensor. Diffeomorphism invariance tells us that it is covariantly conserved  $\tilde{\nabla}^{\mu}\tilde{T}_{\mu\nu} = 0$  since matter fields couple minimally to  $\tilde{g}_{\mu\nu}$ . We have also used the notation  $V_{,\phi} = \partial V / \partial \phi$ . Variation with respect to the metric yields

$$M_{\rm pl}^2 G_{\mu\nu} = T_{\mu\nu}^m + T_{\mu\nu}^\phi \tag{6.4}$$

where  $T^m_{\mu\nu}$  and  $T^{\phi}_{\mu\nu}$  are respectively the energy-momentum tensor for the matter fields and the scalar field defined with respect to the Einstein frame metric. The Bianchi identity  $\nabla_{\mu}G^{\mu\nu} = 0$  tells us that the Einstein frame energy-momentum tensor is not conserved and instead satisfies

$$\nabla_{\mu}T_{m}^{\mu\nu} = \frac{A_{,\phi}}{A}T_{m}\partial^{\nu}\phi \qquad (6.5)$$

where we have used the scalar equation of motion (6.2) and  $T_m = A^4 \tilde{T}$ . If we now specialise to non-relativistic matter sources with  $T_m = -\hat{\rho}$  and define  $\rho = A^{-1}\hat{\rho}$ , then on an FLRW background i.e. equation (2) with zero spatial curvature, and with a homogeneous configuration for the scalar, the 0-component of (6.5) is

$$\dot{\rho} + 3H\rho = 0 \tag{6.6}$$

where  $H = \dot{a}/a$ . In other words, the density  $\rho$  is conserved in the Einstein frame. In terms of  $\rho$ , the scalar equation of motion tells us that the scalar experiences an effective potential of the form

$$V_{\text{eff}} = V(\phi) + A(\phi)\rho \tag{6.7}$$

and therefore depends on the bare potential  $V(\phi)$  and on the matter energy density  $\rho$ . If the bare potential and the conformal factor slope in opposite directions, the effective potential will have an environmental minimum  $\phi_{\min}$ . The resulting effective mass of fluctuations about this minimum is therefore also  $\rho$  dependent and given by

$$m_{\text{eff}}^2(\phi_{\min}) = V_{,\phi\phi}(\phi_{\min}) + A_{,\phi\phi}(\phi_{\min})\rho.$$
(6.8)

It is common in the literature to choose  $V_{,\phi} < 0$  and  $A_{,\phi} > 0$  such that the effective potential is of the form shown in figure (6.1) where we have chosen

a linear conformal factor. The effective potential is the solid line while  $V(\phi)$ and  $A(\phi)$  are represented as dashed lines. The small gradient of the conformal factor corresponds to a small matter energy density. If we now increase the matter energy density then the effective potential is shown in figure (6.2) and it is clear that the result is to increase the curvature of the effective potential thereby increasing the effective mass of the field. This is the foundation of the chameleon mechanism.



Figure 6.1: Low Density



Let us illustrate the mechanism with an example. We consider a bare potential with an inverse power law behaviour

$$V(\phi) = \frac{M^{4+n}}{\phi^n} \tag{6.9}$$

with n > 0 and M is a dimensionful energy scale which is constrained to be  $M \leq \text{meV}$  [41, 42]. This upper bound comes from ensuring that the model is consistent with all constraints on deviations from General Relativity (GR), in particular from the Eöt-Wash tests of the inverse square law [143] and (the slightly less constraining) Casimir force measurements [144,145]. This potential was the first to be considered in the context of the chameleon mechanism [41,42]. It is common in the literature to choose  $A(\phi) = \exp(\beta \phi/M_{\rm pl})$  where  $\beta$ is a dimensionless coupling constant such that when  $\beta \sim \mathcal{O}(1)$ , the scalar field couples to the matter degrees of freedom with gravitational strength mediating a force comparable to the spin-2 one in GR. For small field excursions relative to the Planck mass, as is required by constraints on the variation of particle masses from BBN until today [146], we can approximate the conformal factor as

$$A(\phi) \approx 1 + \frac{\beta \phi}{M_{\rm pl}}.$$
 (6.10)

It follows that the minimum of the effective potential is

$$\phi_{\min} = \left(\frac{nM^{4+n}M_{\rm pl}}{\beta\rho}\right)^{\frac{1}{n+1}} \tag{6.11}$$

and the resulting effective mass of fluctuations about this minimum is

$$m_{\rm eff}^2 = n(n+1)M^{-\frac{n+4}{n+1}} \left(\frac{\beta\rho}{nM_{\rm pl}}\right)^{\frac{n+2}{n+1}}.$$
 (6.12)

With n > 0 it is clear that the effective mass increases with  $\rho$  causing the fluctuations to decouple in dense environments even when  $\beta \sim \mathcal{O}(1)$ . We note that one can realise the chameleon mechanism with more familiar scalar field potentials which are analytic around  $\phi = 0$  by reversing the sign of the matter coupling  $\beta \rightarrow -\beta$  e.g. [147]. For a more detailed discussion of the chameleon mechanism we refer the reader to [28, 29, 41, 42].

### 6.2 Kicking the chameleon

We now come to the issues raised in [43, 44]. On-shell, the chameleon's coupling to matter degrees of freedom is via the trace of the energy-momentum tensor. In a radiation dominated universe we can model the matter degrees of freedom as a classical conformal field theory for which the trace of the energy-momentum tensor vanishes. Therefore one would naively expect that any interactions between the chameleon and matter degrees of freedom in a radiation dominated universe would only be realised through the mediation of virtual gravitons. Indeed, on a flat FLRW background the Einstein frame equations of motion from the chameleon action (6.1) are

$$3M_{\rm pl}^2 H^2 = \rho_\phi + \rho \tag{6.13}$$

$$M_{\rm pl}^2 \left( 2\dot{H} + 3H^2 \right) = -p_\phi - p \tag{6.14}$$

$$\ddot{\phi} + 3H\dot{\phi} + V_{,\phi} = -\frac{\beta}{M_{\rm pl}}\rho\Sigma \tag{6.15}$$

where  $H = \dot{a}/a$  is the Hubble parameter,  $\rho$  and p are respectively the energy density and pressure of matter, and  $\rho_{\phi}$  and  $p_{\phi}$  are the energy density and pressure of the scalar field given respectively by

$$\rho_{\phi} = \frac{1}{2}\dot{\phi}^2 + V(\phi) \tag{6.16}$$

$$p_{\phi} = \frac{1}{2}\dot{\phi}^2 - V(\phi).$$
 (6.17)

We have also defined  $\Sigma = (\rho - 3p)/\rho$ . If the matter sector is dominated by a perfect fluid, we can write  $\Sigma = 1 - 3w$  where w is the equation of state parameter. In a radiation dominated universe we have w = 1/3 and therefore  $\Sigma = 0$  and the right hand side of equation (6.15) vanishes.

In the majority of situations this is a reasonable approximation. However, whenever a massive relativistic particle in the standard model becomes nonrelativistic,  $\Sigma$  can become *temporarily* non-zero in a radiation dominated era. If we account for all standard model particles then  $\Sigma$  receives a number of *kicks* as a function of Jordan frame temperature  $T_J \sim 1/a_J = e^{-\beta \phi/M_{\rm pl}}/a$  as shown in figure (6.3) extracted from [43].



Figure 6.3: Plot of  $\Sigma(T_J)$  showing four distinct kicks

These kicks occur as the temperature of the radiation bath is of order the

mass of a given particle. There are four distinct kicks with Jordan frame temperatures varying from approximately  $10^{-4}$ GeV, where the kick is due to the electron, to approximately  $10^{2}$ GeV where the kick is due to the heaviest particles in the standard model e.g. the top quark. At temperatures larger than the scale of a given kick there is no contribution to  $\Sigma$  since the corresponding particles are relativistic. The contribution is also small at temperatures below the scale of the kick thanks to Boltzman suppression.

As shown in (6.3), the deviation of  $\Sigma$  from zero can be  $\mathcal{O}(0.1)$  and can therefore play a non-trivial role on the chameleon's evolution. This was initially investigated in [148-150] and in [150] it was concluded to be a *positive* contribution since the primary effect of the kicks is to push the chameleon towards smaller values helping to satisfy BBN constraints in the process. A more thorough investigation was given in [43, 44] where quantum mechanical effects of the subsequent evolution after the kicks were considered. There it was concluded that the kicks have a *negative* impact on the chameleon cosmology rendering the classical treatment of the chameleon at BBN untrustworthy. This conclusion is due to the existence of a surfer solution with  $\dot{\phi} = -M_{\rm pl}H/\beta$ , which exists at constant Jordan frame temperature, forcing the chameleon to the minimum of its effective potential with a very large velocity relative to the energy scale M which controls the strength of the interactions in the bare potential. This is because the surfer solution is associated with standard model kicks in the early universe where the temperature was much larger than Mwhich is set by late universe physics. Also, as we saw in the previous section it is common that  $M \leq \text{meV}$  to satisfy fifth-force constraints. Generically, the velocity of the chameleon when it arrives at the minimum is set by the Jordan frame temperature of the most significant kick and has  $|\dot{\phi}|^{1/2} > 0.07 \text{MeV}$  in the absence of fine tuning [43, 44]. The issue of having a very large velocity by the time the scalar reaches the minimum of the effective potential can be traced to the fact that the field is undergoing extremely large field excursions  $\Delta \phi$  on the surfer solution.

After reaching the minimum, the chameleon rolls up the steep side of its effective potential until its kinetic energy runs out at the reflection point when it begins to roll back down. This behaviour results in rapid variations in the chameleon's mass over a very short time scale generating highly energetic fluctuations. The energy density of these fluctuations can become  $\mathcal{O}(1)$  in units of the energy density stored in the background field thereby rendering any classical treatment untrustworthy and signalling the break down of the effective field theory (EFT) in the early universe. It was shown in [43, 44] that this surfer solution, and the resulting issues, existed for generic initial conditions provided  $\beta > 1.82$ . To avoid it one must therefore tune the coupling between the chameleon and matter fields which is undesirable for a number of reasons. Particularly, one would like to keep the theoretical constraints on the parameters of an effective theory minimal to maximise the chances of finding a UV completion. Also, fine tuning  $\beta$  would make one question the relevance of the many experimental tests of the chameleon parameter space which concentrate on the strongly coupled region (see e.g. [143,151–156]). This motivates looking for a dynamical solution to these issues that does not require a fine tuning of  $\beta$ .

Let us now show the existence of the surfer solution as a fixed line using a dynamical systems analysis. For the moment we shall ignore the scalar's potential as is done in [43, 44] and assume that in the early universe the trace of the energy-momentum tensor is the dominate source of the scalar's evolution. We assume that the potential decays at large field values such that the scale controlling the strength of these interactions enters  $V(\phi)$  with a positive power. It is consistent to ignore the potential when  $\phi \gg M$ . This approximation will break down after the subsequent evolution when the chameleon approaches the minimum of its effective potential. Initially we eliminate all  $\rho$  dependence from the equations of motion which does not enter via  $\Sigma$  such that the cosmological evolution is described by

$$M_{\rm pl}^2 H^2(4-\Sigma) + 2M_{\rm pl}^2 \dot{H} + \frac{(2+\Sigma)}{3}\rho_\phi = 0$$
 (6.18)

$$\ddot{\phi} + 3H\dot{\phi} + 3M_{\rm pl}\beta\Sigma H^2 \left(1 - \frac{\rho_{\phi}}{3M_{\rm pl}^2 H^2}\right) = 0.$$
(6.19)

This allows us to identify the surfer solution using an autonomous dynamical

system. To do so we define the following variables

$$x = \beta \phi + M_{\rm pl} \ln a \tag{6.20}$$

$$y = \frac{\rho_{\phi}}{3M_{\rm pl}^2 H^2} \tag{6.21}$$

$$z = \beta \dot{\phi} + M_{\rm pl} H \tag{6.22}$$

such that the autonomous system is given by

$$\dot{x} = z$$

$$\dot{y} = \frac{1}{H_y} \left[ 3H_z H z - \frac{1}{2} M_{\rm pl} H_z H^2 (1 - y) (2 + \Sigma (1 - 6\beta^2)) \right]$$
(6.23)

$$+\frac{H^2}{2}(\Sigma - 4 - y(\Sigma + 2)]$$
(6.24)

$$\dot{z} = -3Hz + \frac{1}{2}M_{\rm pl}H^2(1-y)\left(2 + \Sigma(1-6\beta^2)\right)$$
(6.25)

where e.g.  $H_y = \partial H/\partial y$ . Our choice of x is because  $\dot{x} = z = 0$  corresponds to a constant Jordan frame temperature which characterises the surfer solution [43, 44]. y is the ratio between the energy density of the chameleon and the critical energy density. The Hubble parameter H(y, z) is given implicitly by

$$M_{\rm pl}^2 H^2 y = \frac{(z - M_{\rm pl} H)^2}{6\beta^2}$$
(6.26)

which can be solved to give

$$H(y,z) = \frac{z}{M_{\rm pl}(1 \pm \sqrt{6\beta^2 y})}.$$
(6.27)

Assuming the conformal coupling to matter decreases over time, equation (6.25) tells us that  $\frac{z}{M_{\text{pl}}} < H$  which is only satisfied for all  $\beta$ , y if we take the lower root of (6.27).

There is a trivial set of fixed points with  $y \neq 1/6\beta^2$ , x an arbitrary constant and z = H = 0. This corresponds to an empty universe and is therefore of little interest to cosmology and the chameleon kicks. However, there is also a non-trivial set of fixed points which corresponds to  $\Sigma = \Sigma_c = 2/(6\beta^2 - 1)$  with  $y = 1/6\beta^2$ , x again arbitrary and z = 0. In this case H(y, z) is unconstrained. This line of fixed points has a constant Jordan frame temperature and can exist at any scale as long as  $\Sigma$  passes through the critical value  $\Sigma_c$ . These fixed points correspond to the surfer solution. The form of  $\Sigma_c$  makes it clear that by making  $\beta$  sufficiently small, the solution will not exist with a matter sector constructed from standard model fields since in figure (6.3) we have  $\Sigma \leq \mathcal{O}(0.1)$  for all temperatures.

To see this more clearly we solve the dynamical system numerically by setting  $\Sigma = \Sigma_c$  and considering a range of initial conditions. We show the (H, z) plane of the trajectories below in figure (6.4) where we can see that the line z = 0 is an attractor for all H(y, z).



Figure 6.4: Plot of z against H for a range of initial conditions with  $\Sigma = \Sigma_c$ . Figure produced by Toby Wilson.

In a more realistic model  $\Sigma$  is not a constant and will vary from the critical value as the Jordan frame temperature varies as shown in figure (6.3). Given our definition of dynamical variables we have  $\Sigma = \Sigma(T_J = T_{J0}e^{-x/M_{\rm pl}})$ . Let us now confirm the attractive behaviour shown in figure (6.4) analytically by expanding around the surfer solution ( $x = x_0$ ,  $y = 1/6\beta^2$ , z = 0) and allowing  $\Sigma(x)$  to deviate from the critical value. We set  $x = x_0 + \delta x$ ,  $y = 1/6\beta^2 + \delta y$ ,  $z = \delta z$  and  $\Sigma(x) = 2/(6\beta^2 - 1) + \delta \Sigma = 2/(6\beta^2 - 1) + \Sigma'(x_0)\delta x$  and expand the dynamical system to leading order yielding

$$\delta \dot{x} \approx \delta z \tag{6.28}$$

$$\delta \dot{y} \approx \frac{1}{3M_{\rm pl}\beta^2}\delta z + H\left(\frac{1}{6\beta^2} - 1\right)^2 \Sigma'(x_0)\delta x$$
 (6.29)

$$\delta \dot{z} \approx -3H\delta z - 3\beta^2 M_{\rm pl} H^2 \left(\frac{1}{6\beta^2} - 1\right)^2 \Sigma'(x_0) \delta x \tag{6.30}$$

where the constraint (6.26) gives  $\delta z = -3M_{\rm pl}\beta^2 H \delta y$ . The form of each solution to  $\delta x, \delta y, \delta z$  is  $\mathcal{A}_+ \exp(m_+ t) + \mathcal{A}_- \exp(m_- t)$  where

$$m_{\pm} = -\frac{3H}{2} \left( 1 \pm \sqrt{1 - \frac{4}{3}\beta^2 M_{\rm pl} \left(\frac{1}{6\beta^2} - 1\right)^2 \Sigma'(x_0)} \right). \tag{6.31}$$

For a given kick,  $\Sigma$  will generically pass through the critical value required for the surfer solution to exist at two different temperatures  $T_J^{c1,c2}$  either side of the kick's peak. At the larger temperature  $T_J^{c1}$ ,  $\Sigma$  is rising from zero towards its peak with  $d\Sigma/dT_J < 0$  while at the smaller temperature  $T_J^{c2}$  it is decreasing with  $d\Sigma/dT_J > 0$ . Even if the solution with the larger temperature is unstable and not attracted to the z = 0 line, the smaller one could be and since this is experienced last, it is the most important. At this temperature  $\Sigma'(x_0) =$  $-\frac{T_T^{c2}}{M_{\rm pl}}d\Sigma/dT_J < 0$  and therefore  $m_+$  is real and negative while  $m_-$  is real and positive. So for  $m_+$  the fluctuations around the surfer solution decay. This attracts the solution towards to the surfer reinforcing the numerical results in figure (6.4). The solution with  $m_-$  represents an instability for the surfer but this instability is very mild because for physically realistic kicks we have  $M_{\rm pl}|\Sigma'(x_0)| \sim \Sigma(x_0) = 2/(6\beta^2 - 1)$  and so  $m_- \lesssim H$ . This means that even over a Hubble time the fluctuation is approximately constant and can be absorbed into a re-definition of  $x_0$ .

### 6.3 Introduction to the DBI chameleon

The primary cause of the break down in the chameleon's classical description is its conformal coupling to matter with  $\beta \sim \mathcal{O}(1)$ . If we tuned  $\beta$  to much smaller values then the effect of the kicks on the chameleon's evolution would be suppressed and the troublesome surfer solution would no longer exist [43,44]. As we have mentioned this is not a satisfactory solution so we seek to find another route where we can suppress the effects of the kicks but maintain  $\beta \sim \mathcal{O}(1)$ . In other words, we want to weaken the coupling to the matter degrees of freedom *dynamically*. As we saw in the previous chapter, this is precisely what the Vainshtein mechanism does.

With this motivation, we correct the original chameleon theory (6.1) such that it can realise the Vainshtein mechanism in the early universe when standard model particles become non-relativistic, while retaining its screening features in the solar system. To do so we must include derivative self interactions. We argued in the previous chapter that a generic theory with  $(\partial \phi)^{2n}$  operators loses control at the scale where the non-linearities kick in. We also argued that the galileon interactions (5.49) are just as untrustworthy in the non-linear regime. In this sense corrections of either of these forms would not allow us to extend the regime of validity of the chameleon theory. We therefore choose to correct (6.1) using the square root structure of the DBI interactions (5.128). The non-trivial symmetry (5.126) associated with these interactions ensures that we can trust the theory when the Vainshtein mechanism is active since it fixes each co-efficient in an expansion of  $(\partial \phi)^{2n}$  operators. Also, in a pure DBI theory the co-efficients are not renormalised by loop corrections. Our corrected chameleon action is therefore

$$S = \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} \left[ \frac{M_{\rm pl}^2}{2} R + \Lambda^4 - \Lambda^4 \sqrt{1 + \frac{(\partial \phi)^2}{\Lambda^4}} - V(\phi) \right] + S_m[\tilde{g}_{\mu\nu}, \Phi] \quad (6.32)$$

which we refer to as the *DBI chameleon*. We recover the original chameleon action (6.1) to leading order when  $(\partial \phi)^2 \ll \Lambda^4$  i.e. at small field gradients. The next to leading order operator coming from the square root is  $(\partial \phi)^4$  with a *positive* coefficient. The fact that this co-efficient is positive ensures that the derivative self-interactions can be realised after integrating out heavy physics in a Lorentz invariant UV completion [131]. As we discussed in the previous chapter, this simultaneously ensures that the Z factor becomes large, as required for the Vainshtein mechanism, on a homogeneous background. This is exactly the behaviour we are after since we wish to screen in a cosmological setting in the early universe.

Let us discuss the DBI structure in more detail by sending  $M_{\rm pl} \to \infty$  to decouple gravity and dropping the potential  $V(\phi)$ . The action is now equivalent to (5.128) with a cosmological constant. To see the growing Z factor on homogeneous backgrounds we expand the action to quadratic order around a time dependent solution  $\phi(x) = \bar{\phi}(t) + \pi(x)$  yielding  $\delta \mathcal{L} \sim \frac{1}{2} Z^{\mu\nu} \partial_{\mu} \pi \partial_{\nu} \pi$  where

$$Z^{tt} = \left(1 - \frac{\dot{\phi}^2}{\Lambda^4}\right)^{-3/2}, \qquad Z^{ti} = 0, \qquad Z^{ij} = \left(1 - \frac{\dot{\phi}^2}{\Lambda^4}\right)^{-1/2} \delta^{ij}.$$
(6.33)

As  $\dot{\phi}^2 \to \Lambda^4$  the Z factor grows rendering the coupling between the fluctuation and matter degrees of freedom weaker than gravity without tuning  $\beta$ , as desired. In a cosmological setting the DBI symmetry (5.126) is

$$t \to \frac{1}{\sqrt{1-v^2}} \left( t - v \frac{\phi}{\Lambda^2} \right), \qquad \phi \to \frac{1}{\sqrt{1-v^2}} (\phi - \Lambda^2 v t).$$
 (6.34)

Although this symmetry ensures that loop corrections do not spoil the square root structure, loops will generate other operators also invariant under (6.34). To see the structure of these operators it is instructive to understand the origin of the DBI interactions and the symmetry from a higher dimensional picture [157]. Consider a probe brane localised at  $y = \phi(x^{\mu})/\Lambda^2$  in a 5D Minkowski bulk with  $ds^2 = \eta^{\mu\nu} dx^{\mu} dx^{\nu} + dy^2$  such that y is the coordinate of the fifth dimension and  $x^{\mu}$  are four dimensional. Given that  $dy = \partial_{\mu}\phi dx^{\mu}/\Lambda^2$ , the induced metric on the brane is

$$\hat{g}_{\mu\nu} = \eta_{\mu\nu} + \frac{\partial_{\mu}\phi\partial_{\nu}\phi}{\Lambda^4} \tag{6.35}$$

with an inverse

$$\hat{g}^{\mu\nu} = \eta^{\mu\nu} - \frac{\partial^{\mu}\phi\partial^{\nu}\phi}{\Lambda^4 + (\partial\phi)^2}.$$
(6.36)

The resulting brane action can be constructed out of  $\hat{g}_{\mu\nu}$  and its derivatives. To zero-th order in a derivative expansion diffeomorphism invariance on the brane dictates that the action is

$$\hat{S} = -\Lambda^4 \int d^4x \sqrt{-\hat{g}} = -\Lambda^4 \int d^4x \sqrt{1 + \frac{(\partial\phi)^2}{\Lambda^4}}$$
(6.37)

where  $\Lambda^4$  is the brane tension and we have recovered the DBI interactions. We can now understand the origin of the DBI symmetry (5.126) as coming from the five dimensional Lorentz invariance of the higher dimensional theory.

If we wanted to screen on a static background with this theory we would require the  $(\partial \phi)^4$  term to have a negative co-efficient which is realised if we take  $\phi \to i\phi$ . In the higher dimensional theory this corresponds to a flat bulk with an SO(2,3) rather than SO(1,4) symmetry, or in other words, a space-time with two time directions. Again, we are seeing how screening on static backgrounds seems to be incompatible with Lorentz invariant completions [131] as we discussed in chapter 5. In this case screening has been investigated in [139]. At this point let us emphasis that in our case we do not require the Vainshtein mechanism to suppress the scalar force in the solar system. In local environments the chameleon limit will be a good approximation and the chameleon mechanism will be active there. In the presence of an extended object with a constant density profile, static and spherically symmetric solutions to theories constructed from  $\phi$  and  $\partial_{\mu}\phi$  have been studied in [36]. It is shown which regions of parameter space admit sensible power law solutions without sharp spatial gradients, at least in the limits where analytical results can be found. The simple monomial solution considered in [36] is not realised by the DBI chameleon theory when the potential is chosen to allow for the chameleon mechanism. It would be interesting to perform a more in depth analysis, for example looking for polynomial solutions and/or relaxing the assumption of a constant density profile for the extended source, to see if well behaved solutions  $exist^2$ .

The higher order corrections in the effective action for  $\phi$  correspond to operators in the probe brane action with derivatives on the induced metric. These can be encoded in increasing powers of the extrinsic curvature on the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>As emphasised in [139], the DBI symmetry means that a constant gradient profile can be removed by a boost and is therefore unobservable. So in our case any observable constant gradient profile must be proportional to the symmetry breaking parameters.

brane and covariant derivatives of the extrinsic curvature. For the induced metric (6.35) the extrinsic curvature is

$$\hat{K}_{\mu\nu} = \frac{\gamma \nabla_{\mu} \nabla_{\nu} \phi}{\Lambda^2} \tag{6.38}$$

where

$$\gamma = \frac{1}{\sqrt{1 + \frac{(\partial\phi)^2}{\Lambda^4}}} \tag{6.39}$$

is the gamma factor. Given the equations in (6.33), an increasing Z factor and decreasing matter coupling corresponds to an increasing gamma factor. We note that more generally the action can contain terms built of the Riemann curvature of  $\hat{g}_{\mu\nu}$  but these can be eliminated in favour of extrinsic curvature terms by the Gauss-Codazzi relation  $R_{\mu\nu\sigma\rho} = K_{\mu\sigma}K_{\nu\rho} - K_{\mu\rho}K_{\nu\sigma}$ . The general effective theory on the brane is therefore

$$\hat{S} = -\Lambda^4 \int d^4x \sqrt{-\hat{g}} \left[ 1 + \frac{a}{\Lambda} \hat{K} + \frac{b_1}{\Lambda^2} \hat{K}^2 + \frac{b_2}{\Lambda^2} \hat{K}_{\mu\nu} \hat{K}^{\mu\nu} + \dots \right]$$
(6.40)

where indices are raised and lowered with  $\hat{g}_{\mu\nu}$  e.g.  $\hat{K} = \hat{g}^{\mu\nu}\hat{K}_{\mu\nu}$ , and  $a, b_1, b_2, \ldots$ are arbitrary dimensionless coupling constants. The ellipses denote operators with at least three powers of the extrinsic curvature and all powers which involve derivatives of the extrinsic curvature. Since all these operators are also invariant under the DBI symmetry we include them all in our correction to the chameleon action. Assuming that the dimensionless coupling constants are  $\mathcal{O}(1)$ , the truncation to (6.37) which is sufficient to realise the Vainshtein mechanism is therefore valid as long as  $K^{\mu}{}_{\nu} \ll \Lambda$  where

$$K^{\mu}{}_{\nu} = \frac{\gamma}{\Lambda^2} \nabla^{\mu} \nabla_{\nu} \phi - \frac{\gamma^3}{\Lambda^6} \nabla^{\sigma} \phi \nabla^{\mu} \phi \nabla_{\nu} \nabla_{\sigma} \phi.$$
 (6.41)

On a cosmological background, the DBI invariant quantum corrections to the (6.37) are small if

$$\frac{\gamma H \dot{\phi}}{\Lambda^3} \ll 1 \qquad \frac{\gamma^3 \ddot{\phi}}{\Lambda^3} \ll 1.$$
 (6.42)

On a background with  $K \sim \Lambda$ , an infinite tower of irrelevant operators becomes important and the effective theory on the brane runs out of control. In the following section where we study the evolution of the DBI chameleon action in the presence of the standard model kicks, we will check that these conditions are satisfied on the scales of interest. One may worry that the positive powers of  $\gamma$  in (6.42) makes it difficult to satisfy these constraints since the growing Z factor required for screening corresponds to growing  $\gamma$ . However, we can still realise the Vainshtein mechanism while maintaining  $\gamma \sim \mathcal{O}(1)$ . In this case the higher order operators are suppressed if  $H \ll \Lambda$  where we have taken  $\dot{\phi}^2 \sim \Lambda^4$ in the DBI limit and assumed  $\ddot{\phi} \sim H\dot{\phi}$ .

For arbitrary co-efficients in the brane action, operators with two or more powers of the extrinsic curvature lead to higher order equations of motion for  $\phi$ . However, if one tunes the coefficients in (6.40) such that the equations of motion for  $\phi$  are second order, in the small field limit one recovers the galileon interactions (5.49) [157,158]. This makes the connection between the structure of the galileon terms and the second order nature of their equations of motion manifest since this tuning corresponds to a brane action constructed from the Lovelock invariants [159]. For example, at quadratic order in the extrinsic curvature we require  $b_1 = -b_2$  for the resulting  $\phi$  operators to have second order equations of motion and by the Gauss-Codazzi relation, this tuning leads to the Ricci scalar in the brane action. In the small field limit this operator corresponds to the quartic galileon. This also emphasises the fact that to trust the truncation to the galileon interactions (5.49) we must tune the coefficients of operators which would otherwise lead to higher order equations of motion. We do not have any reason to do this unless the tuning is protected by some symmetry which in this case it is not. Other maximally symmetric bulk geometries were also considered in [157].

Here we have argued that the neat properties of the DBI interactions are vital in our ability to extend the validity of the chameleon theory and we have calculated the conditions we need to satisfy to keep the higher order operators also invariant under the DBI symmetry negligible. However, in the full DBI chameleon action (6.32) the symmetry is broken by the potential  $V(\phi)$  and at finite  $M_{\rm pl}$ . One might expect that the neat properties are lost in the full theory since loop corrections associated with these interactions can indeed spoil the

square root structure and the structure of the higher order operators. However, quantum gravity corrections induced at finite  $M_{\rm pl}$  are Planck suppressed and can be consistently ignored with  $\Lambda \ll M_{\rm pl}$ . Similarly, corrections due to the scalar field's conformal coupling to matter can be ignored with  $\Lambda \ll M_{\rm pl}/\beta$ . Both of these will be trivially satisfied, in the second case even for a wide range of  $\beta$  values, since the scale of the standard model kicks is at least 15 orders of magnitude below the Planck scale. We can also ignore corrections due to the potential. Indeed, if we assume that the potential is analytic at large values of  $\phi$ , as is usually the case in chameleon theories e.g. the potential (6.9), the mass scale M which controls the strength of these interactions enters the action with positive powers such that they become infinitely weak when  $M \to 0$ . Therefore any breaking of the square root structure associated with the potential comes with a factor of  $\left(\frac{M}{\Lambda}\right)^n$ , with n > 0, relative to the tree level operators. We can therefore neglect these terms when  $M \ll \Lambda$ . This is in fact also a natural hierarchy for the theory to posses since M is controlled by physics in the late universe while the scale  $\Lambda$  is set by scale of the standard model kicks in the early universe.

In conclusion, with  $M \ll \Lambda \ll M_{\rm pl}$ , while satisfying the conditions (6.42), we can trust the truncation to, and the structure of, the DBI interactions in the full theory even in the limit  $\dot{\phi}^2 \to \Lambda^4$  where the Vainshtein mechanism is active. We also note that the DBI structure imposes a speed limit on the scalar ensuring that  $\dot{\phi} < \Lambda^2$  throughout evolution. This gives us a sound basis for nullifying the effects of the standard model kicks.

### 6.4 Kicking the DBI chameleon

We now return to the standard model kicks. In this section we again study the consequences of the kicks on the evolution of the scalar but now we do so in the DBI chameleon theory (6.32) and show how their adverse effects on the chameleon cosmology found in [43,44] is nullified with a judicious choice of  $\Lambda$ . We do so using a combination of analytic and numerical results.

We saw in section 6.2 that the surfer solution  $\dot{\phi} = -M_{\rm pl}H/\beta$ , which cor-
responds to a constant Jordan frame temperature, could exist at any scale  $M_{\rm pl}H$  when the kicks are present in the field theory sector and with  $\Sigma$  passing through  $\Sigma_c = 2/(6\beta^2 - 1)$ . With the inclusion of the DBI interactions we expect the surfing behaviour to be spoiled when  $\dot{\phi}^2 \sim \Lambda^4$  i.e. when the DBI interactions are strong and the Vainshtein mechanism is active. Given the form of the surfer solution we must therefore choose  $\Lambda^2 \leq M_{\rm pl}H/\beta$  to invalidate it. We note that with a hierarchy between  $\Lambda$  and  $M_{\rm pl}$  which is required to avoid quantum gravity corrections to the DBI chameleon action, we can satisfy this bound while maintaining  $H \ll \Lambda$  which ensures that the higher order operators are suppressed.

We begin by first setting  $\Sigma = \Sigma_c$  and studying the resulting dynamics. This allows us to see the positive contributions from the DBI interactions at work. In this section we will not be interested in modelling kicks at realistic energy scales our only aim is to prove the effectiveness of the DBI interactions in simple scenarios. We will then allow  $\Sigma$  to vary as a function of Jordan frame temperature representing a more realistic description of the field theory sector. Here we will work with energy scales corresponding to the standard model kicks. We will concentrate on a single kick and approximate it as a Gaussian function which for our purposes is a good approximation to the true functions in figure (6.3).

#### **6.4.1** Constant $\Sigma$

Let us define  $P(X) = \Lambda^4 - \Lambda^4 \sqrt{1 - \frac{2X}{\Lambda^4}}$  where  $X = -(\partial \phi)^2/2$  such that the cosmological equations of motion coming from the DBI chameleon action (6.32) are

$$3M_{\rm pl}^2 H^2 = \rho_\phi + \rho \tag{6.43}$$

$$M_{\rm pl}^2 \left( 2\dot{H} + 3H^2 \right) = -p_\phi - p \tag{6.44}$$

$$(P_{,X} + 2XP_{,XX}) \ddot{\phi} + 3HP_{,X} \dot{\phi} + V'(\phi) = -\frac{\beta}{M_{\rm pl}} \rho \Sigma$$
(6.45)

where as before p and  $\rho$  are the pressure and energy density of the matter degrees of freedom respectively,  $\Sigma = 1 - 3w$  when the matter sector is dominated by a perfect fluid with  $p = w\rho$ , and  $P_{X} = \partial P/\partial X$ . The energy density of the scalar field is now  $\rho_{\phi} = 2XP_{X} - P(X)$  and the pressure is  $p_{\phi} = P(X)$ . As a consistency check we recover the corresponding equations for the chameleon when we decouple the DBI interactions by sending  $\Lambda \to \infty$ . Following section 6.2, we drop the potential  $V(\phi)$  and eliminate all  $\rho$  dependence which does not enter the equations of motion via  $\Sigma$  yielding the following two equations

$$M_{\rm pl}^2 H^2(4-\Sigma) + 2M_{\rm pl}^2 \dot{H} + p_\phi - \rho_\phi + \frac{(2+\Sigma)}{3}\rho_\phi = 0 \qquad (6.46)$$

$$(P_{,X} + 2XP_{,XX})\ddot{\phi} + 3HP_{,X}\dot{\phi} + 3M_{\rm pl}\beta\Sigma H^2 \left(1 - \frac{\rho_{\phi}}{3M_{\rm pl}^2 H^2}\right) = 0.$$
(6.47)

To clearly see the effect of the DBI interactions with finite  $\Lambda$  we use the same set of dynamical variables (6.20,6.21,6.22) as we did for the chameleon case such that these equations of motion can be expressed as the following autonomous system

$$\begin{aligned} \dot{x} &= z \end{aligned} \tag{6.48} \\ \dot{y} &= \frac{1}{H_y} \left[ 3H_z H s^2 z - \frac{1}{2} M_{\rm pl} H_z H^2 [(1-y)(2+\Sigma(1-6\beta^2 s^3)) \\ &+ 3y(1-s) - 6(1-s^2)] + \frac{H^2}{2} (\Sigma - 4 - y(\Sigma + 2) + 3y(1-s)) \right] \end{aligned} \tag{6.49}$$

$$\dot{z} = -3Hs^2z + \frac{1}{2}M_{\rm pl}H^2\left[(1-y)\left(2+\Sigma(1-6\beta^2s^3)\right) + 3y(1-s) - 6(1-s^2)\right]$$
(6.50)

where we have defined

$$s = \sqrt{1 - \frac{(z - M_{\rm pl}H)^2}{\beta^2 \Lambda^4}}$$
 (6.51)

and e.g.  $H_y = \partial H/\partial y$ . We remind the reader that our choice of x is such that  $z = \dot{x} = 0$  represents a constant Jordan frame temperature which characterises the surfer solution. The Hubble parameter H(y, z) is now given implicitly by the equation

$$\left(\Lambda^4 - \frac{(z - M_{\rm pl}H)^2}{\beta^2}\right) \left(1 + \frac{3M_{\rm pl}^2H^2y}{\Lambda^4}\right)^2 = \Lambda^4.$$
(6.52)

In the chameleon limit we found two sets of fixed points. The first set was

trivial and the surfer solution with z = 0 only existed in an empty universe with H = 0. However, the interesting line of fixed points had z = 0 but with yfixed such that H remained unconstrained. This ensured that the surfer could exist at any energy scale. To see when this behaviour is realised in the presence of the DBI interactions we set z = 0 in equation (6.52) yielding a polynomial in  $M_{\rm pl}H$  given by

$$\left(\frac{9y^2}{\beta^2 \Lambda^8}\right) (M_{\rm pl}H)^6 + \left(\frac{6y}{\beta^2 \Lambda^4} - \frac{9y^2}{\Lambda^4}\right) (M_{\rm pl}H)^4 + \left(\frac{1}{\beta^2} - 6y\right) (M_{\rm pl}H)^2 = 0.$$
(6.53)

When does this equation fail to constrain the Hubble parameter? For this to happen we require the co-efficient of each power of  $M_{\rm pl}H$  to vanish which can only happen in two different ways. The first is by taking  $\Lambda \to \infty$  and setting  $y = 1/6\beta^2$ . This limit simply reduces the theory to the original chameleon model and this choice of y is precisely the one we found in section 6.2. It is therefore not surprising that H(y, z) is unconstrained in this case. The only other way is to take  $\beta \to \infty$  and set y = 0. It is also not surprising that these choices allow the surfer to appear at any energy scale since this limit makes the scalar field strongly coupled to the matter sector and the conformal coupling dominates over the suppression coming from the DBI interactions for all finite  $\Lambda$ . Therefore, there is no way for the surfer to exist in the DBI chameleon theory at an arbitrary energy scale when we have finite  $\Lambda$  and  $\beta \sim O(1)$ .

We can see this behaviour numerically by solving the dynamical system for a range of initial conditions. To do so we set  $\Sigma = \Sigma_c = 2/(6\beta^2 - 1)$  and initially work with finite  $\Lambda$  and  $\beta \sim \mathcal{O}(1)$ . The resulting trajectories in the (H, z) plane are shown below in figure (6.5). This plot confirms that when the DBI interactions are strong at high energies, the surfer solution is no longer an attractor. The stable z = 0 line is only present at low energies when  $H \lesssim$  $\Lambda^2/M_{\rm pl}$  which is what we expect since there the DBI interactions are weak. This is because we are working with a constant  $\Sigma$  so as the temperature cools the surfer will inevitably appear when the theory becomes a good approximation to the original chameleon theory. For these trajectories we have set  $\Lambda/M_{\rm pl} \sim$  $5 \times 10^{-3}$  such that  $H \ll \Lambda$  throughout ensuring that the higher order corrections are suppressed relative to the DBI interactions. In figure (6.6) we plot the trajectories with the same initial conditions and the same finite  $\Lambda$  but now with  $\beta$  increased by an order of magnitude. As expected we see the surfing behaviour reappearing at high energies due to the strong coupling between the scalar and matter fields. We see similar results in figure (6.7) where we again we use the same initial conditions,  $\beta \sim \mathcal{O}(1)$  but have increased the value of  $\Lambda$  by an order of magnitude such that the DBI interactions are weak over the full trajectories with  $H \lesssim \Lambda^2/M_{\rm pl}$  at all times.



Figure 6.5: Plot of z against H, with finite  $\Lambda$  and  $\beta \sim \mathcal{O}(1)$ , for a range of initial conditions with  $\Sigma = \Sigma_c$ . Figure produced by Toby Wilson.



Figure 6.6: Plot of z against H, with finite  $\Lambda$  and  $\beta \gg 1$ , for a range of initial conditions with  $\Sigma = \Sigma_c$ . Figure produced by Toby Wilson.



Figure 6.7: Plot of z against H, with  $\Lambda^2 > M_{\rm pl}H$  and  $\beta \sim \mathcal{O}(1)$  for a range of initial conditions with  $\Sigma = \Sigma_c$ . Figure produced by Toby Wilson.

We remind the reader that in these plots we have set  $\Sigma = \Sigma_c$  which is not a realistic model. In reality  $\Sigma$  will vary from the critical value as the Jordan frame temperature varies as shown in figure (6.3). Our aim here is to merely prove that for a given energy scale, the surfing behaviour can be nullified for a particular choice of  $\Lambda$  without tuning  $\beta$ . For the standard model kicks, the last and most significant kick is due to the electron with  $M_{\rm pl}H \sim ({\rm MeV})^2$ . We must therefore set  $\Lambda \lesssim {\rm MeV}/\beta$  to suppress the effects of the kicks in a realistic scenario.

Having shown that the DBI interactions do indeed have the desired effect, we must still check that the scalar is prevented from undergoing large field excursions. It was the large field excursions in the chameleon theory which caused the chameleon to reach the minimum of its effective potential with a high velocity resulting in the break down in its classical description. The field excursions are given by

$$\Delta \phi = \int_{t_i}^{t_i + \Delta t} \dot{\phi} \,\mathrm{d}t \tag{6.54}$$

where  $\Sigma$  is well approximated by  $\Sigma_c$  between times  $t_i$  and  $t_i + \Delta t$ . The size of the field excursions will generically depend on the initial value of z and since we expect the maximum variations to come from the surfer solution we set  $z(t_i) = 0$  such that  $\dot{\phi}(t_i) = -M_{\rm pl}H/\beta$ . It follows from equation (6.54) that

$$\frac{\Delta\phi}{M_{\rm pl}} \approx -\frac{H\Delta t}{\beta}.\tag{6.55}$$

Small variations in  $\Sigma$  corresponds to small variations in the Jordan frame temperature which are given by

$$\frac{\Delta T_J}{T_J} = -\int_{t_i}^{t_i + \Delta t} \frac{z}{M_{\rm pl}} \,\mathrm{d}t \tag{6.56}$$

which we can approximate as

$$\frac{\Delta T_J}{T_J} \approx -\frac{\dot{z}(t_i)}{M_{\rm pl}} \frac{\Delta t^2}{2} \tag{6.57}$$

since  $z(t) \approx \dot{z}(t_i)(t-t_i)$ . We can use equation (6.50) to extract  $\dot{z}(t_i)$  by setting  $z(t_i) = 0, \ y(t_i) \sim \mathcal{O}(1)$  and  $\Sigma = \Sigma_c$  yielding

$$\dot{z}(t_i) \sim \mathcal{O}(1) \frac{M_{\rm pl}^3 H^4}{\beta^2 \Lambda^4}.$$
(6.58)

Plugging this into (6.57) and combining the result with (6.55) leads to

$$\frac{\Delta\phi}{M_{\rm pl}} \approx \mathcal{O}(1) \frac{\Lambda^2}{M_{\rm pl}H} \sqrt{\left|\frac{\Delta T_J}{T_J}\right|}.$$
(6.59)

The assumption of  $\Sigma \approx \Sigma_c$  is only valid when  $\left|\frac{\Delta T_J}{T_J}\right| \lesssim 1$  therefore we have

$$\frac{\Delta\phi}{M_{\rm pl}} \lesssim \frac{\Lambda^2}{M_{\rm pl}H}.\tag{6.60}$$

This shows that as we decrease the value of  $\Lambda$ , thereby increasing the strength of the DBI interactions, we decrease the field excursions of the scalar, as desired. We shall confirm this heuristic estimate numerically when we consider non constant  $\Sigma$  in the next section.

#### **6.4.2** Varying $\Sigma$

We now study the evolution of the DBI chameleon in the presence of a nonconstant kick where  $\Sigma = \Sigma(T_J)$ . In this section we shall use slightly different variables by defining a dimensionless field  $\varphi = \phi/M_{\rm pl}$  and using Einstein frame e-folds  $N = \ln a$  instead of cosmological time as the evolution variable. These were the variables used in [43,44] when surfer was first identified. In this case it corresponds to  $\varphi' = -1/\beta$  where a prime denotes differentiation with respect to N. The equations of motion for the DBI chameleon (6.46,6.47) are now

$$2\frac{H'}{H} + (4 - \Sigma) + \frac{1}{M_{\rm pl}^2 H^2} \left[ p_{\phi} - \rho_{\phi} + \left(\frac{2 + \Sigma}{3}\right) \rho_{\phi} \right] = 0$$
(6.61)
$$\left( P_{,X} + P_{,XX} M_{\rm pl}^2 H'^2 \varphi'^2 \right) \left( \varphi'' + \frac{H'}{H} \varphi' \right) + 3P_{,X} \varphi' + 3\beta \Sigma \left( 1 - \frac{\rho_{\phi}}{3M_{\rm pl}^2 H^2} \right) = 0.$$
(6.62)

We recover the chameleon equations of motion in the limit  $\Lambda \to \infty$  which in terms of these variables are

$$2\frac{H'}{H} + (4 - \Sigma) + \left(\frac{2 + \Sigma}{3}\right)\frac{\varphi'^2}{2} = 0$$
 (6.63)

$$\varphi'' + \left(\frac{H'}{H} + 3\right)\varphi' + 3\beta\Sigma\left(1 - \frac{\varphi'^2}{6}\right) = 0$$
(6.64)

and we remind the reader that in each case we have neglected the potential.

In this section we model the standard model kicks as Gaussian functions and concentrate on a single kick for simplicity. This will be sufficient in our aim to show the effectiveness of the DBI interactions as long as we allow  $\Sigma$ to pass through  $\Sigma_c$ . We will also model this single kick as the one due to the electron since this is the most significant kick and occurs at the smallest energy scale. In this sense if the DBI interactions are able to suppress the effects of this kick on the scalar's evolution, the preceding kicks will also be harmless because at those scales the DBI interactions will be even stronger. In any case we set

$$\Sigma(T_J) = A \exp\left[-\frac{(\log T_J - \log T_{peak})^2}{\sigma^2}\right]$$
(6.65)

where A,  $T_{peak}$  and  $\sigma$  are free parameters which we can fix to model the desired kick. For the electron we set A = 0.1,  $T_{peak} = 2 \times 10^{-4}$ GeV and  $\sigma = 0.3$  such that our simplified kick is shown below in figure (6.8). However, to evolve the system we require  $\Sigma(N)$ . We can easily derive this given that the Jordan frame temperature is  $T_J \sim e^{-\beta \phi/M_{\rm pl}}/a$  which leads to

$$T_J(N) = T_{J,i} \exp\left[-N - \beta \Delta \varphi(N)\right]$$
(6.66)

where at N = 0 the initial Jordan frame temperature is  $T_{J,i}$  and  $\Delta \varphi(N) = \varphi(N) - \varphi_i$ . Plugging this expression into (6.65) yields  $\Sigma(N)$ . We set  $T_{J,i} = 10^{-2}$ GeV for the electron as dictated by figure (6.3).



Figure 6.8: Plot of  $\Sigma(T_J)$  for the simplified kick we will consider to show the effects of the DBI corrections. The parameters are chosen to model the standard model kick due to the electron.

In the presence of this kick we shall evolve the equations of motion for the chameleon and for the DBI chameleon. We choose a range of values for  $\Lambda$  in the DBI chameleon runs initially concentrating on the parameter space where  $\Lambda$  varies from  $\Lambda_k$  to  $10\Lambda_k$  where  $\Lambda_k$  is the scale of the kick. This will allow us to emphasis the effects of the DBI correction on the resulting evolution. We will consider smaller values of  $\Lambda$ , and therefore stronger DBI interactions (assuming the same initial  $\dot{\phi}$ ), later on to illustrate the suppression in the scalar's field excursion. To close the system of equations we also have to specify the initial energy density  $\rho_i$  which is given by [44]

$$\rho_{r,i} = \frac{\pi^2}{30} g_* \left( T_{J,i} \right) T_{J,i}^4 e^{4\beta\varphi_i} \tag{6.67}$$

with  $g_*(T_{J,i}) = 10.75$ . Here we have neglected any contributions to the matter energy density from non-relativistic particles. To compare the chameleon and the DBI chameleon we choose to match the initial energy densities in each run. Given that we will always have  $\gamma \sim \mathcal{O}(1)$  to help keep the higher order corrections under control, this amounts to matching the initial values of  $\phi$  and  $\dot{\phi}$  from which we can infer  $\varphi_i$ ,  $\varphi'_i$  and  $H_i$  to evolve the systems. We use the same initial velocity in each run and choose its value such that when  $\Lambda = \Lambda_k$  we have  $\gamma \approx 1.7$  which is strongly in the DBI regime. Since this is the smallest value of  $\Lambda$  we shall consider it is the largest value of  $\gamma$  and therefore yields the largest suppression to the matter coupling.

In figure (6.9) we plot the  $\varphi' - \varphi$  plane. It is clear that the surfer behaviour does not exist for the two runs with the smallest values of  $\Lambda$  (solid lines). In these cases the scalar velocity decays to zero while in the other cases it asymptotes to  $-1/\beta$  as we would expect on the surfer solution. For these trajectories we have set  $\beta = 3$  and plotted the constant  $\varphi' = -1/\beta$  line for ease of comparison. The run with the largest value of  $\Lambda$  is a very good approximation to the chameleon run (black line) while the other two DBI chameleon runs which do surf (dashed and dashed dotted lines) do not exactly follow the chameleon but the DBI interactions are not strong enough to prevent the surfer from existing. The behaviour shown in this figure is exactly what we expect from our earlier results and discussions. In figure (6.10) we plot  $\Sigma$  as a function of Einstein frame e-folds N with the critical value  $\Sigma_c = 2/(6\beta^2 - 1)$  also plotted at all N. With  $\beta = 3$  it corresponds to  $\Sigma_c \approx 0.038$ . We can see how the runs at finite  $\Lambda$ which do not surf see the expected form of the kick function over a finite number of e-folds and  $\Sigma$  does not get caught at the critical value. Whereas the DBI chameleon runs which do surf, and the chameleon run, see a kick function which asymptotes to the critical value where the Jordan frame temperature ceases to evolve. Recall that  $\Sigma$  crosses the critical value at two different values of N. However, the surfing behaviour is experienced at the larger N, or similarly, the smallest Jordan frame temperature. This is precisely what we expected based on our perturbative analysis in section 6.2 where we saw that the fluctuations around the surfer solution only decayed at the smaller temperature.

Finally for these runs, we plot the field excursions experienced by the field over the full trajectories in figure (6.11). It is clear that for the runs where

surfing exists the Jordan frame temperature does not evolve once it has reached the critical value whereas for the two runs with sufficiently small  $\Lambda$  the surfing behaviour is non-existent and the Jordan frame temperature decreases as the system evolves. We also see that the smaller values of  $\Lambda$  yield smaller field excursions. However, each of these runs has  $\Delta \phi \sim M_{\rm pl}$  which is problematic for the reasons discussed above, but they can be decreased by further lowering  $\Lambda$ . Indeed, the lowest value we have considered so far is a worse case scenario where  $\Lambda = \Lambda_k$ . Let us now consider a range of  $\Lambda$  values below  $\Lambda_k$  and demonstrate how the field excursions decrease with decreasing  $\Lambda$  as we estimated in equation (6.60).



Figure 6.9: Plot of the trajectories in the  $\varphi' - \varphi$  plane for a range of  $\Lambda$  values with  $\beta = 3$  and evolved for 15 Einstein frame e-folds. See figure (6.11) for legend. Figure produced by Emma Platts and Anthony Walters.



Figure 6.10: Plot of  $\Sigma(N)$  for each run with the critical value  $\Sigma_c = 2/(6\beta^2 - 1)$  plotted for comparison and  $\beta = 3$ . Figure produced by Emma Platts and Anthony Walters.



Figure 6.11: Plot of the field excursion in units of GeV against Jordan frame temperature for  $\Lambda \geq \Lambda_k$  with  $\beta = 3$ . Figure produced by Emma Platts and Anthony Walters.

We can do this in two ways. The first is by decreasing the size of  $\Lambda$  but keeping the initial velocity of the field the same as for the previous runs. The effect of this is to raise the value of  $\gamma$  and to further weaken the coupling between the scalar and matter fields. We plot the resulting field excursions as a function of Jordan frame temperature in figure (6.12) for values of  $\Lambda$  between  $\Lambda_k$  and  $5 \times 10^{-3} \Lambda_k$ . We can clearly see that the field excursions decrease as we decrease  $\Lambda$ . The other possibility is to decrease  $\Lambda$  and the initial velocity at the same rate such that the  $\gamma$  factor and the matter coupling strength remains the same as before. We plot the resulting field excursions in figure (6.13) and again we see them decreasing as  $\Lambda$  is lowered. In this case the suppression is due to the smaller initial velocity as dictated by the DBI speed limit. In both cases we see how the excursions can be decreased by many orders of magnitude below the Planck scale, as desired.



Figure 6.12: Plot of the field excursion in units of GeV against Jordan frame temperature for  $\Lambda \leq \Lambda_k$  and  $\beta = 3$ . Here the initial velocity is the same for each run such that the  $\gamma$  is increased as  $\Lambda$  is decreased. Figure produced by Emma Platts and Anthony Walters.



Figure 6.13: Plot of the field excursion in units of GeV against Jordan frame temperature for  $\Lambda \leq \Lambda_k$  and  $\beta = 3$ . Here the initial velocity is decreased with decreasing  $\Lambda$  such that  $\gamma$  is the same in each run. Figure produced by Emma Platts and Anthony Walters.

### 6.5 Discussion

In this chapter we have introduced a UV extension of the chameleon theory. This was motivated by the break down in the original model's classical description in the early universe due to standard model particles becoming non-relativistic. The conformal coupling between the chameleon and matter degrees of freedom in a radiation dominated universe drives the chameleon towards the minimum of its effective potential with a huge velocity. This results in rapid variations in the effective mass of fluctuations. Consequently, highly energetic modes are excited rendering the effective description of the chameleon uncontrollable.

These conclusions are due to a surfer solution which exists at a constant Jordan frame temperature and allows the chameleon to undergo extremely large field excursions. The existence of the surfer solution and the resulting problems can only be avoided in the original chameleon theory by tuning the matter coupling such that the chameleon is insensitive to the standard model kicks shown in figure (6.3). Here we have shown that this fate can be avoided in the DBI chameleon theory without tuning the matter coupling.

Relative to the original chameleon theory, the DBI chameleon includes derivative self interactions of the scalar field which weaken the effective coupling between the scalar and matter fields in a dynamical way in the early universe due to cosmological Vainshtein screening. We saw that the suppression is effective in eliminating the troublesome surfer solution in the presence of a given kick if we choose  $\Lambda \lesssim \sqrt{M_{\rm pl}H/\beta}$  where  $M_{\rm pl}H$  is the scale of the kick. Concentrating on the most significant kick, which is due to the electron, we required  $\Lambda \lesssim {\rm MeV}/{\sqrt{\beta}}$ .

We also considered the effects of quantum corrections to the kinetic structure of the DBI chameleon action and showed that the theory is stable with respect to these corrections with  $M \ll \Lambda \ll M_{\rm pl}$  and  $H \ll \Lambda$  throughout evolution. The hierarchy of scales between the various coupling constants is naturally satisfied, and for the electron kick we must therefore also set  $\Lambda \gg ({\rm MeV})^2/M_{\rm pl}$ , given that  $M_{\rm pl}H = ({\rm MeV})^2$ , to keep the quantum corrections suppressed. Our ability to realise the Vainshtein mechanism on a homogeneous background while keeping higher order operators under control is due to the DBI structure enjoying a non-linearly realised symmetry. This ensures that we did not lose calculability even in the  $n \to \infty$  limit of a theory constructed from a tower of  $(\partial \phi)^{2n}$  operators. We understood this symmetry as coming from the five dimensional Lorentz invariance of a probe brane theory embedded in a 5D Minkowski bulk.

We remind the reader that the infrared dynamics of the chameleon remain unaltered and in the solar system the chameleon mechanism is effective, suppressing the scalar force in well tested environments. Finally, it would be interesting to investigate signatures of the DBI chameleon which differ from the original chameleon on other aspects of early universe cosmology. Chapter

# Discussion and Future Work

A large part of this thesis is motivated by the cosmological constant problem and new approaches to tackling it. This problem is one of the major open questions in gravity and particle physics and a solution to it, or indeed the lack of a solution, is bound to teach us something about fundamental physics. In chapter 2 we described the cosmological constant problem in detail, explaining how the radiative instability of vacuum energy loops associated with massive particles in the standard model requires us to repeatedly tune a classical parameter in the action of General Relativity (GR). We have to do this such that the dynamics allows the universe to evolve into the macroscopic state we find it in. Indeed, without a compelling solution to the cosmological constant problem we do not have an answer to the simple question: why is the universe big?

We emphasised that since the cosmological constant is really a global parameter, i.e. it does not vary in space-time, if one is to prevent only the vacuum energy from sourcing curvature then one should seek to modify the global structure of Einstein's equations. We showed how this can be done, with the field equations coming from a local action with a well defined variational principle, in chapter 3. There we discussed the vacuum energy sequestering scenario [1, 30, 31] where global constraints restricted the vacuum energy from sourcing space-time curvature.

However, there remains many open questions which both the original and local sequestering models face. In particular, how could the mechanism also deal with loop corrections to the cosmological constant which involve internal gravitons? These are ignored in the current framework since we treat gravity classically and compute all loop corrections in the limit where it is decoupled. Beyond this limit, we would expect contributions to the overall cosmological constant by virtue of diagrams of the form

$$+$$
  $(7.1)$ 

where here the corrections are due to a massive particle coupled to internal gravitons. By dimensional analysis one would expect that the first diagram contributes [79]

$$\delta\Lambda = \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{M^6}{M_{\rm pl}^2}\right) + \cdots$$
 (7.2)

where M is the field theory cut-off. If we model this as a standard model particle then we may well expect that  $M \sim \text{TeV}$  in which case the first diagram yields a vacuum energy  $\sim 10^{30} (\text{meV})^4$ . This is a substantial contribution to the cosmological constant which must be cancelled<sup>1</sup>. However, beyond simple dimensional analysis, the calculation of this diagram would be somewhat speculative since it would be sensitive to quantum gravity effects. Also, we have only directly tested gravity at much smaller energy scales than we have in particle physics. It may be that gravity is supersymmetric way below the TeV scale in which case these diagrams would be far from the full story and their contributions may be cancelled at energies not much larger than the observed cosmological constant by the graviton's super-partner. These are sufficient reasons to initially focus on pure matter loop corrections, as we have done in this thesis, but it is certainly a worthwhile exercise to investigate the effects of these diagrams too. A way to do this has been presented in [160] where the space-time average of the Gauss-Bonnett combination is held fixed by virtue

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Of course, as we include diagrams with more internal gravitons, the Planck suppression becomes more effective and for a standard model particle coupled to gravity those diagrams will eventually become harmless.

of the four forms rather than the Ricci scalar. Another possibility would be to study the interplay between the local sequestering theory and supergravity.

One may expect that this would be aided with the introduction of kinetic terms for the scalars and 4-forms which in the current form of the local sequestering action (7.3) are absent. Whether they are generated quantum mechanically, and more generally if the full structure of the sequestering action is stable against quantum corrections, remains an open question which again progress on would be made by considering embeddings of the local sequestering model in supergravity. An important question in this regard is if kinetic energy terms can be included without spoiling the cancellation of pure matter loops? As a first pass, consider the new action

$$S = \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} \left[ \frac{\kappa^2(x)}{2} R - \frac{a}{2} (\partial \kappa)^2 - \Lambda_c(x) - \frac{b}{2} (\partial \Lambda_c)^2 - \frac{c}{4!} F^2 - \frac{d}{4!} \hat{F}^2 \right]$$
$$\frac{1}{4!} \int dx^{\mu} dx^{\nu} dx^{\lambda} dx^{\rho} \left[ \sigma \left( \frac{\Lambda_c(x)}{\mu^4} \right) F_{\mu\nu\lambda\rho} + \hat{\sigma} \left( \frac{\kappa^2(x)}{M_{\rm pl}^2} \right) \hat{F}_{\mu\nu\lambda\rho} \right] + S_m(g_{\mu\nu}, \Phi)$$
(7.3)

where a, b, c, d are constants which in some cases are dimensionful, and e.g.  $F^2 = F_{\mu\nu\lambda\rho}F^{\mu\nu\lambda\rho}$ . This reduces to the local sequestering theory when a = b = c = d = 0. The first thing to note is that the 4-forms now appear in the gravitational sector since their kinetic terms couple to the metric. Also, the variation with respect to the corresponding 3-forms does not fix the scalars to be constant on-shell. Instead they fix  $\sigma - 2c \star F$  and  $\hat{\sigma} - 2d \star \hat{F}$  to be constant. A consequence of this is that the would be global constraint on the Ricci scalar from varying with respect to the scalars, which is vital to the cancellation of matter loops, now depends on the non-constant scalars and the metric. To retain the exact calculation with the kinetic terms, we would therefore require another mechanism to render the scalars constant on-shell, or at least fluctuating very slowly.

It may be the case that with the inclusion of kinetic terms it is not possible to only sequester the vacuum energy. There may also be effects on finite wavelength sources thereby opening up avenues for observational tests of the model. In the current form of the local sequestering theory, it is difficult to distinguish it from GR in a low energy experiment since they are locally equivalent theories<sup>2</sup>. It is only the global structure which is very different. This further motivates looking for high energy completions of sequestering since even in the absence of an experimental test, this will enable one to learn more about the validity of the model.

Away from the cosmological constant problem, it would be interesting to implement the structure of the sequestering models in other areas of cosmology and particle physics. For example, in the local sequestering theory, the 4-forms were a vital ingredient since they provided non-gravitating measures without breaking gauge invariance. We saw how this allowed us to decouple the vacuum energy from curvature. It would be interesting to apply these techniques to gravitationally decouple other energy density sources in a similar way to screening mechanisms in modifications of gravity. We argued in the introduction that the acceleration of the universe offers motivation for modifying GR on large distances to realise an accelerating cosmology in the absence of a cosmological constant. However, the very stringent tests of gravity in local environments necessitates a screening mechanism for these models which shuts down new long range forces in solar system [5]. In fact, regardless of late time cosmology, one may expect that light scalar fields with gravitational strength couplings exist in Nature in attempts to UV complete gravity and so we must explain why they have not been seen. In this regard, one could couple a long range scalar to a 4-form with the strength of the coupling sensitive to the environment, much like the scalar mass in the chameleon mechanism.

One could also use 4-forms to impose interesting constraints on other Lorentz scalars, rather than merely fixing a scalar to have a constant profile. For example, consider the following coupling between the kinetic term of a scalar field and a 4-form

$$\int dx^{\mu} dx^{\nu} dx^{\lambda} dx^{\rho} (\partial \phi)^2 F_{\mu\nu\lambda\rho}$$
(7.4)

where  $F_{\mu\nu\lambda\rho} = 4\partial_{[\mu}A_{\nu\lambda\rho]}$ . Now variation with respect to the 3-form fixes the covariant kinetic term of the scalar field to be equal to an integration constant. This is reminiscent of the constraint which appears in the theory of mimetic

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>We will touch on a potential way in a moment.

dark matter [161, 162], however here the constraint would be more flexible due to the arbitrariness of the integration constant. In each case, however, it is initially more important to understand how the non-trivial interactions between the scalars, which do couple to gravity, and the 4-forms, which do not always couple to gravity, can be realised in a more fundamental framework.

In chapter 4 we investigated another aspect of the cosmological constant problem in the context of the local sequestering theory, namely, what are the effects of an early universe phase transition on the late time dynamics? In doing so we considered the nucleation and growth of bubbles of true vacuum and calculated tunnelling rates between maximally symmetric vacua. In order to match the spectrum of rates found in GR we placed constraints on the sequestering functions  $\sigma$  and  $\hat{\sigma}$  which must always be satisfied to avoid instabilities. Most notably, we found that a true vacuum with small de Sitter curvature which has tunnelled from a false vacuum with a larger de Sitter curvature is insensitive to the jump induced by the phase transition and we do not have tune the residual cosmological constant against this jump. Of course, unlike for a pure constant source in the energy-momentum tensor, the phase transition contributions are not completely sequestered but are harmless in our ability to match observations. However, the fact they are not completely sequestered may open up an avenue for testing the theory, specifically, it was recently argued in [98] that phase transitions, and their effect on the gravitational dynamics, could affect the mass-radius relationship of a Neutron star. Given that the sequestering theory is locally equivalent to GR, the possibility of an observational test in the theory's current form is very intriguing!

In chapter 5 we introduced the Vainshtein mechanism which is one of most popular screening mechanisms in the literature employed to suppress the effects of light scalar fields in local environments and argued that the main issue facing theories with Vainshtein screening is their very low cut-offs. We concentrated on suggestions that these theories can be trusted beyond the energy scale where the scalar sector becomes strongly coupled in the absence of sources, where instead one computes quantum corrections on non-trivial backgrounds. This can widen the regime of validity of these theories by many orders of magnitude and is therefore a very desirable property. However, for the examples we have studied in this thesis, we saw that the UV completions manifest themselves somewhere between the Vainshtein scale, where the non-linearities kick in, and the vacuum strong coupling scale rendering the calculation which leads to this enhancement of strong coupling very dubious. We emphasised that prior to worrying about where the theory breaks down because of loop corrections, one should also worry about at which scale the operators which are ultimately included to restore perturbative unitarity become classically important. We argued that being able to trust a theory inside the Vainshtein mechanism is aided by the presence of a symmetry as is the case in the DBI theory, and in GR. This motivates one to construct other scalar field theories which have similar non-trivial symmetries.

The very low strong coupling scales certainly represent a challenge for these theories since without knowledge of a partial UV completion, one cannot make predictions for local gravitational experiments. In some sense this should be treated as an opportunity since learning about possible UV completions for the non-trivial scalar field theories which are at the heart of the Vainshtein mechanism, may even teach us something about UV completions for GR, and more widely about aspects of field theory. Indeed, we saw in chapter 5 that there is a link between the structure of galileons and GR when we studied the theory of a probe brane. Similar conclusions have been drawn in [163]where it is argued that galileons are the scalar anologue of GR. However, as we also discussed in chapter 5, there are obstacles one faces when trying to UV complete these models as emphasised in [131]. Work has begun in this regard e.g. [164], and given that the conflict between galileons and S-matrix analyticity does not extend to the full theory of massive gravity [132], there is reason to be optimistic that one could find a local, Lorentz invariant partial UV completion of dRGT massive gravity [118,119] or Hassan and Rosen bi-gravity [121] - both which rely on the Vainhstein mechanism to pass local tests.

In the final part of this thesis, chapter 6, we presented an extension of the chameleon theory [4]. The chameleon [41, 42] was shown to suffer from issues in the early universe where its classical description could not be trusted prior

to Big Bang Nucleosynthesis [43, 44]. This is because as relativitic particles become non-relativities in a radiation dominated universe, they impart a kick on the chameleon which sends it towards the minimum of its effective potential with a very large velocity. The DBI chameleon presented in this thesis avoids this fate by combining the chameleon mechanism with the Vainshtein mechanism and therefore extends the validity of the chameleon deep into the early universe. The structure of the extension of the chameleon theory was motivated by our discussions in chapter 5. By using the DBI derivative interactions we were able to render the chameleon weakly coupled to matter fields in the early universe without running out of control of the effective description thanks to the DBI symmetry. As we discussed in detail in this chapter, our ability to weaken the coupling between the chameleon and matter degrees of freedom in the presence of the kicks is by no means unique to the DBI interactions, but the majority of field theories which are used to realise the Vainshtein mechanism lack the protection from loop corrections which the DBI symmetry helps with here.

In the late universe and within the solar system, the DBI interactions are very weak and any deviations in observational predictions between the chameleon and the DBI chameleon will be heavily suppressed. However, in the early universe the theories are desirably different enabling the DBI chameleon to be scrutinised experimentally versus the chameleon.

# Chapter 8

# Appendix

# 8.1 Maximally symmetric space-times

The maximally symmetric space-times are solutions to Einstein's equations in the presence of a cosmological constant, where the Riemann tensor satisfies

$$R_{\mu\nu\alpha\beta} = q^2 (g_{\mu\alpha}g_{\nu\beta} - g_{\mu\beta}g_{\nu\alpha}) \tag{8.1}$$

with  $q^2$  the vacuum curvature. There are three such solutions corresponding to de Sitter space with  $q^2 > 0$ , anti-de Sitter space with  $q^2 < 0$ , and Minkowski space with  $q^2 = 0$ .

#### De Sitter space and co-ordinates

De Sitter space-time in four dimensions is best described as a hyperboloid embedded in a five dimensional Minkowski space. The embedding space-time has the following metric

$$ds_5^2 = -dT^2 + dW^2 + dR^2 + R^2 d\Omega_2^2$$
(8.2)

where  $d\Omega_2^2 = d\chi^2 + \sin^2 \chi d\phi^2$  is the metric of a 2-sphere and the embedded surface is

$$W^2 + R^2 - T^2 = 1/q^2 \tag{8.3}$$

where 1/q is the de Sitter radius of curvature. This makes the SO(1, 4) symmetry group of four dimensional de Sitter space manifest. The five dimensional Minkowski space is invariant under the full five dimensional Poincaré group but the hyperboloid breaks translational invariance leaving only the SO(1, 4)Lorentz symmetry in tact. In global co-ordinates  $(t, \theta, \chi, \phi)$  the de Sitter metric is

$$ds^{2} = -dt^{2} + \frac{\cosh^{2} qt}{q^{2}} (d\theta^{2} + \sin^{2} \theta d\Omega_{2}^{2})$$
(8.4)

where  $t \in (-\infty, \infty)$  and  $\theta \in [0, \pi]$ . The mapping from the embedding coordinates to the global ones is

$$W = \frac{1}{q}\cosh qt\cos\theta \tag{8.5}$$

$$R = \frac{1}{q}\cosh qt\sin\theta \tag{8.6}$$

$$T = \frac{1}{q}\sinh qt. \tag{8.7}$$

In Coleman's co-ordinates, which only cover a patch of the full de Sitter space, the metric is

$$ds^{2} = dr^{2} + \rho^{2}(r)(-d\tau^{2} + \cosh^{2}\tau d\Omega_{2}^{2})$$
(8.8)

where

$$\rho(r) = \frac{\sin q(\epsilon r + r_0)}{q} = \frac{\sin Q(r)}{q}$$
(8.9)

with  $\epsilon = \pm 1$ ,  $Q(r) \in [0, \pi]$ ,  $\tau \in (-\infty, \infty)$ , and where we have defined  $Q(r) = q(\epsilon r + r_0)$ . The mapping from the embedding co-ordinates to Coleman's co-ordinates is

$$W = \frac{1}{q} \cos Q(r) \tag{8.10}$$

$$T = \rho(r) \sinh \tau \tag{8.11}$$

$$R = \rho(r) \cosh \tau. \tag{8.12}$$

However, if we now combine the two co-ordinate mappings then this tells us that a point on the waist of the hyperboloid at  $\tau = 0$  is not an arbitrary point in global co-ordinates. It corresponds to t = 0. So to map Coleman's co-ordinates to the global ones let us first make use of the Lorentz symmetry on the hyperboloid by performing a boost along the W direction with rapidity  $\alpha$  such that the mapping between the embedding co-ordinates and Coleman's is

$$W' = \frac{1}{q} \cos Q(r) \tag{8.13}$$

$$T' = \rho(r) \sinh \tau \tag{8.14}$$

$$R = \rho(r) \cosh \tau \tag{8.15}$$

where

$$W' = W \cosh \alpha - T \sinh \alpha \tag{8.16}$$

$$T' = T \cosh \alpha - W \sinh \alpha. \tag{8.17}$$

Now the mapping between Coleman's co-ordinates and the global ones is

$$\cos Q(r) = \cosh \alpha \cosh qt \cos \theta - \sinh \alpha \sinh qt \qquad (8.18)$$

$$\sin Q(r) \sinh \tau = \cosh \alpha \sinh qt - \sinh \alpha \cosh qt \cos \theta \tag{8.19}$$

$$\sin Q(r) \cosh \tau = \cosh qt \sin \theta \tag{8.20}$$

and  $\tau = 0$  in Coleman's co-ordinates is mapped to an arbitrary time in global co-ordinates.

#### Anti-de Sitter space and co-ordinates

We now come to anti-de Sitter space-time where a similar description exists. Here the SO(1,4) invariance of the embedding space-time is replaced by an SO(2,3) symmetry such that the five dimensional embedding metric is

$$ds_5^2 = -dT^2 - dW^2 + dR^2 + R^2 d\Omega_2^2$$
(8.21)

and the embedded surface is

$$W^{2} + T^{2} - R^{2} = \frac{1}{|q|^{2}}.$$
(8.22)

Again this surface breaks the translational invariance of the embedding spacetime such that only the SO(2,3) invariance remains. In global co-ordinates  $(t, u, \chi, \phi)$  the anti-de Sitter metric is

$$ds^{2} = -\frac{\cosh^{2}|q|u}{|q|^{2}}dt^{2} + du^{2} + \frac{\sinh^{2}|q|u}{|q|^{2}}d\Omega_{2}^{2}$$
(8.23)

where  $t \in (-\infty, \infty)$  and  $u \in [0, \infty]$ . The mapping from the embedding coordinates to the global ones is

$$W = \frac{1}{|q|} \cosh|q|u\cos t \tag{8.24}$$

$$T = \frac{1}{|q|} \cosh|q|u\sin t \tag{8.25}$$

$$R = \frac{1}{|q|} \sinh|q|u. \tag{8.26}$$

In Coleman's co-ordinates the metric is again given by (8.8) with

$$\rho(r) = \frac{\sinh|q|(\epsilon r + r_0)}{|q|} = \frac{\sinh Q(r)}{|q|}$$
(8.27)

where now  $Q(r) = |q|(\epsilon r + r_0)$ . The mapping from the embedding co-ordinates to Coleman's ones is

$$W = \frac{1}{|q|} \cosh Q(r) \tag{8.28}$$

$$T = \frac{1}{|q|} \sinh Q(r) \sinh \tau \tag{8.29}$$

$$R = \frac{1}{|q|} \sinh Q(r) \cosh \tau.$$
(8.30)

If we now use this mapping to map the global co-ordinates to Coleman's ones then again we see that  $\tau = 0$  does not map to an arbitrary time in global coordinates. So before doing this let us again use the anti-de Sitter symmetry and first perform a rotation by an angle  $t_0$  in the T - W plane on the hyperboloid such that the embedding co-ordinates are mapped to Coleman's by

$$W' = \frac{1}{|q|} \cosh Q(r) \tag{8.31}$$

$$T' = \frac{1}{|q|} \sinh Q(r) \sinh \tau \tag{8.32}$$

$$R = \frac{1}{|q|} \sinh Q(r) \cosh \tau \tag{8.33}$$

where

$$W' = W \cos t_0 + T \sin t_0 \tag{8.34}$$

$$T' = T\cos t_0 - W\sin t_0.$$
(8.35)

Now the mapping between the global co-ordinates and Coleman's is

$$\cosh Q(r) = \cosh |q| u \cos(t - t_0) \tag{8.36}$$

$$\sinh Q(r) \sinh \tau = \cosh |q| u \sin(t - t_0) \tag{8.37}$$

$$\sinh Q(r)\cosh\tau = \sinh|q|u \tag{8.38}$$

and  $\tau = 0$  maps to an arbitrary time in global co-ordinates.

#### Minkowski space and co-ordinates

Finally we have four dimensional Minkowski space and in global co-ordinates the metric is

$$ds^2 = -dt^2 + du^2 + u^2 d\Omega_2^2. aga{8.39}$$

In Coleman's co-ordinates the metric is again given by (8.8) with

$$\rho(r) = \epsilon r + r_0. \tag{8.40}$$

The canonical mapping from global co-ordinates to Coleman's is given by

$$u = \rho(r) \cosh \tau \tag{8.41}$$

$$t = \rho(r) \sinh \tau \tag{8.42}$$

however, again with this mapping  $\tau = 0$  corresponds to t = 0. So now we make use of the translational invariance of Minkowski space to shift the co-ordinate t by an arbitrary amount  $-t_0$  such that the mapping is

$$u = \rho(r) \cosh \tau \tag{8.43}$$

$$t = \rho(r) \sinh \tau + t_0. \tag{8.44}$$

Now  $\tau = 0$  is mapped to an arbitrary time in global co-ordinates.

# 8.2 Anti-de Sitter singularity

It was shown in [109] that an anti-de Sitter interior suffers from a curvature singularity. It turns out that the singularity corresponds to Q(r) = 0 in Coleman's co-ordinates. However, this is also a co-ordinate singularity so to find the surface corresponding to the curvature singularity in global co-ordinates, we make use of another co-ordinate system, namely, cosmological co-ordinates where the anti-de Sitter metric is

$$ds^2 = -d\eta^2 + \bar{\rho}^2(\eta)(d\lambda^2 + \sinh^2\lambda d\Omega_2^2)$$
(8.45)

with

$$\bar{\rho}(\eta) = \frac{\sin|q|\eta}{|q|}.$$
(8.46)

In these co-ordinates the curvature singularity forms at  $\eta = \pi/|q|$  [109]. The mapping from the five dimensional embedding co-ordinates to these co-ordinates is

$$W = \frac{\cos|q|\eta}{|q|} \tag{8.47}$$

$$T = \frac{\sin|q|\eta}{|q|} \cosh \lambda \tag{8.48}$$

$$R = \frac{\sin|q|\eta}{|q|} \sinh \lambda \tag{8.49}$$

and therefore the mapping between the cosmological co-ordinates and Coleman's is

$$\cosh Q(r) = \cos |q|\eta \tag{8.50}$$

$$\sinh Q(r) \sinh \tau = \sin |q| \eta \cosh \lambda \tag{8.51}$$

$$\sinh Q(r) \cosh \tau = \sin |q| \eta \sinh \lambda. \tag{8.52}$$

So the singularity occurs at  $\cosh Q(r) = -1$  and by using the mapping (8.36) this corresponds to the surface

$$\cosh|q|u\cos(t-t_0) = -1$$
 (8.53)

in global co-ordinates.

## 8.3 Space-time volumes

Each of the maximally symmetric space-time volumes we need to calculate in order to calculate  $\mathcal{I}$  are divergent. We must therefore regulate on the relevant surface. We only need to consider the ratios of volumes to infer the effects of phase transitions so it is only the divergent behaviour in each case which is important. For each possible space-time there are three volumes of interest, namely, prior to bubble nucleation, in the exterior after bubble nucleation, and in the interior after bubble nucleation. Which volumes are important depends on the particular solution we are considering. In any case, in this section of the appendix we compute all three for de Sitter, Minkowski, and anti-de Sitter.

#### De Sitter Volumes

The volume of the total de Sitter space in global co-ordinates is

$$\frac{V_{\text{total}}^{\text{dS}}}{\Omega_2} = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dt \frac{\cosh^3 qt}{q^3} \int_0^{\pi} d\theta \sin^2 \theta.$$
(8.54)

We split up the full de Sitter space-time into the three sections described above and shown in figure (8.1) where we have labelled them as A,B,C.



Figure 8.1: The three relevant volumes for de Sitter space

Region A will always be the volume before bubble nucleation, however, regions B and C can be either the true or false vacuum after bubble nucleation depending on configuration we are interested in. The boundary of region A is the nucleation surface which corresponds to  $\tau = 0$  in Coleman's co-ordinates and by the mapping given in equation (8.19), the surface

$$t_{\rm tun}(\theta) = \frac{1}{q} \tanh^{-1}(\tanh \alpha \cos \theta) \tag{8.55}$$

in global co-ordinates. The wall separating regions B and C is at r = 0 in Coleman's co-ordinates which in global co-ordinates is the surface

$$\theta_{\text{wall}}(t) = \cos^{-1} \left( \frac{\cos qr_0 + \sinh \alpha \sinh qt}{\cosh \alpha \cosh qt} \right)$$
(8.56)

by the mapping given in equation (8.18). We are now in a position to calculate each volume which are given by

$$\frac{V_{\rm X}^{\rm dS}}{\Omega_2} = \int_{\rm X} dt d\theta \frac{\cosh^3 qt \sin^2 \theta}{q^3} \tag{8.57}$$

where X is either A,B or C.

Given that we are assuming finite  $\alpha$ , region A is only divergent for  $t \to -\infty$ so to regulate we cut-off the space-time at  $t = -t_{\text{reg}}$  in the past. The upper integration limit is simply  $t_{\text{tun}}(\theta)$  and the volume is therefore

$$\frac{V_{\rm A}^{\rm dS}}{\Omega_2} = \int_0^\pi d\theta \sin^2\theta \int_{-t_{\rm reg}}^{t_{\rm tun}(\theta)} dt \frac{\cosh^3 qt}{q^3} \tag{8.58}$$

which after performing the t integral is

$$\frac{V_{\rm A}^{\rm dS}}{\Omega_2} = \int_0^\pi d\theta \frac{\sin^2 \theta}{3q^4} [\sinh qt (\cosh^2 qt + 2)]^{t_{\rm tun}(\theta)}_{-t_{\rm reg}}.$$
 (8.59)

Given that  $t_{tun}$  is finite, the volume of region A is dominated by the regulated surface so we can approximate it by

$$\frac{V_{\rm A}^{\rm dS}}{\Omega_2} \sim \frac{\pi}{48q^4} e^{3qt_{\rm reg}}.$$
 (8.60)

The volume for region B is

$$\frac{V_{\rm B}^{\rm dS}}{\Omega_2} = \int_0^{\theta_{\rm wall}(t)} d\theta \sin^2 \theta \int_{t_{\dagger}}^{t_{\rm reg}} dt \frac{\cosh^3 qt}{q^3}.$$
(8.61)

The upper limit on the  $\theta$  integral is at  $\theta_{\text{wall}}$  as shown in figure (8.1). We have again cut-off the space-time on the divergent surface using the regulator  $t = t_{\text{reg}}$ . We assume that the regulator in the future and the past are the same such that in the absence of the wall the volumes for  $t \ge 0$  and  $t \le 0$  are equivalent in line with the symmetries of de Sitter space. The lower limit on the t integral is chosen for simplicity. The region below the dotted line which we do not include is finite so would not affect our results if we included it. By performing the integrals we find

$$\frac{V_{\rm B}^{\rm dS}}{\Omega_2} \sim \left(\cos^{-1}(\tanh\alpha) - \frac{\tanh\alpha}{\cosh\alpha}\right) \frac{1}{48q^4} e^{3qt_{\rm reg}}.$$
(8.62)

Finally for de Sitter space we have region C whose volume is

$$\frac{V_{\rm C}^{\rm dS}}{\Omega_2} = \int_{\theta_{\rm wall}(t)}^{\pi} d\theta \sin^2 \theta \int_{t_{\star}}^{t_{reg}} dt \frac{\cosh^3 qt}{q^3}.$$
(8.63)

The choice of integration limits follows simply from our discussion for region B, and performing the integrals yields

$$\frac{V_{\rm C}^{\rm dS}}{\Omega_2} \sim \left(\pi - \cos^{-1}(\tanh \alpha) + \frac{\tanh \alpha}{\cosh \alpha}\right) \frac{1}{48q^4} e^{3qt_{\rm reg}}.$$
(8.64)

#### Anti-de Sitter Volumes

For anti-de Sitter space the total volume in global co-ordinates is

$$\frac{V_{\text{total}}^{\text{AdS}}}{\Omega_2} = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dt \int_0^{\infty} du \frac{\cosh|q| u \sinh^2|q| u}{|q|^3}.$$
(8.65)

We again consider the three relevant regions of anti-de Sitter space as shown below in figure (8.2) where region A is prior to bubble nucleation, region B is in the interior after bubble nucleation and region C is in the exterior after bubble nucleation.



Figure 8.2: The three relevant volumes in anti-de Sitter space with region B cut-off at the curvature singularity.

The boundary of region A is again the nucleation surface which now in global co-ordinates, given the mapping in equation (8.37), corresponds to

and we take the principle root of this equation  $(t = t_0)$  when calculating the volumes. In global co-ordinates the wall separating regions B and C is at the surface

$$\cosh|q|r_0 = \cosh|q|u\cos(t-t_0) \tag{8.67}$$

or equivalently

$$t_{\text{wall}}(u) = t_0 + \cos^{-1}\left(\frac{\cosh|q|r_0}{\cosh|q|u}\right) \in (t_0, t_0 + \frac{\pi}{2})$$
(8.68)

by the mapping in equation (8.36). As described above, for an anti-de Sitter interior we also have to take into account the curvature singularity which is at

$$t_{\rm sing}(u) = t_0^- + \cos^{-1}\left(\frac{-1}{\cosh|q|_- u}\right) \in (t_0^- + \frac{\pi}{2}, t_0^- + \pi)$$
(8.69)

and cut-off the interior appropriately. We now compute each volume which are given by

$$\frac{V_{\rm X}^{\rm AdS}}{\Omega_2} = \int_{\rm X} dt du \frac{\cosh|q|u\sinh^2|q|u}{|q|^3}.$$
(8.70)

For region A we have

$$\frac{V_{\rm A}^{\rm AdS}}{\Omega_2} = \int_{-\infty}^{t_0} dt \int_0^{u_{reg}} du \frac{\cosh|q| u \sinh^2|q| u}{|q|^3}$$
(8.71)

which diverges in both the t and u direction. For now we only regulate in the u direction by cutting off the integral at  $u = u_{reg}$  such that

$$\frac{V_{\rm A}^{\rm AdS}}{\Omega_2} \sim \frac{1}{24|q|^4} e^{3|q|u_{\rm reg}} \int_{-\infty}^{t_0} dt.$$
(8.72)

Region B is the interior of an anti-de Sitter bubble so cutting of the t integral appropriately yields the volume

$$\frac{V_{\rm B}^{\rm AdS}}{\Omega_2} = \int_{u_{\star}}^{u_{\rm reg}} du \frac{\cosh|q| u \sinh^2 q_{-} u}{|q|^3} \int_{t_{\rm wall}(u)}^{t_{sing}(u)} dt$$
(8.73)

where we have ignored the finite part of the volume which lies to the left of the dotted line  $(u = u_{\star})$ . Again having regulated in the *u* direction, the volume to

leading order is

$$\frac{V_{\rm B}^{\rm AdS}}{\Omega_2} \sim \frac{(1 + \cosh|q|r_0)}{8|q|^4} e^{2|q|u_{\rm reg}}.$$
(8.74)

Finally, we have the exterior for an anti-de Sitter bubble where the volume is given by

$$\frac{V_{\rm C}^{\rm AdS}}{\Omega_2} = \int_{u_{\rm wall}(t_0)}^{u_{\rm reg}} du \frac{\cosh|q|u\sinh^2|q|u}{|q|^3} \int_{t_0}^{t_{wall}(u)} dt.$$
(8.75)

The limits of integration should be clear by virtue of previous discussions and again we have regulated in the u direction yielding

$$\frac{V_{\rm C}^{\rm AdS}}{\Omega_2} \sim \frac{\pi}{48|q|^4} e^{3|q|u_{\rm reg}}.$$
(8.76)

#### Minkowski Volumes

The final three volumes we need to calculate are for the Minkowski space-times. The volume of the total Minkowski space in global co-ordinates is

$$\frac{V_{\text{total}}^{\text{M}}}{\Omega_2} = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dt \int_0^{\infty} du u^2 \tag{8.77}$$

and again we shown the three relevant regions below in figure (8.3) where region A is prior to bubble nucleation, and regions B and C can be either the exterior or interior of the bubble after nucleation.



Figure 8.3: The three relevant volumes for a Minkowski space-time.

The nucleation surface is at  $t = t_0$  and in global co-ordinates the wall separating regions B and C is at

$$u_{\text{wall}}(t) = \sqrt{r_0^2 + (t - t_0)^2}$$
 (8.78)

or equivalently

$$t_{\text{wall}}(u) = t_0 + \sqrt{u^2 - r_0^2}.$$
 (8.79)

The volume of each region is given by

$$\frac{V_{\rm X}^{\rm M}}{\Omega_2} = \int_{\rm X} dt du u^2. \tag{8.80}$$

For region A we have

$$\frac{V_{\rm A}^{\rm M}}{\Omega_2} = \int_{-\infty}^{t_0} dt \int_0^{u_{\rm reg}} du u^2$$
(8.81)

which is divergent in both the t and u direction. Cutting of the space-time in the u direction at  $u_{\rm reg}$  yields

$$\frac{V_{\rm A}^{\rm M}}{\Omega_2} \sim \frac{u_{\rm reg}^3}{3} \int_{-\infty}^{t_0} dt.$$
 (8.82)

The volume for region B is

$$\frac{V_{\rm B}^{\rm M}}{\Omega_2} = \int_{t_0}^{t_{\rm reg}} dt \int_0^{u_{\rm wall}(t)} du u^2 \sim \frac{t_{\rm reg}^4}{12}$$
(8.83)

where we have regulated by cutting off the t integral at  $t = t_{reg}$ . Finally we have region C whose volume is given

$$\frac{V_{\rm C}^{\rm M}}{\Omega_2} = \int_{u_{\rm wall}(t_0)}^{u_{\rm reg}} du u^2 \int_{t_0}^{t_{\rm wall}(u)} dt \sim \frac{u_{\rm reg}^4}{4}$$
(8.84)

where we have regulated in the u direction.

## 8.4 Calculating the ratio $\mathcal{I}$

With the calculations of the space-time volumes in hand, we can now compute the ratio  $\mathcal{I} = \frac{\mathcal{V}_{\rm b}^+ + \mathcal{V}_{\rm a}^+}{\mathcal{V}_{\rm a}^-}$  for the different possible configurations. Initially consider tunnelling between de Sitter vacua. There are four different possible configurations which correspond to the four possible arrangements of regions B and C after nucleation i.e. BB,BC,CB,CC. Since it is only the divergent behaviour which is important we ignore the explicit  $\alpha$  dependence and express the volumes we have just computed as

$$\mathcal{V}_{\rm b}^{+} \sim \frac{\pi}{48q_{+}^4} e^{3q_{+}t_{\rm reg}^+}$$
 (8.85)

$$\mathcal{V}_{\rm a}^+ \sim f_+(\alpha_+) \frac{\pi}{48q_+^4} e^{3q_+ t_{\rm reg}^+}$$
 (8.86)

$$\mathcal{V}_{\rm a}^- \sim f_-(\alpha_-) \frac{\pi}{48q_-^4} e^{3q_- t_{\rm reg}^-}.$$
 (8.87)

The form of  $f_{\pm}$  depends on the chosen configuration. Now to eliminate the regulator dependence in the ratios we match the geometries at their point of intersection at the wall. This amounts to matching the radii of the 2-spheres at this intersection. Doing so yields

$$\left(\frac{e^{qt_{\rm reg}}}{q\cosh\alpha}\right)_{+} = \left(\frac{e^{qt_{\rm reg}}}{q\cosh\alpha}\right)_{-} \tag{8.88}$$
in the large  $t_{\rm reg}$  limit. We can now readily compute the volume ratio yielding

$$\mathcal{I}_{\mathrm{dS}\to\mathrm{dS}} \sim \frac{\cosh^3 \alpha_+}{\cosh^3 \alpha_-} \left(\frac{1+f_+(\alpha_+)}{f_-(\alpha_-)}\right) \frac{q_-}{q_+}.$$
(8.89)

For very specific choices of parameters the co-efficient of  $\frac{q_-}{q_+}$  could be zero or singular. These will not be generic so we will ignore them such that we have

$$\mathcal{I}_{\mathrm{dS}\to\mathrm{dS}} \sim \frac{q_-}{q_+}.\tag{8.90}$$

For tunnelling between anti-de Sitter vacua the relevant volumes are

$$\mathcal{V}_{\rm b}^+ \sim \frac{1}{24|q|_+^4} e^{3|q|_+ u_{\rm reg}^+} \int_{-\infty}^{t_0^+} dt$$
 (8.91)

$$\mathcal{V}_{\rm a}^+ \sim \frac{\pi}{48|q|_+^4} e^{3|q|_+ u_{\rm reg}^+}$$
 (8.92)

$$\mathcal{V}_{\rm a}^{-} \sim \frac{(1 + \cosh|q| - r_0^{-})}{8|q|_{-}^4} e^{2|q| - u_{\rm reg}^{-}}.$$
 (8.93)

We again match the radii of the 2-spheres at the intersection point which for large  $u_{\rm reg}$  gives

$$\left(\frac{e^{|q|u_{\rm reg}}}{|q|}\right)_{+} = \left(\frac{e^{|q|u_{\rm reg}}}{|q|}\right)_{-}.$$
(8.94)

This leads to the following volume ratio

$$\mathcal{I}_{AdS \to AdS} \to \infty.$$
 (8.95)

This result is primarily due to the fact that the anti-de Sitter interior is cut-off thereby reducing the number of divergent directions in the interior volume. For tunnelling from a de Sitter space-time to an anti-de Sitter space-time the volumes are given by

$$\mathcal{V}_{\rm b}^+ \sim \frac{\pi}{48q_+^4} e^{3q_+ t_{\rm reg}^+}$$
 (8.96)

$$\mathcal{V}_{\rm a}^+ \sim f_+(\alpha_+) \frac{\pi}{48q_+^4} e^{3q_+ t_{\rm reg}^+}$$
 (8.97)

$$\mathcal{V}_{\rm a}^{-} \sim \frac{(1 + \cosh|q|_{-}r_{0}^{-})}{8|q|_{-}^{4}}e^{2|q|_{-}u_{\rm reg}^{-}}.$$
 (8.98)

Again to eliminate the regulator dependence from the ratios we match the radii of the 2-spheres at the intersection point yielding

$$\left(\frac{e^{qt_{\rm reg}}}{q\cosh\alpha}\right)_{+} = \left(\frac{e^{|q|u_{\rm reg}}}{q}\right)_{-}.$$
(8.99)

It is then straight forward to see that the volume ratio reduces to

$$\mathcal{I}_{\mathrm{dS}\to\mathrm{AdS}}\to\infty.$$
 (8.100)

Again, by the previous discussion this result is intuitive since by cutting off the interior of the anti-de Sitter bubble we have reduced the number of divergent directions making the exterior the dominant contribution to the total volume. For tunnelling from a de Sitter space-time to a Minkowski one, the volumes from the previous section are

$$\mathcal{V}_{\rm b}^{+} \sim \frac{\pi}{48q_{+}^4} e^{3q_{+}t_{\rm reg}^+}$$
(8.101)

$$\mathcal{V}_{\rm a}^+ \sim f_+(\alpha_+) \frac{\pi}{48q_+^4} e^{3q_+ t_{\rm reg}^+}$$
 (8.102)

$$\mathcal{V}_{\rm a}^- \sim \frac{(t_{\rm reg}^-)^4}{12}.$$
 (8.103)

We again match the geometries at the intersection point yielding

$$\left(\frac{e^{qt_{\rm reg}}}{2q\cosh\alpha}\right)_{+} = t_{\rm reg}^{-} \tag{8.104}$$

and consequently the following volume ratio

$$\mathcal{I}_{\mathrm{dS}\to\mathrm{M}} = 0. \tag{8.105}$$

Again this result is intuitive since by comparing the expressions for the volumes in global co-ordinates, Minkowski space has more divergent directions than de Sitter space. This is also what we would expect by taking the  $q_{-} \rightarrow 0$  limit of equation (8.90). Finally, for tunnelling from a Minkowski space-time to an anti-de Sitter one the relevant volumes are

$$\mathcal{V}_{\rm b}^+ \sim \frac{(u_{\rm reg}^+)^3}{3} \int_{-\infty}^{t_0^+} dt$$
 (8.106)

$$\mathcal{V}_{\rm a}^+ \sim \frac{(u_{\rm reg}^+)^4}{4}$$
 (8.107)

$$\mathcal{V}_{\rm a}^{-} \sim \frac{(1 + \cosh|q|_{-}r_{0}^{-})}{8|q|_{-}^{4}}e^{2|q|_{-}u_{\rm reg}^{-}}.$$
 (8.108)

Now matching the geometries gives

$$u_{\rm reg}^{+} = \left(\frac{e^{|q|u_{\rm reg}}}{2|q|}\right)_{-}$$
 (8.109)

and therefore yields the following volume ratio

$$\mathcal{I}_{\mathrm{M}\to\mathrm{AdS}}\to\infty$$
 (8.110)

as expected with an anti-de Sitter bubble being cut-off at the singular surface.

## Bibliography

- N. Kaloper, A. Padilla, D. Stefanyszyn, and G. Zahariade, "Manifestly Local Theory of Vacuum Energy Sequestering," *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, vol. 116, no. 5, p. 051302, 2016.
- [2] N. Kaloper, A. Padilla, and D. Stefanyszyn, "Sequestering effects on and of vacuum decay," *Phys. Rev.*, vol. D94, no. 2, p. 025022, 2016.
- [3] N. Kaloper, A. Padilla, P. Saffin, and D. Stefanyszyn, "Unitarity and the Vainshtein Mechanism," *Phys. Rev.*, vol. D91, no. 4, p. 045017, 2015.
- [4] A. Padilla, E. Platts, D. Stefanyszyn, A. Walters, A. Weltman, and T. Wilson, "How to Avoid a Swift Kick in the Chameleons," *JCAP*, vol. 1603, no. 03, p. 058, 2016.
- [5] C. M. Will, "The Confrontation between General Relativity and Experiment," *Living Rev. Rel.*, vol. 17, p. 4, 2014.
- [6] E. G. Adelberger, B. R. Heckel, and A. E. Nelson, "Tests of the gravitational inverse square law," Ann. Rev. Nucl. Part. Sci., vol. 53, pp. 77–121, 2003.
- [7] S. S. Shapiro, J. L. Davis, D. E. Lebach, and J. S. Gregory, "Measurement of the solar gravitational deflection of radio waves using geodetic very-long-baseline interferometry data, 1979<sup>~</sup>1999," *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, vol. 92, p. 121101, Mar 2004.

- [8] J. G. Williams, S. G. Turyshev, and D. H. Boggs, "Progress in lunar laser ranging tests of relativistic gravity," *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, vol. 93, p. 261101, 2004.
- [9] I. I. Shapiro, "Fourth test of general relativity," *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, vol. 13, pp. 789–791, Dec 1964.
- [10] A. A. Geraci, S. J. Smullin, D. M. Weld, J. Chiaverini, and A. Kapitulnik, "Improved constraints on non-Newtonian forces at 10 microns," *Phys. Rev.*, vol. D78, p. 022002, 2008.
- [11] B. P. Abbott *et al.*, "Observation of Gravitational Waves from a Binary Black Hole Merger," *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, vol. 116, no. 6, p. 061102, 2016.
- [12] A. G. Riess *et al.*, "Observational evidence from supernovae for an accelerating universe and a cosmological constant," *Astron. J.*, vol. 116, pp. 1009–1038, 1998.
- [13] S. Perlmutter *et al.*, "Measurements of Omega and Lambda from 42 high redshift supernovae," *Astrophys. J.*, vol. 517, pp. 565–586, 1999.
- [14] G. Hinshaw *et al.*, "Nine-Year Wilkinson Microwave Anisotropy Probe (WMAP) Observations: Cosmological Parameter Results," *Astrophys.* J. Suppl., vol. 208, p. 19, 2013.
- [15] J. L. Sievers *et al.*, "The Atacama Cosmology Telescope: Cosmological parameters from three seasons of data," *JCAP*, vol. 1310, p. 060, 2013.
- [16] Z. Hou *et al.*, "Constraints on Cosmology from the Cosmic Microwave Background Power Spectrum of the 2500 deg<sup>2</sup> SPT-SZ Survey," *Astrophys. J.*, vol. 782, p. 74, 2014.
- [17] P. A. R. Ade *et al.*, "Planck 2015 results. XIII. Cosmological parameters," 2015.
- [18] R. M. Wald, "Asymptotic behavior of homogeneous cosmological models in the presence of a positive cosmological constant," *Phys. Rev.*, vol. D28, pp. 2118–2120, 1983.

- [19] Y. B. Zeldovich, "Cosmological Constant and Elementary Particles," *JETP Lett.*, vol. 6, p. 316, 1967. [Pisma Zh. Eksp. Teor. Fiz.6,883(1967)].
- [20] S. Weinberg, "The Cosmological Constant Problem," Rev. Mod. Phys., vol. 61, pp. 1–23, 1989.
- [21] J. Polchinski, "The Cosmological Constant and the String Landscape," in *The Quantum Structure of Space and Time*, pp. 216–236, 2006.
- [22] R. Bousso, "TASI Lectures on the Cosmological Constant," Gen. Rel. Grav., vol. 40, pp. 607–637, 2008.
- [23] J. Martin, "Everything You Always Wanted To Know About The Cosmological Constant Problem (But Were Afraid To Ask)," Comptes Rendus Physique, vol. 13, pp. 566–665, 2012.
- [24] C. P. Burgess, "The Cosmological Constant Problem: Why it's hard to get Dark Energy from Micro-physics," in 100e Ecole d'Ete de Physique: Post-Planck Cosmology Les Houches, France, July 8-August 2, 2013, pp. 149–197, 2015.
- [25] A. Padilla, "Lectures on the Cosmological Constant Problem," 2015.
- [26] S. P. Martin, "A Supersymmetry primer," 1997. [Adv. Ser. Direct. High Energy Phys.18,1(1998)].
- [27] K. A. Olive *et al.*, "Review of Particle Physics," *Chin. Phys.*, vol. C38, p. 090001, 2014.
- [28] T. Clifton, P. G. Ferreira, A. Padilla, and C. Skordis, "Modified Gravity and Cosmology," *Phys. Rept.*, vol. 513, pp. 1–189, 2012.
- [29] A. Joyce, B. Jain, J. Khoury, and M. Trodden, "Beyond the Cosmological Standard Model," *Phys. Rept.*, vol. 568, pp. 1–98, 2015.
- [30] N. Kaloper and A. Padilla, "Sequestering the Standard Model Vacuum Energy," *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, vol. 112, no. 9, p. 091304, 2014.

- [31] N. Kaloper and A. Padilla, "Vacuum Energy Sequestering: The Framework and Its Cosmological Consequences," *Phys. Rev.*, vol. D90, no. 8, p. 084023, 2014. [Addendum: Phys. Rev.D90,no.10,109901(2014)].
- [32] N. Kaloper and A. Padilla, "Sequestration of Vacuum Energy and the End of the Universe," *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, vol. 114, no. 10, p. 101302, 2015.
- [33] G. 't Hooft, "Naturalness, chiral symmetry, and spontaneous chiral symmetry breaking," NATO Sci. Ser. B, vol. 59, p. 135, 1980.
- [34] E. J. Copeland, M. Sami, and S. Tsujikawa, "Dynamics of dark energy," Int. J. Mod. Phys., vol. D15, pp. 1753–1936, 2006.
- [35] J. P. Conlon, "The QCD axion and moduli stabilisation," *JHEP*, vol. 05, p. 078, 2006.
- [36] P. Brax, C. Burrage, and A.-C. Davis, "Screening fifth forces in k-essence and DBI models," *JCAP*, vol. 1301, p. 020, 2013.
- [37] M. D. Schwartz, Quantum Field Theory and the Standard Model. Cambridge University Press, 2014.
- [38] A. Vainshtein, "To the problem of nonvanishing gravitation mass," *Phys.Lett.*, vol. B39, pp. 393–394, 1972.
- [39] E. Babichev and C. Deffayet, "An introduction to the Vainshtein mechanism," *Class. Quant. Grav.*, vol. 30, p. 184001, 2013.
- [40] A. Nicolis and R. Rattazzi, "Classical and quantum consistency of the DGP model," JHEP, vol. 06, p. 059, 2004.
- [41] J. Khoury and A. Weltman, "Chameleon fields: Awaiting surprises for tests of gravity in space," *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, vol. 93, p. 171104, 2004.
- [42] J. Khoury and A. Weltman, "Chameleon cosmology," Phys. Rev., vol. D69, p. 044026, 2004.
- [43] A. L. Erickcek, N. Barnaby, C. Burrage, and Z. Huang, "Catastrophic Consequences of Kicking the Chameleon," *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, vol. 110, p. 171101, 2013.

- [44] A. L. Erickcek, N. Barnaby, C. Burrage, and Z. Huang, "Chameleons in the Early Universe: Kicks, Rebounds, and Particle Production," *Phys. Rev.*, vol. D89, no. 8, p. 084074, 2014.
- [45] K. Hinterbichler and J. Khoury, "Symmetron Fields: Screening Long-Range Forces Through Local Symmetry Restoration," *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, vol. 104, p. 231301, 2010.
- [46] C. Burrage, E. J. Copeland, and P. Millington, "Radiative screening of fifth forces," 2016.
- [47] S. N. Gupta, "Gravitation and Electromagnetism," Phys. Rev., vol. 96, pp. 1683–1685, 1954.
- [48] R. H. Kraichnan, "Special-Relativistic Derivation of Generally Covariant Gravitation Theory," *Phys. Rev.*, vol. 98, pp. 1118–1122, 1955.
- [49] S. Weinberg, "Photons and gravitons in perturbation theory: Derivation of Maxwell's and Einstein's equations," *Phys. Rev.*, vol. 138, pp. B988– B1002, 1965.
- [50] S. Deser, "Selfinteraction and gauge invariance," Gen. Rel. Grav., vol. 1, pp. 9–18, 1970.
- [51] D. G. Boulware and S. Deser, "Classical General Relativity Derived from Quantum Gravity," Annals Phys., vol. 89, p. 193, 1975.
- [52] J. Fang and C. Fronsdal, "Deformation of Gauge Groups. Gravitation," J. Math. Phys., vol. 20, pp. 2264–2271, 1979.
- [53] R. M. Wald, "Spin-2 Fields and General Covariance," *Phys. Rev.*, vol. D33, p. 3613, 1986.
- [54] M. Henneaux, "Consistent interactions between gauge fields: The Cohomological approach," *Contemp. Math.*, vol. 219, pp. 93–110, 1998.
- [55] S. Weinberg, "Photons and Gravitons in s Matrix Theory: Derivation of Charge Conservation and Equality of Gravitational and Inertial Mass," *Phys. Rev.*, vol. 135, pp. B1049–B1056, 1964.

- [56] S. Weinberg, The Quantum theory of fields. Vol. 1: Foundations. Cambridge University Press, 2005.
- [57] F. A. Berends, G. J. H. Burgers, and H. Van Dam, "ON SPIN THREE SELFINTERACTIONS," Z. Phys., vol. C24, pp. 247–254, 1984.
- [58] K. Hinterbichler, "Theoretical Aspects of Massive Gravity," Rev. Mod. Phys., vol. 84, pp. 671–710, 2012.
- [59] M. H. Goroff and A. Sagnotti, "The Ultraviolet Behavior of Einstein Gravity," Nucl. Phys., vol. B266, p. 709, 1986.
- [60] K. S. Stelle, "Renormalization of Higher Derivative Quantum Gravity," *Phys. Rev.*, vol. D16, pp. 953–969, 1977.
- [61] K. S. Stelle, "Classical Gravity with Higher Derivatives," Gen. Rel. Grav., vol. 9, pp. 353–371, 1978.
- [62] E. S. Fradkin and A. A. Tseytlin, "Renormalizable asymptotically free quantum theory of gravity," Nucl. Phys., vol. B201, pp. 469–491, 1982.
- [63] L. Alvarez-Gaume, A. Kehagias, C. Kounnas, D. LA<sup>1</sup><sub>4</sub>st, and A. Riotto, "Aspects of Quadratic Gravity," *Fortsch. Phys.*, vol. 64, no. 2-3, pp. 176–189, 2016.
- [64] J. F. Donoghue, "General relativity as an effective field theory: The leading quantum corrections," *Phys. Rev.*, vol. D50, pp. 3874–3888, 1994.
- [65] J. F. Donoghue, "Introduction to the effective field theory description of gravity," in Advanced School on Effective Theories Almunecar, Spain, June 25-July 1, 1995, 1995.
- [66] H. W. Hamber and S. Liu, "On the quantum corrections to the Newtonian potential," *Phys. Lett.*, vol. B357, pp. 51–56, 1995.
- [67] N. E. J. Bjerrum-Bohr, J. F. Donoghue, and B. R. Holstein, "Quantum gravitational corrections to the nonrelativistic scattering potential of two masses," *Phys. Rev.*, vol. D67, p. 084033, 2003. [Erratum: Phys. Rev.D71,069903(2005)].

- [68] D. J. Kapner, T. S. Cook, E. G. Adelberger, J. H. Gundlach, B. R. Heckel, C. D. Hoyle, and H. E. Swanson, "Tests of the gravitational inverse-square law below the dark-energy length scale," *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, vol. 98, p. 021101, 2007.
- [69] J. Polchinski, String theory. Vol. 1: An introduction to the bosonic string. Cambridge University Press, 2007.
- [70] J. Polchinski, "Introduction to cosmic F- and D-strings," in String theory: From gauge interactions to cosmology. Proceedings, NATO Advanced Study Institute, Cargese, France, June 7-19, 2004, pp. 229–253, 2004.
- [71] E. A. Uehling, "Polarization effects in the positron theory," *Phys. Rev.*, vol. 48, pp. 55–63, 1935.
- [72] W. E. Lamb and R. C. Retherford, "Fine structure of the hydrogen atom by a microwave method," *Phys. Rev.*, vol. 72, pp. 241–243, Aug 1947.
- [73] H. A. Bethe, "The Electromagnetic shift of energy levels," *Phys. Rev.*, vol. 72, pp. 339–341, 1947.
- [74] J. S. Schwinger, "Quantum electrodynamics. 2. Vacuum polarization and selfenergy," *Phys. Rev.*, vol. 75, p. 651, 1948.
- [75] R. P. Feynman, "Relativistic cutoff for quantum electrodynamics," *Phys. Rev.*, vol. 74, pp. 1430–1438, 1948.
- [76] J. S. Schwinger, "Quantum electrodynamics. I A covariant formulation," *Phys. Rev.*, vol. 74, p. 1439, 1948.
- [77] V. B. Braginskii and V. I. Panov, "Verification of equivalence of inertial and gravitational masses," *Sov. Phys. JETP*, vol. 34, pp. 463–466, 1972.
  [Zh. Eksp. Teor. Fiz.61,873(1971)].
- [78] D. Mattingly, "Modern tests of Lorentz invariance," Living Rev. Rel., vol. 8, p. 5, 2005.

- [79] N. Arkani-Hamed, S. Dimopoulos, N. Kaloper, and R. Sundrum, "A Small cosmological constant from a large extra dimension," *Phys. Lett.*, vol. B480, pp. 193–199, 2000.
- [80] S. Chatrchyan *et al.*, "Observation of a new boson at a mass of 125 GeV with the CMS experiment at the LHC," *Phys. Lett.*, vol. B716, pp. 30–61, 2012.
- [81] G. Aad *et al.*, "Observation of a new particle in the search for the Standard Model Higgs boson with the ATLAS detector at the LHC," *Phys. Lett.*, vol. B716, pp. 1–29, 2012.
- [82] J. Polchinski, "Renormalization and Effective Lagrangians," Nucl. Phys., vol. B231, pp. 269–295, 1984.
- [83] C. P. Burgess, "Introduction to Effective Field Theory," Ann. Rev. Nucl. Part. Sci., vol. 57, pp. 329–362, 2007.
- [84] N. Arkani-Hamed, S. Dimopoulos, G. Dvali, and G. Gabadadze, "Nonlocal modification of gravity and the cosmological constant problem," 2002.
- [85] G. Dvali, S. Hofmann, and J. Khoury, "Degravitation of the cosmological constant and graviton width," *Phys. Rev.*, vol. D76, p. 084006, 2007.
- [86] C. Charmousis, E. J. Copeland, A. Padilla, and P. M. Saffin, "General second order scalar-tensor theory, self tuning, and the Fab Four," *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, vol. 108, p. 051101, 2012.
- [87] C. Charmousis, E. J. Copeland, A. Padilla, and P. M. Saffin, "Selftuning and the derivation of a class of scalar-tensor theories," *Phys. Rev.*, vol. D85, p. 104040, 2012.
- [88] E. J. Copeland, A. Padilla, and P. M. Saffin, "The cosmology of the Fab-Four," *JCAP*, vol. 1212, p. 026, 2012.
- [89] A. A. Tseytlin, "Duality symmetric string theory and the cosmological constant problem," *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, vol. 66, pp. 545–548, 1991.

- [90] M. Grana, "Flux compactifications in string theory: A Comprehensive review," *Phys. Rept.*, vol. 423, pp. 91–158, 2006.
- [91] S. R. Coleman, "Why There Is Nothing Rather Than Something: A Theory of the Cosmological Constant," Nucl. Phys., vol. B310, p. 643, 1988.
- [92] M. Henneaux and C. Teitelboim, "The Cosmological Constant and General Covariance," Phys. Lett., vol. B222, pp. 195–199, 1989.
- [93] A. Padilla and I. D. Saltas, "A note on classical and quantum unimodular gravity," *Eur. Phys. J.*, vol. C75, no. 11, p. 561, 2015.
- [94] G. F. R. Ellis, H. van Elst, J. Murugan, and J.-P. Uzan, "On the Trace-Free Einstein Equations as a Viable Alternative to General Relativity," *Class. Quant. Grav.*, vol. 28, p. 225007, 2011.
- [95] J. Dreitlein, "Broken symmetry and the cosmological constant," Phys. Rev. Lett., vol. 33, pp. 1243–1244, 1974.
- [96] A. D. Linde, "Phase Transitions in Gauge Theories and Cosmology," *Rept. Prog. Phys.*, vol. 42, p. 389, 1979.
- [97] M. J. G. Veltman, "Cosmology and the Higgs Mechanism," Phys. Rev. Lett., vol. 34, p. 777, 1975.
- [98] B. Bellazzini, C. Csaki, J. Hubisz, J. Serra, and J. Terning, "Cosmological and Astrophysical Probes of Vacuum Energy," 2015.
- [99] H. Meyer-Ortmanns, "Phase transitions in quantum chromodynamics," *Rev. Mod. Phys.*, vol. 68, pp. 473–598, 1996.
- [100] G. W. Gibbons and S. W. Hawking, "Action Integrals and Partition Functions in Quantum Gravity," *Phys. Rev.*, vol. D15, pp. 2752–2756, 1977.
- [101] S. R. Coleman, "The Fate of the False Vacuum. 1. Semiclassical Theory," *Phys. Rev.*, vol. D15, pp. 2929–2936, 1977. [Erratum: Phys. Rev.D16,1248(1977)].

- [102] C. G. Callan, Jr. and S. R. Coleman, "The Fate of the False Vacuum. 2. First Quantum Corrections," *Phys. Rev.*, vol. D16, pp. 1762–1768, 1977.
- [103] S. R. Coleman and F. De Luccia, "Gravitational Effects on and of Vacuum Decay," *Phys. Rev.*, vol. D21, p. 3305, 1980.
- [104] S. R. Coleman, V. Glaser, and A. Martin, "Action Minima Among Solutions to a Class of Euclidean Scalar Field Equations," *Commun. Math. Phys.*, vol. 58, p. 211, 1978.
- [105] A. Masoumi and E. J. Weinberg, "Bounces with O(3) x O(2) symmetry," *Phys. Rev.*, vol. D86, p. 104029, 2012.
- [106] W. Israel, "Singular hypersurfaces and thin shells in general relativity," Nuovo Cim., vol. B44S10, p. 1, 1966. [Nuovo Cim.B44,1(1966)].
- [107] A. Masoumi, S. Paban, and E. J. Weinberg, "Tunneling from a Minkowski vacuum to an AdS vacuum: A new thin-wall regime," 2016.
- [108] S. W. Hawking and G. F. R. Ellis, The Large Scale Structure of Space-Time. Cambridge Monographs on Mathematical Physics, Cambridge University Press, 2011.
- [109] L. F. Abbott and S. R. Coleman, "The Collapse of an Anti-de Sitter Bubble," Nucl. Phys., vol. B259, p. 170, 1985.
- [110] M. Fierz and W. Pauli, "On relativistic wave equations for particles of arbitrary spin in an electromagnetic field," *Proc. Roy. Soc. Lond.*, vol. A173, pp. 211–232, 1939.
- [111] H. van Dam and M. J. G. Veltman, "Massive and massless Yang-Mills and gravitational fields," *Nucl. Phys.*, vol. B22, pp. 397–411, 1970.
- [112] V. I. Zakharov, "Linearized gravitation theory and the graviton mass," *JETP Lett.*, vol. 12, p. 312, 1970. [Pisma Zh. Eksp. Teor. Fiz.12,447(1970)].

- [113] N. Arkani-Hamed, H. Georgi, and M. D. Schwartz, "Effective field theory for massive gravitons and gravity in theory space," *Annals Phys.*, vol. 305, pp. 96–118, 2003.
- [114] C. de Rham, A. Matas, and A. J. Tolley, "New Kinetic Interactions for Massive Gravity?," *Class. Quant. Grav.*, vol. 31, p. 165004, 2014.
- [115] C. de Rham, A. Matas, and A. J. Tolley, "New Kinetic Terms for Massive Gravity and Multi-gravity: A No-Go in Vielbein Form," *Class. Quant. Grav.*, vol. 32, no. 21, p. 215027, 2015.
- [116] M. Ostrogradsky Memoires de l'Academie Imperiale des Science de Saint-Petersbourg., vol. 4:385, 1850.
- [117] D. G. Boulware and S. Deser, "Can gravitation have a finite range?," *Phys. Rev.*, vol. D6, pp. 3368–3382, 1972.
- [118] C. de Rham and G. Gabadadze, "Generalization of the Fierz-Pauli Action," Phys. Rev., vol. D82, p. 044020, 2010.
- [119] C. de Rham, G. Gabadadze, and A. J. Tolley, "Resummation of Massive Gravity," *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, vol. 106, p. 231101, 2011.
- [120] S. F. Hassan and R. A. Rosen, "Resolving the Ghost Problem in non-Linear Massive Gravity," *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, vol. 108, p. 041101, 2012.
- [121] S. F. Hassan and R. A. Rosen, "Bimetric Gravity from Ghost-free Massive Gravity," *JHEP*, vol. 02, p. 126, 2012.
- [122] A. Schmidt-May and M. von Strauss, "Recent developments in bimetric theory," J. Phys., vol. A49, no. 18, p. 183001, 2016.
- [123] Y. Akrami, S. F. Hassan, F. KA¶nnig, A. Schmidt-May, and A. R. Solomon, "Bimetric gravity is cosmologically viable," *Phys. Lett.*, vol. B748, pp. 37–44, 2015.
- [124] G. R. Dvali, G. Gabadadze, and M. Porrati, "4-D gravity on a brane in 5-D Minkowski space," *Phys. Lett.*, vol. B485, pp. 208–214, 2000.

- [125] M. A. Luty, M. Porrati, and R. Rattazzi, "Strong interactions and stability in the DGP model," *JHEP*, vol. 09, p. 029, 2003.
- [126] A. Nicolis, R. Rattazzi, and E. Trincherini, "The Galileon as a local modification of gravity," *Phys. Rev.*, vol. D79, p. 064036, 2009.
- [127] A. Padilla, P. M. Saffin, and S.-Y. Zhou, "Bi-galileon theory I: Motivation and formulation," *JHEP*, vol. 12, p. 031, 2010.
- [128] C. Cheung, K. Kampf, J. Novotny, and J. Trnka, "Effective Field Theories from Soft Limits of Scattering Amplitudes," *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, vol. 114, no. 22, p. 221602, 2015.
- [129] K. Hinterbichler and A. Joyce, "Hidden symmetry of the Galileon," Phys. Rev., vol. D92, no. 2, p. 023503, 2015.
- [130] K. Hinterbichler, M. Trodden, and D. Wesley, "Multi-field galileons and higher co-dimension branes," *Phys. Rev.*, vol. D82, p. 124018, 2010.
- [131] A. Adams, N. Arkani-Hamed, S. Dubovsky, A. Nicolis, and R. Rattazzi, "Causality, analyticity and an IR obstruction to UV completion," *JHEP*, vol. 10, p. 014, 2006.
- [132] C. Cheung and G. N. Remmen, "Positive Signs in Massive Gravity," 2016.
- [133] C. Burrage, N. Kaloper, and A. Padilla, "Strong Coupling and Bounds on the Spin-2 Mass in Massive Gravity," *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, vol. 111, no. 2, p. 021802, 2013.
- [134] C. P. Burgess and M. Williams, "Who You Gonna Call? Runaway Ghosts, Higher Derivatives and Time-Dependence in EFTs," *JHEP*, vol. 08, p. 074, 2014.
- [135] M. J. Duff, "Quantum Tree Graphs and the Schwarzschild Solution," *Phys. Rev.*, vol. D7, pp. 2317–2326, 1973.
- [136] D. G. Boulware and S. Deser, "String Generated Gravity Models," Phys. Rev. Lett., vol. 55:2656, 1985.

- [137] C. Charmousis, "Higher order gravity theories and their black hole solutions," *Lect. Notes Phys.*, vol. 769, pp. 299–346, 2009.
- [138] E. Silverstein and D. Tong, "Scalar speed limits and cosmology: Acceleration from D-cceleration," *Phys. Rev.*, vol. D70, p. 103505, 2004.
- [139] C. Burrage and J. Khoury, "Screening of scalar fields in Dirac-Born-Infeld theory," *Phys. Rev.*, vol. D90, no. 2, p. 024001, 2014.
- [140] K. Hinterbichler, J. Khoury, and H. Nastase, "Towards a UV Completion for Chameleon Scalar Theories," *JHEP*, vol. 03, p. 061, 2011. [Erratum: JHEP06,072(2011)].
- [141] N. Kaloper, "Challenging the Cosmological Constant," Phys. Lett., vol. B653, pp. 109–115, 2007.
- [142] J. Wang, L. Hui, and J. Khoury, "No-Go Theorems for Generalized Chameleon Field Theories," *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, vol. 109, p. 241301, 2012.
- [143] E. G. Adelberger, B. R. Heckel, S. A. Hoedl, C. D. Hoyle, D. J. Kapner, and A. Upadhye, "Particle Physics Implications of a Recent Test of the Gravitational Inverse Sqaure Law," *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, vol. 98, p. 131104, 2007.
- [144] A. Upadhye, "Dark energy fifth forces in torsion pendulum experiments," *Phys. Rev.*, vol. D86, p. 102003, 2012.
- [145] R. Gannouji, B. Moraes, D. F. Mota, D. Polarski, S. Tsujikawa, and H. A. Winther, "Chameleon dark energy models with characteristic signatures," *Phys. Rev.*, vol. D82, p. 124006, 2010.
- [146] P. Brax, C. van de Bruck, A. C. Davis, J. Khoury, and A. Weltman, "Chameleon dark energy," *AIP Conf. Proc.*, vol. 736, pp. 105–110, 2005. [,105(2004)].
- [147] S. S. Gubser and J. Khoury, "Scalar self-interactions loosen constraints from fifth force searches," *Phys. Rev.*, vol. D70, p. 104001, 2004.

- [148] T. Damour and K. Nordtvedt, "Tensor-scalar cosmological models and their relaxation toward general relativity," *Phys. Rev. D*, vol. 48, pp. 3436–3450, Oct 1993.
- [149] T. Damour and A. M. Polyakov, "The String dilaton and a least coupling principle," Nucl. Phys., vol. B423, pp. 532–558, 1994.
- [150] P. Brax, C. van de Bruck, A.-C. Davis, J. Khoury, and A. Weltman, "Detecting dark energy in orbit - The Cosmological chameleon," *Phys. Rev.*, vol. D70, p. 123518, 2004.
- [151] J. H. Steffen, A. Baumbaugh, A. S. Chou, R. Tomlin, and A. Upadhye,
  "On the anomalous afterglow seen in a chameleon afterglow search," *Phys. Rev.*, vol. D86, p. 012003, 2012.
- [152] J. H. Steffen, A. Upadhye, A. Baumbaugh, A. S. Chou, P. O. Mazur, R. Tomlin, A. Weltman, and W. Wester, "Laboratory constraints on chameleon dark energy and power-law fields," *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, vol. 105, p. 261803, 2010.
- [153] G. Rybka et al., "A Search for Scalar Chameleons with ADMX," Phys. Rev. Lett., vol. 105, p. 051801, 2010.
- [154] H. Lemmel, P. Brax, A. N. Ivanov, T. Jenke, G. Pignol, M. Pitschmann, T. Potocar, M. Wellenzohn, M. Zawisky, and H. Abele, "Neutron Interferometry constrains dark energy chameleon fields," *Phys. Lett.*, vol. B743, pp. 310–314, 2015.
- [155] P. Hamilton, M. Jaffe, P. Haslinger, Q. Simmons, H. MA<sup>1</sup><sub>4</sub>ller, and J. Khoury, "Atom-interferometry constraints on dark energy," *Science*, vol. 349, pp. 849–851, 2015.
- [156] C. Burrage, E. J. Copeland, and E. A. Hinds, "Probing Dark Energy with Atom Interferometry," *JCAP*, vol. 1503, no. 03, p. 042, 2015.
- [157] C. de Rham and A. J. Tolley, "DBI and the Galileon reunited," JCAP, vol. 1005, p. 015, 2010.

- [158] G. L. Goon, K. Hinterbichler, and M. Trodden, "Stability and superluminality of spherical DBI galileon solutions," *Phys. Rev.*, vol. D83, p. 085015, 2011.
- [159] D. Lovelock, "The Einstein tensor and its generalizations," J. Math. Phys., vol. 12, pp. 498–501, 1971.
- [160] N. Kaloper and A. Padilla, "Vacuum Energy Sequestering and Graviton Loops," 2016.
- [161] A. H. Chamseddine and V. Mukhanov, "Mimetic Dark Matter," JHEP, vol. 11, p. 135, 2013.
- [162] A. H. Chamseddine, V. Mukhanov, and A. Vikman, "Cosmology with Mimetic Matter," JCAP, vol. 1406, p. 017, 2014.
- [163] R. Klein, M. Ozkan, and D. Roest, "Galileons as the Scalar Analogue of General Relativity," *Phys. Rev.*, vol. D93, no. 4, p. 044053, 2016.
- [164] L. Keltner and A. J. Tolley, "UV properties of Galileons: Spectral Densities," 2015.